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Financial Summary

Year ended 31 December

2022 2021 2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

    

REVENUE 183,032 90,089 14,562 –
Gross profit 124,333 54,950 7,087 –
LOSS BEFORE TAX (201,249) (197,906) (216,183) (75,498)
LOSS AND TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE 

 LOSS FOR THE YEAR (200,384) (197,906) (216,183) (75,498)
Loss and total comprehensive loss 

 attributable to:

 Owners of the parent (200,384) (194,225) (213,664) (75,498)
 Non-controlling interests – (3,681) (2,519) –

    

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 

 ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF 

 THE PARENT

Basic and diluted (RMB) (5.24) (5.82) (9.78) (4.02)
   

As at 31 December

2022 2021 2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Total non-current assets 180,537 172,324 111,849 27,014

Total current assets 1,132,022 1,332,324 661,782 64,269

Total current liabilities 67,506 55,388 36,612 4,313

Total non-current liabilities 79,576 76,709 45,984 5,897

Non-controlling interests – – 9,667 –

Total equity 1,165,477 1,372,551 691,035 81,073
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Chairman’s Statement

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of HeartCare Medical, I am pleased to present to you the annual report of the Group for 

the year ended 31 December 2022.

Despite the unprecedented challenges posed by the pandemic and geopolitical uncertainties, we have achieved 

remarkable growth and profitability in our core business in China’s neuro-interventional market during the 

Reporting Period. We have also made considerable progress in expanding our product portfolio and geographic 

presence, as well as enhancing our manufacturing capabilities and operational efficiency.

In 2022, we continued to consolidate our pioneering leadership position in China’s neuro-interventional market 

and successfully strengthened our brand competitiveness with an extensive sales network and efficient and 

reliable supply chain. The company recorded revenue of RMB183.0 million, representing a year-on-year increase 

of 103.2%. This was attributable to growth in sales of our thrombectomy devices and intracranial stenosis 

treatment devices, as well as additional revenue generated by the commercialization of newly launched 

hemorrhagic stroke treatment, prevention, and access devices in 2022.

Last year was a record year for our research and development (R&D) efforts. We invested about RMB153.7 

million in R&D activities and obtained seven new product approvals from the National Medical Products 

Administration (NMPA) of China during the Reporting Period. This brings our total number of registered 

neuro-interventional products to 17 as of the date of this annual report. In addition to our neuro-interventional 

pipeline, we also made considerable progress in our other emerging business units to maintain our technological 

advantages and innovation pipelines. We have established an active medical device R&D team to support our 

future product development. Furthermore, we have initiated or completed several clinical trials for our key 

products to demonstrate their safety and efficacy. Leveraging our strengths in R&D and manufacturing, we 

strive to fulfill the unmet needs of clinicians and patients in China.

Looking ahead, we are confident that we can sustain our growth momentum in 2023 and beyond. We will 

continue to focus on our core business of neuro-interventional medical devices while developing innovative 

pipelines for other therapeutic areas with tremendous opportunities. We will also leverage our R&D capabilities 

and sales channels to obtain more regulatory approvals and achieve greater broader market penetration both 

domestically and internationally. Furthermore, we will optimize our operational efficiency and cost structure to 

improve our margins and cash flow.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

We are committed to fulfilling our social responsibilities and creating value for all stakeholders. We are also 

confident that we can create long-term value for our shareholders and stakeholders by delivering high-quality 

medical devices that improve patient outcomes. We care about the well-being of our employees and provide 

them with a safe and healthy working environment, and actively participate in various social welfare activities 

such as donating medical devices and funds to vulnerable groups, supporting medical education and training 

programs, etc.

I would like to take this opportunity to express my sincere gratitude to our shareholders, employees, customers 

and suppliers for their continued unwavering support and trust in us. We remain committed to our vision 

of becoming an innovative medical device company that improves the accessibility of cutting-edge medical 

technologies and protects lives and health.

Mr. WANG Guohui

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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Management Discussion and Analysis

I. BUSINESS
Overview
We are an innovative medical device company committed to improving the accessibility of innovative medical 
technologies and protecting lives and health. We have established a pioneering leadership position in China’s 
neuro-interventional market and successfully provided the first domestic one-stop solution for stroke treatment 
and prevention. Leveraging our advantage in R&D, manufacturing and commercialization, we strive to fulfill the 
unmet needs of clinicians and patients in China while operating a variety of emerging business units extending 
from Neuro-intervention, Cardiac intervention, Pulmonary intervention to Computer-assisted technology, and 
more. In the above therapeutic fields and medical markets with tremendous opportunities, we aim to redefine 
the standard of care, reduce mortality rate, and improve prognosis by continuously launching innovative medical 
devices.

During the Reporting Period, we continuously enhanced our brand competitiveness in China’s neuro-interventional 
market with our extensive sales network and efficient and reliable supply chain. The Company recorded 
revenue of RMB183.0 million, representing a year-on-year increase of 103.2%. The increase in revenue was 
mostly attributable to continuous sales growth of our ischemic stroke thrombectomy devices and intracranial 
stenosis treatment devices, as well as additional revenue generated by the commercialization of newly launched 
hemorrhagic stroke treatment, prevention and access devices in 2022 including Vascular Closure Device, Embolic 
Coil and Left Atrial Appendage (“LAA”) Occluder. Meanwhile, the gross profit margin increased to 67.9% in 
2022 due to the increasingly cost advantage of ischemic stroke thrombectomy devices and intracranial stenosis 
treatment devices.

As of the date of this annual report, a total of 17 neuro-interventional device products of the Company have 
been approved, covering various types of neuro-interventional procedures for stroke treatment and prevention. 
In terms of commercialization, we have an extensive sales network in China’s neuro-interventional market, 
covering all provinces nationwide other than Hong Kong, Macao and Taiwan, laying a solid foundation for the 
market-access and sales growth of the new products after the launch. In 2022, we leverage our efficient sales 
channels to enhance hospital penetration and improve the physician recognition for our products, as of the date 
of this annual report, our products were sold to more than 1,000 hospitals. The Company also elaborately built 
certain academic communication platforms which contribute to our brand image and influence in the market. In 
2022, the Company’s thrombectomy and stenosis treatment devices generated a revenue of RMB142.0 million, 
representing a year-on-year increase of 57.7%, while the Company’s hemorrhagic, preventative and access 
devices generated a revenue of RMB41.0 million.

During the Reporting Period, the Company incurred R&D expenses of RMB153.7 million, representing a year-on-
year increase of 101.4%. The increase in R&D expenses is primarily attributable to the rapid progression of the 
clinical trials of the Company’s product candidates. In terms of the neuro-interventional pipeline, the Company 
has completed the clinical trial and made an application for our Intracranial Neuro Drug-eluting Balloon Catheter, 
completed patient enrollment for the clinical trial for Flow Diverter Device and Coil Embolization Assistant Stent, 
and has initiated clinical trial on Carotid Artery Stent.

In the meantime, we are also continuing to promote the R&D of product candidates in emerging businesses, 
Cryoablation Device and Catheter, Endovascular Robotics System, Vein Closure Device and Catheter and several 
innovative pipelines have commenced the clinical trial as of the date of this annual report. In the pipeline of 
product candidates, Intracranial Neuro Drug-eluting Balloon and Coil Embolization Assistant Stent have been 
qualified for NMPA priority reviews (also known as “green channels”).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Products and Pipeline
As of the date of this annual report, we have a complete neuro-interventional portfolio including 17 NMPA 

approved products and broad product pipelines in the late-stage of R&D covering acute ischemic stroke and 

neurovascular stenosis treatment, ischemic stroke prevention, hemorrhagic stroke treatment, and interventional 

access.

The following diagram summarizes the development status of our neuro-interventional pipeline as of the date of 

this annual report:

Design Stage
Clinical 

Trial Stage
Approval

Registration and 
Evaluation Stage

Treatment of 
acute ischemic 
stroke

Treatment of 
neurovascular 
stenosis

Treatment of 
hemorrhagic 
stroke

Neuro-
interventional 
access devices

Prevention of 
ischemic stroke

Product 
Field

Neuro-interventional Micro Guidewire

Support Catheter

Intracranial Balloon Dilatation Catheter

Carotid Artery Balloon Dilatation Catheter

Embolization Protection System

Drug-eluting Balloon Catheter*

Carotid Artery Stent

Embolic Coil

Vascular Closure Device

Neuro-interventional Microcatheter

Vascular Stapler Device

Left Atrial Appendage (LAA) Occluder

Product Category

Thrombectomy Device

Balloon Guiding Catheter

Distal Access Catheter

Microcatheter

Aspiration Pump

Aspiration Catheter

Intracranial Low-Pressure Balloon Dilatation 
Catheter

Distal Access Catheter II

Thrombectomy Device II

Embolization Assisting Balloon

Aneurysm Embolization System

Microcatheter for Coiling

Coil Embolization Assistant Stent*

Flow Diverter Device

* Eligible for NMPA Green Channel
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

In the meantime, we launched pioneering projects of innovative product candidates in Cardiac intervention and 

other emerging therapeutic fields with high potential growth market during the Reporting Period.

As of the date of this annual report, Cryoablation Device and Balloon, Endovascular Robotics System and Vein 

Closure Device and Catheter have commenced the clinical trial.

Our Key Neuro-interventional Products and Product Candidates
Ischemic stroke thrombectomy devices
Core Product – Captor™ Thrombectomy Device (“Captor”) is the first domestic thrombectomy stent retriever 

with multi-markers approved by NMPA. Sales in China started in December 2020. As of the date of this annual 

report, we have upgraded Captor by adding more product models with stents of varying lengths and diameters. 

Depending on the occluded blood vessel diameter and thrombus size, physicians may choose the stent retriever 

with the proper length and size, out of a selection of nine product models. We are evaluating the opportunities 

for upgrading Captor for indication expansion. Further, we are evaluating the opportunities to market Captor 

overseas and may apply for its registration in the United States and Europe subject to the results of our 

evaluation.

WE MAY NOT BE ABLE TO ULTIMATELY DEVELOP NEW INDICATION AND SPECIFICATIONS AND EXPAND 

OVERSEAS MARKET FOR OUR CAPTOR SUCCESSFULLY.

Except for Captor, our Distal Access Catheter, Microcatheter, Balloon Guiding Catheter, Intracranial 

Thrombosis Aspiration Catheter and Aspiration Pump for the treatment of ischemic stroke have obtained 

NMPA approval, and we had a product portfolio covering stents and aspiration thrombectomy procedure.

Intracranial Stenosis Treatment Devices
Intracranial Drug-eluting Balloon Catheter (Intracranial DEB) is designed to deliver an anti-proliferative drug 

to the lesion to prevent fibrosis and vessel occlusion. We initiated a registration clinical trial for intracranial DEB 

in May 2020. As of the date of this annual report, our intracranial DEB has completed the clinical trial, and we 

have submitted the application for NMPA registration. This product has obtained green channels for NMPA 

review.

Hemorrhagic Stroke Treatment Devices
Embolic Coil can be released at the location of the aneurysm, filling the aneurysm to isolate the aneurysm from 

normal blood circulation and prevent the aneurysm from further expanding and breaking. We have obtained the 

NMPA approval for our embolic coil.

Coil Embolization Assistant Stent is used in aneurysm coiling procedures for patients with aneurysm. It is 

designed for bridging the neck of aneurysm to support the coils placed in the aneurysm. As of the date of this 

annual report, the patient enrollment for clinical trials of our coil embolization assistant stent was completed. It 

has obtained green channels for NMPA review.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Flow Diverter Device is a neurovascular stent placed in the blood vessel of an aneurysm, which can divert 

blood flow away from the aneurysm. Over time, blood flow into the aneurysm may slow down and the aneurysm 

may shrink, thus healing the blood vessel. As at the date of this annual report, the patient enrollment for clinical 

trials of our flow diverter devices was completed.

Vascular Access Devices
We are also developing various vascular access devices for use in interventional procedures. As of the date of 
this annual report, we have obtained NMPA approvals for Vascular Closure Device, Support Catheter, Neuro-

Interventional Microcatheter and Micro Guidewire.

Ischemic Stroke Prevention Devices
Core Product – LAA Occluder is a stroke prevention device designed to be permanently implanted at the 
opening of the LAA of patients with non-valvular atrial fibrillation (AF) to prevent thrombus escaping from the 
LAA, thus causing embolization. LAA Occlusion is a one-time surgical therapy with proven efficacy, in particular 
for the patient who is not suitable for long-term oral anticoagulation therapy and has a higher risk for bleeding 
complications. We have obtained the NMPA approval and commenced sales in the second half of 2022.

In addition, we had several other product candidates in the design stage, which further supplements our full-set 
product portfolio for the treatment and prevention of stroke. For details of our products and product candidates, 
please refer to the Prospectus.

Research and Development
The Company’s product R&D aims to build a high-quality product portfolio with market competitiveness. 
Capitalizing on existing R&D platforms, certain products we developed are qualified for NMPA priority review. 
Meanwhile, we formed a multi-level product matrix through continuously iterating products approved for 
marketing, so as to meet the diverse clinical needs.

In addition to R&D and manufacturing infrastructure of non-active medical devices, the Company also established 
R&D platform for active medical devices to support the development of ablation device, robotic system and 
active medical consumables.

As of the date of the announcement of the annual result, we had 100 registered patents, including 27 invention 
patents, 64 utility models and 9 industrial design patents. And we also had 214 pending patents applications, 
including 176 invention patents, 35 utility models and 3 industrial design patents.

Manufacturing
In terms of manufacturing, we continuously improve our product quality and competitive advantage based on a 
stable and efficient supply chain.

As of the date of this annual report, we have three production facilities in Shanghai Lingang New Area, Shanghai 
Zhangjiang and Nanjing Jiangbei New Area, which can ensure a sufficient supply of products.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Commercialization
As of the date of this annual report, we have an extensive sales network in China’s neuro-interventional market, 
covering all provinces nationwide other than Hong Kong, Macao and Taiwan. As of the date of this annual report, 

our products were sold to more than 1,000 hospitals.

Meanwhile, academic communication platforms elaborately built by us contribute to our brand image and 

influence in the market through diversified channels and digital media, laying the foundation for long-term and 

stable revenue growth.

Impact of the COVID-19 Outbreak
The management of the Company currently expected that clinical trials in Mainland China will not be significantly 

affected by the outbreak of COVID-19. The Directors believe that, based on the information available as of the 

date of this annual report, the outbreak of COVID-19 would not result in a material disruption to the Group’s 

business operations or a material impact on the financial position or financial performance of the Group.

The above analysis is made by our management team based on currently available information concerning 

COVID-19. Management of the Company cannot guarantee that the outbreak of COVID-19 will not further 

escalate or have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.

Future and Outlook
We aim to become the leader in the neuro-interventional medical device market in China, and to develop into a 

competitive domestic device company in several innovative medical device markets within China.

We plan to implement the following strategies to achieve this goal:

• Improve our brand recognition as a comprehensive neuro-interventional device solution provider in the 

market, expand sales of our commercialized neuro-interventional devices and rapidly advance our product 

candidates into commercialization;

• Further enhance our manufacturing capabilities for highly reliable supply of products;

• Develop a full suite of innovative medical devices and solutions in the cardiac interventional device market 

to form a second business unit with a competitive commercialized product portfolio in addition to our 

neuro-interventional business; and

• Promote the development of innovative medical devices in emerging therapeutic fields with high potential 

growth market.

The Company also proposed to apply to the relevant PRC authorities for the issue of A shares to be listed on 

the Science and Technology Innovation Board of the Shanghai Stock Exchange, please refer to the Company’s 

announcement dated October 10, 2022 and circular dated October 24, 2022 for further details.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

II. FINANCIAL REVIEW
Overview
The following discussion is based on, and should be read in conjunction with, the financial information and the 

notes included elsewhere in this annual report.

Revenue
For the year ended December 31, 2022, all our revenue was generated from the sales of our commercialized 

neuro-interventional devices.

Revenue increased by 103.2% from RMB90.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 to RMB183.0 

million for the year ended December 31, 2022. The increase in revenue was mostly attributable to sales growth 

of our ischemic stroke thrombectomy devices and intracranial stenosis treatment devices, which generated a 

revenue of RMB142.0 million, representing a year-on-year increase of 57.7%, while the Company’s pipeline of 

hemorrhagic, preventative and access devices generated a revenue of RMB41.0 million.

Cost of Sales
Cost of sales increased from RMB35.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 to RMB58.7 million for the 

year ended December 31, 2022, which was in line with the increase in our revenue.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin
As a result of the foregoing, our gross profit increased from RMB55.0 million for the year ended December 31, 

2021 to RMB124.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. Gross profit margin is calculated as gross 

profit divided by revenue. Our gross profit margin increased from 61.0% for the year ended December 31, 2021 

to 67.9% for the year ended December 31, 2022, primarily attributed to the increasing gross margin of ischemic 

stroke thrombectomy devices and intracranial stenosis treatment devices due to increased production volume, 

and the increasingly mature manufacturing techniques.

Other Income and Gains
Other income and gains increased from RMB18.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, to RMB35.3 

million for the year ended December 31, 2022, primarily attributable to (i) the increase in our government grants; 

(ii) increase in bank interest income; and (iii) foreign exchange gains.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Research and Development Costs
R&D costs increased from RMB76.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, to RMB153.7 million for the 

year ended December 31, 2022, primarily due to the increase in R&D costs incurred for the advancement and 

increase in number of our pipeline candidates and the expansion of R&D team.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of our R&D costs:

Year ended  

December 31, 2022

Year ended  

December 31, 2021

RMB million % RMB million %
  

Staff costs 51.9 33.8 30.3 39.7

Depreciation 9.4 6.1 5.8 7.6

Third party contracting costs 51.7 33.6 20.5 26.9

Raw materials and consumables 29.9 19.5 14.5 19.0

Others 10.8 7.0 5.2 6.8

Total 153.7 100.0 76.3 100.0

Administrative Expenses
Administrative expenses decreased from RMB83.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 to RMB71.5 

million for the year ended December 31, 2022, primarily attributed to a decrease in the equity-settled share 

award expenses which was partially offset by an increase in professional service fees.

Selling and Distribution Expenses
Selling and distribution expenses increased from RMB51.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 to 

RMB96.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2022, primarily attributed to increasing staff costs and market 

development costs as the sale forces expand.

Other Expenses
For the year ended December 31, 2022, we incurred other expenses of RMB2.3 million, which was primarily in 

relation to donations to charity amounted to RMB1.7 million.

Finance Costs
Finance costs decreased from RMB2.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, to RMB2.1 million for 

the year ended December 31, 2022, primarily due to the decrease in the interest on restricted share repurchase 

obligations.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Borrowings and Gearing Ratio
The Group’s total borrowings, including interest-bearing borrowings, as at December 31, 2022 was RMB5 

million, while the Company did not incur borrowings as at December 31, 2021. The Company’s borrowing was 

denominated in RMB, repayable on demand or within a period not exceeding one year and at a fixed interest 

rate. The gearing ratio (calculated by dividing the sum of borrowings and lease liabilities by total equity) of the 

Group as at December 31, 2022 was 4.3%, compared to 3.1% for the year ended December 31, 2021.

Liquidity and Financial Resources
We mainly relied on capital contributions by our shareholders, equity financing as the major sources of liquidity 

as well as cash generated from our sales revenue of existing commercialized medical device products. As part 

of our treasury policy, our management monitors and maintains a level of cash and bank balances deemed 

adequate to finance our operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. As our business 

develops and expands, we expect to generate more cash from our operating activities, through increasing sales 

revenue of the existing commercialized products and by launching new products.

Our cash and bank balances as of December 31, 2022 were RMB870.1 million, as compared to RMB1,217.7 

million as of December 31, 2021.

Our net current assets as of December 31, 2022 were RMB1,064.5 million, as compared to RMB1,276.9 million 

as of December 31, 2021.

Capital Expenditure
For the year ended December 31, 2022, our total capital expenditure amounted to approximately RMB37.2 

million as compared to a capital expenditure of RMB54.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2021. The 

capital expenditure was primarily used in the purchase of equipment, machinery and software.

Contingent Liabilities
As of December 31, 2022, the Group did not have any material contingent liabilities.

On February 11, 2023, the Company received a statement of claim from Venus Medtech (Hangzhou) Inc. (杭

州啓明醫療器械股份有限公司, “Venus Medtech”) filed with the Shanghai Intellectual Property Court (上海知識

產權法院). The claim alleged that a former employee of Venus Medtech has violated confidentiality and other 

obligations owed to Venus Medtech and utilized information obtained to facilitate IasoCardiac Medical and 

the Company’s R&D efforts. The Company considers that we have valid defence against the claim and having 

consulted PRC legal advisors, we currently intend to defend the claim. Accordingly, the Group has not provided 

for any provision arising from the claim.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Significant Investments, Material Acquisitions and Disposals
On February 8, 2022, Weiqi Medical, Ms. Zhang Yanxia and Ms. Li Jun, IasoCardiac Medical, Mr. Li Feng and 

Pingxiang Rong Jiabao Business Consulting Partnership (Limited Partnership), entered into an agreement 

pursuant to which (i) the Vendors agreed to sell, and Weiqi Medical agreed to acquire, 36% of the equity 

interest in IasoCardiac Medical at a consideration of RMB4,800,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$5,884,011) 

(the “Acquisition”), and (ii) Weiqi Medical agreed to make a capital injection of RMB30,000,000 (equivalent to 

approximately HK$36,775,071) into IasoCardiac Medical in exchange for RMB543,000 of registered capital of 

IasoCardiac Medical (the “Capital Injection”).

For details of the Acquisition and the Capital Injection, please refer to the Company’s announcements dated 

February 8, 2022 and February 22, 2022.

As of December 31, 2022, the Acquisition and Capital Injection have been completed, and Weiqi Medical held 

44.96% of the shares of IasoCardiac Medical. The Acquisition and the Capital Injection were satisfied by the 

internal resources of the Group other than the proceeds raised from the Company’s Global Offering.

Saved as disclosed above, the Group did not have material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries, associates 

and joint ventures, and the Group had not recorded any significant investment accounting for more than 5% of 

the Group’s total assets for the year ended December 31, 2022.

Pledge of Assets
As of December 31, 2022, the Group had no pledge of assets.

Foreign Exchange Exposure
We are exposed to foreign currency risk mainly arising from cash at bank denominated in USD and HKD. We 

currently do not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, our management monitors foreign exchange 

exposure and will consider appropriate hedging measures in the future should the need arise.

Future Plans for Material Investments or Capital Assets
We had not authorized any plan for the material investments or acquisition of capital asset as of the date of this 

annual report.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

HUMAN RESOURCES
As of December 31, 2022, we had 497 full-time employees in total.

The remuneration policy for the Directors and senior management is based on their responsibility and general 

market conditions. Any discretionary and performance bonus are linked to the general performance of the Group 

and the individual performances of the Directors and senior management.

In compliance with the relevant PRC labor laws, we enter into individual employment contracts with 

our employees covering matters such as terms, wages, bonuses, employee benefits, workplace safety, 

confidentiality obligations and grounds for termination.

To remain competitive in the labor market, we provide various incentives and benefits to our employees. We 

invest in continuing education and training programs, including internal and external training, for our management 

staff and other employees to upgrade their skills and knowledge. We also provide competitive salaries and stock 

incentive plans to our employees especially key employees. We believe our benefits, working environment 

and development opportunities for our employees have contributed to good employee relations and employee 

retention.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Save as disclosed above, there is no material subsequent event undertaken by the Company or by the Group 

after the Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the articles of association of the Company, or the laws of 

the PRC, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares of the Company on a pro-rata basis to its existing 

Shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
According to the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Board, 

as at the date of this annual report, the Company has maintained the public float as required under the Listing 

Rules.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries have purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed 

securities during the Reporting Period.
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM LISTING
The H Shares of the Company were first listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on August 20, 2021. 
Net proceeds received from our Global Offering aggregated approximately HK$1,014.8 million. Reference is 
made to the Company’s Prospectus dated August 10, 2021.

Details of the planned applications of net proceeds from the Listing were disclosed in the Prospectus. As at 
December 31, 2022, the utilisation of the net proceeds from the Global Offering are as follows:

Planned 

applications

Actual 

utilisation 

as at 

December 31, 

2021

Utilisation 

during the 

Reporting 

Period

Actual 

utilisation 

as at

December 31, 

2022

Balance

as at 

December 31, 

2022

Expected timeline 

for full utilisation 

of the unutilised 

net proceedsUse of proceeds (HK$ million) (HK$ million) (HK$ million) (HK$ million) (HK$ million)
     

R&D, manufacturing and marketing of 
 our core products

459.7 59.0 128.7 187.7 272.0 December 31, 2025

R&D, product registration, manufacturing and 
 marketing of other product candidates in 
 our pipeline

404.9 50.4 109.9 160.3 244.6 December 31, 2025

Improvements to our R&D capacities and 
 our continued expansion of product 
 portfolio through internal research

48.7 15.8 32.9 48.7 – –

Working capital and general corporate purposes 101.5 18.9 82.6 101.5 – –

Total 1,014.8 144.1 354.1 498.2 516.6
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DIRECTORS
Executive Directors
Mr. WANG Guohui (王國輝), aged 45, is one of our single largest Shareholders and founders. As our Director 

and chief executive officer since the establishment of our Company in June 2016, he was redesignated as 

our executive Director and appointed as our chairman of the Board on November 23, 2020. He is primarily 

responsible for the overall management of our Company.

Mr. Wang has nearly 20 years’ experience in the fields of R&D and commercialization of medical devices. Prior 

to the founding of our Company, he worked at Shanghai MicroPort Medical (Group) Co., Ltd. (上海微創醫療器

械(集團)有限公司, the “MicroPort”), a company primarily engaged in the R&D, manufacturing and marketing 

of medical devices and a subsidiary of MicroPort Scientific Corporation (微創醫療科學有限公司, the “MicroPort 

Scientific”), whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 00853.hk), from 

August 2004 to February 2012. MicroPort Scientific was then a leading medical technology company that was 

developing, manufacturing and selling high-end medical devices in the PRC whose products included those used 

for vascular diseases and disorders, such as cardiovascular, neurovascular, aortic and peripheral vascular, as well 

as devices for cardiology, electrophysiology, orthopedics and diabetes. Mr. Wang was primarily responsible for 

the management of qualify system and registration regulations at MicroPort. From March 2012 to November 

2014, he was the senior director of quality regulations at Angiocare Medical Technology Corporation Limited 

(上海安通醫療科技有限公司, the “Angiocare”), a company primarily engaged in the development, production 

and sale of medical devices for renal denervation, where he was primarily responsible for quality control and 

products registration. From December 2014 to November 2015, Mr. Wang served as the deputy general 

manager of Essen Technology (Beijing) Corporation Limited (易生科技(北京)有限公司, the “Essen Technology”), 

a company primarily engaged in interventional cardiovascular devices in China with a current focus on the R&D 

and commercialization of DES products, where he was primarily responsible for the overall management of the 

company. From December 2015 to May 2016, he was the deputy general manager of Shanghai Bio-heart, which 

is a leading interventional cardiovascular device company in China with current focus on bioresorbable scaffolds 

and renal denervation, where he was primarily responsible for quality control and products registration.

In November 2007, he was certified as a standardization engineer by Shanghai Municipal Human Resources 

Bureau (上海市人事局, currently known as Shanghai Municipal Human Resources and Social Security Bureau 

(上海市人力資源和社會保障局). In November 2019, he was appointed as a committee member by the Youth 

Committee of Shanghai Stroke Association (上海卒中學會青年理事會). In September 2020, Mr. Wang was 

appointed as a professional consultant to the Life Science Blue Bay of Lin-gang Special Area (臨港新片區生命

藍灣) by China (Shanghai) Pilot Free Trade Zone Lin-gang Special Area Administration (中國(上海)自由貿易試驗

區臨港新片區管理委員會) and Shanghai Lin-gang Economic Development (Group) Corporation Limited (上海臨港

經濟發展(集團)有限公司). Mr. Wang was also appointed as a committee member of the Cardiovascular Implant  

Sub-Technical Committee of the National Standardization Technical Committee for Surgical Implants 

and Orthopedic Devices (全國外科植入物和矯形器械標準化技術委員會心血管植入物分技術委員會 ) by the 

Standardization Administration of the PRC (國家標準化管理委員會), a vice managing committee member of the 

Intervention Medical Engineering Committee of the Shanghai Biomedical Engineering Society (上海市生物醫學工

程學會介入醫學工程專會副主任委員), and was named as a “Shanghai Industry Elite” (上海產業菁英).
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Mr. Wang obtained his bachelor’s degree in marine engineering management from Dalian Maritime University 

(大連海事大學) in the PRC in July 2000. He received his master’s degree in applied chemistry from Shanghai 

University (上海大學) in the PRC in March 2005, and a degree of executive master of business administration 

from Tsinghua University (清華大學) in the PRC in January 2016.

Ms. ZHANG Kun (張坤), aged 46 and formerly named Zhang Ye (張葉), was redesignated as our executive 

Director and appointed as our deputy general manager on November 23, 2020. She joined our Company as a 

Supervisor in April 2018 and has served as a Director of our Company since September 2019. She is primarily 

responsible for the clinical trials, cardiac interventional business and central marketing department of our 

Company.

Ms. Zhang has over 20 years’ experience in the fields of the R&D and commercialization of medical devices. 

Prior to the founding of our Company, she was the sales representative of Shanghai Zhenwei Science and Trade 

Corporation Limited (上海真維科貿有限公司), a company mainly engaged in the distribution of medical devices, 

from August 2000 to May 2002, where she was primarily responsible for the development, sale and marketing 

of the interventional products in Shanghai area. From May 2002 to March 2004, she was the regional sales 

manager in charge of Shanghai area at MicroPort and was then promoted to the head of marketing department 

and medical affairs department during the period from March 2005 to May 2009. From May 2009 to January 

2011, she served as the national marketing director of Shanghai MicroPort EP MedTech Corporation Limited (上

海微創電生理醫療科技股份有限公司), a company primarily engaged in the R&D, manufacturing and marketing of 

medical devices and equipment and a subsidiary of MicroPort Scientific where she was primarily responsible for 

the marketing of the company. From December 2012 to November 2014, Ms. Zhang was the director of clinical 

experiment department at Angiocare, where she was primarily responsible for the management of clinical 

experiments and the marketing of products. From November 2014 to October 2020, she was the deputy general 

manager at Essen Technology, where she was primarily responsible for the overall management of the company.

Ms. Zhang obtained her bachelor’s degree in mechanical and electrical engineering from Beijing Academy of 

Armored Forces Engineering (北京裝甲兵工程學院) in the PRC in July 2000. She received her master’s degree 

in business administration from the City University of Hong Kong in Hong Kong in February 2017. Since 2017, 

Ms. Zhang has held various positions at the City University of Hong Kong Executive Master of Business 

Administration (Chinese) Alumni Association (香港城市大學EMBA(中文)校友會, the “EMBA (Chinese) Alumni 

Association of CityU”). In September 2018, she was appointed as the deputy secretary-general for a term of two 

years from 2017 to 2019 by EMBA (Chinese) Alumni Association of CityU Limited (香港城市大學行政人員工商管

理碩士(中文)校友會有限公司). Subsequently in December 2019, Ms. Zhang was appointed as a council member 

of EMBA (Chinese) Alumni Association of CityU for a term of two years from 2019 to 2021. In December 2019, 

she was also appointed as a full-time deputy vice-president (devices) of the Biomedicine Professional Committee 

(生物醫藥專業委員會) of EMBA (Chinese) Alumni Association of CityU, certified as the founding member and 

appointed as the consultant to the presidential council of the EMBA (Chinese) Alumni Association of CityU.

Mr. WEI Jiawei (韋家威), aged 45, joined our Company in September 2020 and was appointed as the deputy 

general manager in November 2020. He was redesignated as our executive Director on June 10, 2022. He is 

primarily responsible for sales management of our Company.
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Mr. Wei has extensive experience in the field of marketing and sale of medical devices. Between September 

2005 to December 2008, he worked in the BSC International Medical Trading (Shanghai) Corporation Limited 

(波科國際醫療貿易(上海)有限公司). From July 2008 to July 2018, Mr. Wei was first a regional sales manager in 

Ev3 Medical Devices (Beijing) Corporation Limited (醫偉司安醫療器材(北京)有限公司) and then promoted to the 

manager of its national new business development department of Covidien Healthcare International Trading 

(Shanghai) Corporation Limited (柯惠醫療器材國際貿易(上海)有限公司), both companies being the subsidiaries 

of Medtronic plc. He was a deputy general manager of sales of Jiangsu Nico Medical Technology Corporation 

Limited (江蘇尼科醫療器械有限公司) from August 2018 to August 2020.

Mr. Wei obtained his bachelor’s degree in chemical pharmaceutical technology from East China University of 

Science and Technology (華東理工大學) in the PRC in July 1999.

Non-executive Directors
Mr. DING Kui (丁魁), aged 40, joined our Company in April 2018 as a Director and was redesignated as our 

non-executive Director on November 23, 2020. He is primarily responsible for providing strategic advice and 

recommendations on the operations and management of our Company.

Mr. Ding has more than 17 years’ experience in financial and healthcare industries. From August 2005 to August 

2012, Mr. Ding worked in Sinolink Securities Corporation Limited (國金證券股份有限公司) as a business director. 

He has been serving as the deputy general manager and the secretary of the board of directors at Shanghai 

Kinetic Medical Corporation Limited (上海凱利泰醫療科技股份有限公司, the “Kinetic”) since August 2012, where 

he was primarily responsible for the management of the office of the board of directors, the investment and 

development department and legal department. Since he joined Kinetic, Mr. Ding has also been serving as non-

executive directors and supervisors in various companies Kinetic invested in.

Mr. Ding obtained his bachelor’s degree in electrical engineering and automation from Tongji University (同濟大

學) in the PRC in July 2003.

Mr. CHEN Shaoxiong (陳少雄), aged 61, was appointed as our non-executive Director on November 9, 2022. 

He has worked at the Shanghai Biopharmaceutics Industry Association (“SBIA”) since May 2003 and is currently 

serving as the secretary general and executive president of SBIA. Prior to joining SBIA, Mr. Chen Shaoxiong 

worked at Shanghai No.1 Biochemical and Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. and its predecessor, Shanghai Biochemical 

Pharmaceutical Factory, between July 1984 and April 2003. Mr. Chen Shaoxiong has also served as the secretary 

general of the award committee of the C.C. Tan Life Science Award since May 2008 and the vice president of 

the Shanghai Federation of Industrial Economics: Shanghai Federation of Economic Organization since January 

2010.

Mr. Chen Shaoxiong obtained his bachelor’s degree in agriculture from the School of Agriculture and Biology 

of Shanghai Jiao Tong University (formerly known as Shanghai School of Agriculture) in July 1984, and he 

further obtained his executive master’s degree in business administration from Antai College of Economics and 

Management at Shanghai Jiao Tong University in June 2010, and his doctorate of business administration from 

the Grenoble Ecole De Management in France in February 2018. Mr. Chen Shaoxiong has also been a qualified 

principal senior engineer since December 2018.
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Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. GUO Shaomu (郭少牧), aged 57, has been our independent non-executive Director since November 23, 

2020. He is primarily responsible for providing independent advice on the operations and management of our 

Company to our Board.

Mr. Guo has over 13 years of experience in investment banking in Hong Kong, during which time he 

accumulated ample knowledge in the financial industry. From February 2000 to February 2001, Mr. Guo served 

as an associate of corporate finance at Salomon Smith Barney, an investment bank principally engaged in 

providing financial services (an investment banking arm of Citigroup Inc.), where he was primarily responsible 

for supporting the marketing and execution efforts of the China team. From March 2001 to September 2005, 

Mr. Guo served as an associate and an associate director of global investment banking at HSBC Markets 

(Asia) Limited, an investment bank principally engaged in providing financial services, where he was primarily 

responsible for the execution of China-related transactions. From October 2005 to April 2007, Mr. Guo served as 

a vice president and a director of the real estate team at J.P. Morgan Investment Banking Asia, an investment 

bank principally engaged in financial services, where he was primarily responsible for marketing efforts covering 

the real estate sector in the PRC. From April 2007 to April 2013, Mr. Guo served as a director and a managing 

director of the real estate team at Morgan Stanley Investment Banking Asia, an investment bank primarily 

engaged in providing financial services, where he was one of the key members responsible for the business in 

the real estate sector in the Greater China region.

Mr. Guo has served as an independent non-executive director of Yida China Holdings Limited, a property 

developer listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 3639.HK), since June 2014, Fantasia 

Holdings Group Co. Limited, a property developer listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 

1777.HK), since February 2015, Ganglong China Property Group Limited, a property developer listed on the Main 

Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 6968.HK), since June 2020 and Sunkwan Properties Group Limited 

(上坤地產集團有限公司), a property developer listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 

6900.HK), since October 2020. Moreover, Mr. Guo has also served as an independent non-executive director of 

GalaxyCore Inc. (格科微有限公司), a company listed on the Sci-Tech Board of the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock 

code: 688728.SH), since March 2020.

Mr. Guo obtained his bachelor’s degree in electrical engineering from Zhejiang University (浙江大學) in the PRC 

in July 1989, a master’s degree in computer engineering from University of Southern California in May 1993. He 

received his master’s degree in business administration from the School of Management of Yale University in 

May 1998.
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Mr. FENG Xiangqian (馮向前), aged 36, has been our independent non-executive Director since November 23, 

2020. He is primarily responsible for providing independent advice on the operations and management of our 

Company to our Board.

Mr. Feng has over 15 years’ experience in financial industry. Mr. Feng was a senior manager of Caitong 

Securities Corporation Limited (財通證券股份有限公司) from July 2007 to October 2010 where he was primarily 

responsible for initial public offering affairs. He was a business director of the investment banking department 

of Donghai Securities Corporation Limited (東海證券股份有限公司) from November 2010 to February 2014. He 

worked at Shenzhen Stock Exchange from March 2014 to March 2017. From August 2017 to July 2018, Mr. 

Feng was the vice president of the investment banking division of China Merchants Pingan AMC (深圳市招商平

安資產管理有限責任公司). Since April 2019, he has been employed by Xiangcai Securities Corporation Limited (湘

財證券股份有限公司).

Mr. Feng obtained his bachelor’s degree in biological science from Fudan University in July 2007 and his 

master’s degree in finance from the University of Chinese Academy of Social Sciences (中國社會科學院大學) 

(formerly known as the Graduate School of Chinese Academy of Social Sciences (中國社會科學院研究生院)) in 

the PRC in June 2013. In October 2020, Mr. Feng received his certificate of senior economist from Shenzhen 

Municipal Human Resources and Social Security Bureau (深圳市人力資源和社會保障局). In addition, he has been 

a member of the Global Association of Risk Professionals as a financial risk manager since August 2019.

Mr. GONG Ping (龔平), aged 36, has been our independent non-executive Director since January 11, 2021. He 

is primarily responsible for providing independent advice on the operations and management of our Company to 

our Board.

Mr. Gong has over 13 years’ experience in auditing and financial management. Mr. Gong was the audit manager 

of the Shanghai branch of Ernst & Young Hua Ming (LLP) (安永華明會計師事務所(上海分所)特殊普通合夥) from 

December 2009 to March 2015. He then served as the deputy director of capital market division of Broad 

Greenstate Ecological Construction Group Company Limited (博大綠澤生態建設集團有限公司) from March 2015 to 

April 2018. Since April 2018, Mr. Gong has been the chief financial officer and secretary to the board of directors 

of Dook Media Group Limited (讀客文化股份有限公司).

Mr. Gong obtained his bachelor’s degree in international accounting (U.S. division) from Shanghai University 

of Finance and Economics (上海財經大學) in July 2009. He has also obtained his master’s degree in business 

administration (MBA) from the Shanghai Jiao Tong University in March 2021. Mr. Gong has been a member of 

the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants (中國註冊會計師協會, the “CICPA”) since June 2015 and a 

member of Certified Public Accountants Association of Australia since February 2015.
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SUPERVISORS
Mr. XING Tingyu (邢庭瑀), aged 37, joined our Company in August 2019 and was redesignated as our employee 

Supervisor on November 23, 2020. He has been the director of the marketing department of our Company since 

August 2019. Mr. Xing is primarily responsible for monitoring the operations of our Company on behalf of the 

employees of our Company.

Mr. Xing worked as a regional sales manager of MicroPort NeuroTech (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (微創神通醫療科技(上

海)有限公司), a subsidiary of MicroPort Scientific, from July 2016 to December 2017. Between January 2018 to 

August 2019, he was a senior regional manager of Hong Yi Medical Devices (Shanghai) Corporation Limited (泓

懿醫療器械(上海)有限公司), a company principally engaged in the diagnosis and treatment of stroke.

Mr. Xing obtained his bachelor’s degree in medicine from Guangxi Medical University (廣西醫科大學) in the PRC 

in June 2008.

Mr. Jiang Xinbei (姜心貝), aged 31, was appointed as our Supervisor on November 9, 2022. Mr. Jiang serves as 

an investment manager at Shanghai Sharewin Equity Fund Management Co., Ltd from April 2021 and is primarily 

responsible for equity investment management and consulting.

Mr. Jiang Xinbei was a technical salesperson at Covidien Medical Equipment International Trade (Shanghai) Co., 

Ltd from July 2018 to May 2019, and he then served as an investment manager at Jiangsu Tianhui Hongyou 

Investment Management Co., Ltd from September 2019 to April 2021.

Mr. Jiang Xinbei received his bachelor’s degree in pharmaceutical engineering from China Pharmaceutical 

University in the PRC in July 2015 and his master’s degree in medicinal chemistry from Peking Union Medical 

College in the PRC in July 2018.

Ms. Jiang Xue (姜雪), aged 37, joined our Company in October 2021 as a legal manager and was redesignated 

as our Supervisor on November 9, 2022. She was primarily responsible for monitoring and handling legal affairs 

of the Company.

Ms. Jiang Xue was a patent engineer at Shanghai Sinyang Semi-conductor Material Co., Ltd from September 

2012 to July 2013, and she then served as a patent manager at Daicel Chiral Technologies (Shanghai) Co., Ltd 

from November 2013 to April 2018. Ms. Jiang Xue was an associate at Shanghai Ryser & Associates from May 

2018 to September 2021.

Ms. Jiang Xue received her bachelor’s degree in applied chemistry (fine chemicals) and her master’s degree in 

chemical engineering and technology from the Dalian University of Technology in the PRC in July 2008 and July 

2011, respectively. Ms. Jiang Xue is also licensed to practice law and is a qualified patent agent in China.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. WANG Guohui (王國輝), aged 45, has been our chief executive officer since the establishment of our 

Company in June 2016 and our chairman of the Board since November 23, 2020. For further details, please see 

the paragraphs headed “Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management – Directors – Executive Directors” in 

this section.

Ms. ZHANG Kun (張坤), aged 46 and formerly named Zhang Ye (張葉), has been our deputy general manager 

since November 23, 2020. For further details, please see the paragraphs headed “Directors, Supervisors and 

Senior Management – Directors – Executive Directors” in this section.

Mr. WEI Jiawei (韋家威), aged 45, has been appointed as our deputy general manager since November 2020. 

For further details, please refer to the paragraphs headed “Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management – 

Directors – Executive Directors” in this section.

Dr. LI Zhigang, aged 61, has been our deputy general manager since November 2020.

Dr. Li joined our Company in November 2017 as our deputy general manager until June 2020. He was our 

Director from June 2020 to November 2020. In November 2020, he was re-appointed as our deputy general 

manager. He had been primarily responsible for R&D management of our Company since he joined our Group 

and there has been no change of his responsibilities after he was re-appointed as our deputy general manager.

Dr. Li was a staff engineer of Johnson & Johnson from 1999 to 2008. He was a manager responsible for 

R&D in West Pharma Services, Inc. from 2008 to 2013. He was the principal engineer of the vascular therapy 

department of Covidien (China) Medical Devices Technology Corporation Limited (柯惠(中國)醫療器材技術有限公

司, the “Covidien”), a subsidiary of Medtronic plc, from 2013 to 2017.

Dr. Li obtained his bachelor’s degree in mechanical engineering from Beijing University of Chemical Technology 

(北京化工大學) in the PRC in July 1982. He received his master’s degree in mechanical engineering from Beijing 

University of Chemical Technology in July 1986. He obtained his Ph.D. in mechanical engineering from New 

Jersey Institute of Technology in the United States in January 2000.

Mr. ZHANG Han (張涵), aged 36, has been our chief financial officer since November 23, 2020.

Mr. Zhang joined our Company in November 2020 and was appointed as our chief financial officer on November 

23, 2020. He is primarily responsible for the strategic development and financial management of our Company. 

He was appointed as our company secretary on December 22, 2020.
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Mr. Zhang has extensive experience in equity capital market and financial management. Mr. Zhang started to 

work at Ernst & Young Hua Ming LLP (安永華明會計師事務所(特殊普通合夥)) in December 2009 and left as a 

senior associate in June 2012. From June 2012 to November 2020, he served as a senior manager, a director 

and an executive director of investment banking at Sinolink Securities Corporation Limited (國金證券股份有限

公司), where he also served as the deputy general manager responsible for the corporate finance and M&A 

business in healthcare sector.

Mr. Zhang obtained his bachelor’s degree in accounting and international economic law from Shanghai University 

of Finance and Economics (上海財經大學) in the PRC in July 2009. He is a member of CICPA since March 2014 

and also a member of Certified Public Accountants Association of Australia since June 2012.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES
Mr. ZHANG Han (張涵), aged 36, was appointed as a joint company secretary of our Company on December 22, 

2020. Mr. Zhang is also the chief financial officer of our Company. For further details, please see the paragraphs 

headed “Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management – Senior Management” in this section.

Ms. KWOK Siu Ying Sarah (郭兆瑩), aged 39, was appointed as a joint company secretary of our Company 

on March 24, 2022. Ms. Kwok is currently a manager of corporate services of Vistra Corporate Services (HK) 

Limited. She has over seven years of experience in the corporate services industry.

Ms. Kwok obtained a bachelor’s degree in Business Studies from University College Dublin, National University 

of Ireland in June 2012 and a master’s degree in Corporate Governance from Hong Kong Metropolitan University 

(香港都會大學) (formerly known as The Open University of Hong Kong) in November 2017. She has been an 

associate member of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as The Hong Kong 

Institute of Chartered Secretaries) and an associate member of The Chartered Governance Institute (formerly 

known as The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators) in the United Kingdom since 2018. She is 

also an affiliate member of The Society of Trust and Estate Practitioners.

Ms. Kwok is currently the company secretary of NVC International Holdings Limited, a Main Board listed 

company in Hong Kong (stock code: 2222) and the joint company secretary of Shanghai Bio-heart Biological 

Technology Co., Ltd., a Main Board listed company in Hong Kong (stock code: 2185) and Beauty Farm Medical 

and Health Industry Inc., a Main Board listed company in Hong Kong (stock code: 2373).

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION
Save as disclosed herein, as the date of this annual report, the Directors confirm that no information is required 

to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.
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The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report for the Company for the year ended December 

31, 2022.

COMPANY’S CULTURE
The Board believes that corporate culture underpins the long-term business, economic success and sustainable 

growth of the Group. A strong culture enables the Company to deliver long-term sustainable performance and 

fulfil its role as a responsible corporate citizen.

Our vision is becoming an innovative medical device company that improves the accessibility of cutting-edge 

medical technologies and protects lives and health.

Our long-term business model is to redefine the standard of care, reduce mortality rates, and improve prognosis 

by continuously launching innovative medical devices.

Our strategy is to become the leader in the neuro-interventional medical device market in China.

The Board sets and promotes corporate culture and expects and requires all employees to reinforce. All of our 

new employees are required to attend orientation and training programs so that they may better understand our 

corporate culture, structure and policies, learn relevant laws and regulations, and raise their quality awareness. 

In addition, from time to time, the Company will invite external experts to provide training to our management 

personnel to improve their relevant knowledge and management skills.

The Board considers that the corporate culture and the purpose, values and strategy of the Group are aligned.

More information about the Company’s vision, mission and values is available on the section headed “Report 

of Directors – Business Review”, “Corporate Governance Report” and “Environmental, Social and Governance 

Report” of this annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
The Company recognizes the importance of good corporate governance for enhancing the management of the 

Company as well as preserving the interests of the Shareholders of the Company as a whole. The Company 

has adopted the code provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code as its own code to govern its 

corporate governance practices.

Except for code provision C.2.1 set out below, in the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with 

all the code provisions as set out in the CG Code during the Reporting Period.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Under code provision C.2.1, the roles of chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and should 

not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Wang Guohui is the chairman of the Board and chief executive 

officer of the Company. With extensive experience in the medical devices industry and having served in the 

Company as the general manager since the very early stage of our Company, Mr. Wang is in charge of overall 

management of the Company. Despite the fact that the roles of our chairman of the Board and our chief 

executive officer are both performed by Mr. Wang which constitutes a deviation from code provision C.2.1 of the 

CG Code, the Board considers that vesting the roles of both chairman of the Board and chief executive officer all 

in Mr. Wang has the benefit of ensuring consistent leadership and more effective and efficient overall strategic 

planning of the Company. The balance of power and authority is ensured by the operation of our Board, which 

comprises experienced and diverse individuals. The Board currently comprises two non-executive Directors 

and three independent non-executive Directors as compared to three executive Directors. Therefore, the Board 

possesses a strong independent element in its composition. The Board will continue to review and monitor the 

practices of the Company with an aim of maintaining a high standard of corporate governance.

BOARD INDEPENDENCE
The Company recognizes that Board independence is key to good corporate governance. The Company has 

in place effective mechanisms that underpin an independent Board and that independent views. The current 

composition of the Board, comprising more than one third of the of the independent non-executive Directors 

exceed the independence requirements under the Listing Rules. The Remuneration Committee, Audit 

Committee and Nomination Committee are all chaired by independent non-executive Directors. The remuneration 

of independent non-executive Directors are subject to a regular review to maintain competitiveness and 

commensurate with their responsibilities and workload. The independence of each independent non-executive 

Director is assessed upon his appointment and annually.

Directors are requested to declare their direct or indirect interests, if any, in proposals or transactions to 

be considered by the Board at the Board meetings and abstain from voting, where appropriate. External 

independent professional advice is available to all Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, 

whenever deemed necessary. The independent non-executive Directors have consistently demonstrated strong 

commitment and the ability to devote sufficient time to discharge their responsibilities at the Board.
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The Company has also established channels through formal and informal means whereby independent 

non-executive Directors can express their views in an open manner, and in a confidential manner, should 

circumstances requires.

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of conduct regarding dealings in the securities of 

the Company by the Directors, Supervisors and the Company’s senior management who, because of his/her 

office or employment, is likely to possess inside information in relation to Company or its securities.

Having made specific enquiries of all the Directors and Supervisors, they have confirmed that they have 

complied with the Model Code during the Reporting Period. In addition, the Company is not aware of any non-

compliance of the Model Code by the senior management of the Group during the Reporting Period.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
As of the date of this annual report, the Board comprises three executive Directors, two non-executive Directors, 

and three independent non-executive Directors.

Executive Directors
Mr. WANG Guohui (Chairman, Chief executive officer)
Ms. ZHANG Kun (Deputy general manager)
Mr. WEI Jiawei (Deputy general manager)  (Note 1)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. DING Kui

Mr. OUYANG Xiangyu (Note 2)
Mr. CHEN Gang (Note 3)
Mr. CHEN Shaoxiong (Note 4)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. GUO Shaomu

Mr. FENG Xiangqian

Mr. GONG Ping

Notes:

1. Mr. WEI Jiawei has been appointed as an executive Director on June 10, 2022.

2. Mr. OUYANG Xiangyu has resigned as a non-executive Director on July 15, 2022.

3. Mr. CHEN Gang has resigned as a non-executive Director on August 31, 2022.

4. Mr. CHEN Shaoxiong has been appointed as a non-executive Director on November 9, 2022.
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The biographical details of the current Directors are set out in the section headed “Directors, Supervisors and 

Senior Management” on pages 18 to 25 of this annual report.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there is no any relationship (including, financial, business, family or other 

material/relevant relationship(s)) between the Board members.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE BY THE INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTORS
The Company has received written annual confirmation from each of the independent non-executive Directors in 

respect of his independence in accordance with the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing 

Rules. The Company is of the view that all independent non-executive Directors are independent.

During the Reporting period, the Board at all times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the 

appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors representing over one-third of the Board with 

one of whom possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management 

expertise.

APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL OF DIRECTORS
Each of the executive Directors, non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors of the 

Company has entered into a service contract with the Company which contains provisions in relation to, 

among other things, compliance of relevant laws and regulations, observance of the Articles of Association and 

provisions on arbitration.

None of the Directors has or is proposed to have entered into any service contract with any member of the 

Group (excluding agreements expiring or determinable by any member of the Group within one year without 

payment of compensation other than statutory compensation).

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the Directors are elected and appointed by the Shareholders at a 

Shareholders’ meeting for a term of three years, which is renewable upon re-election and re-appointment.

The Company may, in accordance with the Articles of Association, by ordinary resolution remove any Director 

before the expiration of his/her term of office notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Articles of 

Association or in any agreement between the Company and such Director.

Where vacancies on the Board exist, the Nomination Committee evaluates skills, knowledge and experience 

required by the Board, and identifies if there are any special requirements for the vacancy. The Nomination 

Committee identifies appropriate candidates and convenes Nomination Committee meeting to discuss and vote 

in respect of the nominated Directors and recommends candidates for Directors to the Board.
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The Nomination Committee considers candidates with individual skills, experience and professional knowledge 

that can best assist and facilitate the effectiveness of the Board.

The Nomination Committee takes the policy on Board diversity of the Company into consideration when it 

considers the balance of composition of the Board as a whole.

The Company has a director nomination policy. When evaluating and determining the candidates of Directors, 

the Nomination Committee and the Board of Directors shall consider the following factors: personal characters; 

professional qualifications, skills, knowledge, and experience related to the Group’s business and strategy; 

willing to devote sufficient time to fulfill the duties of the Directors and members of the special committees of 

the Board of Directors; whether their appointment is in compliance with the requirements of the Listing Rules 

(including the independence requirements of independent non-executive Directors); whether their appointment is 

in compliance with the Company’s Board diversity policy and any measurable targets adopted by the Nomination 

Committee to diversify the members of the Board.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control of the Company; and is collectively 

responsible for directing and supervising the Company’s affairs. The Board has delegated the authority and 

responsibility for day-to-day management and operation of the Group to the senior management of the Group. To 

oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs, the Board has established three Board committees including 

the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee. The Board has delegated 

to the Board committees responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of reference. All Board committees 

are provided with sufficient resources to perform their duties.

All Directors shall ensure that they carry out duties in good faith, in compliance with applicable laws and 

regulations, and in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders at all times.

DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S LIABILITY 
INSURANCE
The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover for Directors’, Supervisors’ and senior management’s 

liabilities in respect of legal actions against Directors, Supervisors and senior management of the Company 

arising out of corporate activities. The insurance coverage will be reviewed on an annual basis.
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF DIRECTORS
All Directors should participate in continuous professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge 

and skills to ensure their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director should receive formal, comprehensive and tailored induction on the first occasion 

of his/her appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the Company 

and full awareness of Director’s responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory 

requirements.

During the Reporting Period, all Directors, namely Mr. WANG Guohui, Ms. ZHANG Kun, Mr. WEI Jiawei, Mr. 

DING Kui, Mr. CHEN Shaoxiong, Mr. GUO Shaomu, Mr. FENG Xiangqian and Mr. GONG Ping were regularly 

briefed on the amendments to or updates on the relevant laws, rules and regulations. All Directors have been 

updated with the latest developments regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements 

to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate governance practices. In addition, 

continuing briefing and professional development to Directors will be arranged whenever necessary. All Directors 

are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the Company’s expenses and required to submit a signed 

training records to the Company on an annual basis.
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BOARD COMMITTEES
We have established an Audit Committee, a Remuneration Committee, and a Nomination Committee on our 

Board. The committees operate in accordance with the terms of reference established by our Board. The 

terms of reference of each of these committees are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock 

Exchange.

Audit Committee
Our Company has established an Audit Committee with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 

of the Listing Rules and paragraph A.2 and paragraph D.3 of the CG Code. The Audit Committee consists of 

one non-executive Director, Mr. Ding Kui, and two independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Gong Ping and Mr. 

Feng Xiangqian. The chairman of the Audit Committee is Mr. Gong Ping who holds the appropriate professional 

qualifications as required under Rules 3.10(2) and 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to assist our Board by way of providing an independent view of 

the effectiveness of the financial reporting process, internal control and risk management systems of the Group, 

overseeing the audit process, and performing other duties and responsibilities as assigned by our Board.

During the Reporting Period, three Audit Committee meetings were held. The attendance record of the 

committee members is set out in the paragraphs headed “Board Meetings, Committee Meetings And General 

Meetings” in this section. The following is a summary of work performed by the Audit Committee during the 

Reporting Period:

• reviewed the annual and interim results and reports, the Group’s financial and accounting policies and 

practices and the scope of audit and appointment of auditors;

• reviewed the risk management, internal control and compliance systems and the effectiveness of internal 

audit function and discussed with the management and internal audit on their findings; and

• discussed matters with respect to the accounting policies and practices adopted by the Company and 

internal control with senior management members of the Company.

The Audit Committee also met three times with Ernst & Young, the external auditors of the Company during the 

Reporting Period. There are proper arrangements for employees, in confidence, to raise concerns about possible 

improprieties in financial reporting, internal control and other matters.
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Remuneration Committee
Our Company has established a Remuneration Committee with written terms of reference in compliance with 

Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and paragraph E.1 of the CG Code. The remuneration committee consists of one 

executive Director, Mr. Wang Guohui, and two independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Guo Shaomu and Mr. 

Gong Ping. Mr. Guo Shaomu is the chairman of the remuneration committee.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include, but are not limited to, the following: (i) presenting 

recommendations to our Board on our policy and structure for all remuneration of Directors and senior 

management and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for development policy on such 

remuneration; (ii) determining the specific remuneration packages of all Directors and senior management; and 

(iii) reviewing and approving, if appropriate, performance-based remuneration by reference to corporate goals 

and objects resolved by our Board on a regular basis.

During the Reporting Period, two Remuneration Committee meetings were held. The attendance record of the 

committee members is set out in the paragraphs headed “Board Meetings, Committee Meetings And General 

Meetings” in this section. The following is a summary of work performed by the Remuneration Committee 

during the Reporting Period:

• reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration package of the Directors and 

senior managements;

• reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for the 

remuneration of the Directors and senior management; and

• reviewed the performance of duties of Directors and senior management of the Company and conduct 

annual performance appraisals on them.

Details of the Directors’ and Supervisors’ remuneration for the Reporting Period are set out in Note 9 to the 

financial statements.
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The remuneration of the members of senior management (including 3 Directors) of the Group by band for the 

Reporting Period is set out below:

Remuneration bands (RMB)

Number of 

Senior Management

4,000,000-4,500,000 1

3,000,000-3,500,000 2

1,000,000-1,500,000 2

Total 5

Nomination Committee
Our Company has established a Nomination Committee with written terms of reference in compliance with 

Rule 3.27 of the Listing Rules and paragraph B.3 of the CG Code. The nomination committee consists of one 

executive Director, Mr. Wang Guohui, and two independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Guo Shaomu and Mr. 

Feng Xiangqian. Mr. Feng Xiangqian is the chairman of the nomination committee.

The primary functions of the Nomination Committee include, without limitation, reviewing the structure, size and 

composition of our Board, assessing the independence of our independent non-executive Directors and making 

recommendations to our Board on matters relating to the appointment of Directors.

During the Reporting Period, two Nomination Committee meetings were held. The attendance record of the 

committee members is set out in the paragraphs headed “Board Meetings, Committee Meetings And General 

Meetings” in this section. The following is a summary of work performed by the Nomination Committee during 

the Reporting Period:

• assess the independence of the independent non-executive Directors;

• considered and/or made recommendations to the Board on the election of a director, select and 

recommend candidates for directorship; and

• reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee would take into account various aspects as 

well as factors concerning Board diversity as set out in the Company’s Board diversity policy, including but not 

limited to gender, skills, age, professional experience, knowledge, cultural, education background, ethnicity 

and length of service etc. The Nomination Committee would discuss and agree on measurable objectives for 

achieving diversity on the Board, where necessary, and recommend them to the Board for adoption.
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NOMINATION POLICY
All board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against objective criteria, 

having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships, the Nomination Committee would consider the 

candidate’s character, qualifications, experience, independence (for appointment of independent non-executive 

Directors), and Board diversity aspects, where appropriate, before making recommendation to the Board.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY
Pursuant to Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules, the Nomination Committee (or the Board) shall have a policy 

concerning diversity of board members, and shall disclose the policy on diversity or a summary of the policy in 

the corporate governance report.

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy in order to enhance the effectiveness of our Board and to 

maintain high standard of corporate governance. The Board Diversity Policy sets out the criteria in selecting 

candidates to our Board, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background and 

professional experience that the Nomination Committee may consider relevant from time to time towards 

achieving a diversified Board. The board diversity policy will be reviewed by the Nomination Committee annually.

As at the date of this annual report, our Board consists of seven male members and one female member with 

three Director of age 31 to 40 years old, three Directors of age 41 to 50 years old and two Directors who are 

over 50 years old. Our Company has reviewed the membership, structure and composition of the Board, and is 

of the opinion that the structure of the Board is reasonable, and the experiences and skills of the Directors in 

various aspects and fields can enable our Company to maintain a high standard of operation.

The Board targets to maintain at least the current level of female representation and will continue to take steps 

to promote gender diversity at the Board of our Company. Going forward, we will strive to achieve gender 

balance of the Board through certain measures to be implemented by our nomination committee in accordance 

with our board diversity policy. In particular, we will actively identify female individuals suitably qualified to 

become our Board members and we aim to achieve a target of 20% female representation in our Board. To 

further ensure gender diversity of our Board in a long run, our Group will also identify and select several female 

individuals with a diverse range of skills, experience and knowledge in different fields from time to time, and 

maintain a list of such female individuals who possess qualities to become our Board members, which will be 

reviewed by our nomination committee periodically in order to develop a pipeline of potential successors to our 

Board to promote gender diversity of our Board.

Our Directors have a balanced mixed of knowledge and skills, including but not limited to overall management 

and strategic development, finance and accounting, as well as relevant professional experiences. The Company 

has three independent non-executive Directors with different industry backgrounds, representing more than one 

third of the members of the Board. Further details on the biographies and experience of the Directors are set 

out on page 18 to page 25 of this annual report.
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WORKFORCE DIVERSITY
The gender ratio in the workforce (including senior management) for Reporting Period is 41:59. The total gender 

diversity of the Group is balanced and the Group will continue to maintain the gender diversity in workforce. For 

further details of gender ratio, please refer to the disclosure in the Environmental, Social and Governance report.

KEY TERMS OF EMPLOYMENT CONTRACTS
We normally enter into (i) an employment contract, (ii) a confidentiality agreement, and (iii) a non-competition 

agreement with our senior management members and other key personnel. Below sets forth the key terms of 

these contracts we entered into with our senior management members and other key personnel.

Confidentiality
Scope of confidential information . The employee shall keep the following information confidential:

(a) any proprietary information of our Company, including, but not limited to: trade secret, experimental and 

clinical data, business plan and market information, client and financial information etc.;

(b) any information obtained or to be obtained by our Company which is owned by third parties.

Confidential obligation.  The employee shall not leak, publish or otherwise make available to any third party 

(including employees who are not privy to such trade secrets) any aforesaid information of our Company or our 

Company’s customers in any manner and shall not utilize aforesaid information beyond his/her scope of work. 

The employee must return to our Company all documents, drawings, records, work-related equipment as and 

when required by our Company.

Confidential period . The confidentiality obligation shall continue in force after the cessation of the employee’s 

employment with our Company, until the confidential information, either (i) is publicly disclosed by our Company, 

or (ii) has been rendered public without the employee’s breach of obligations stated herein.

Non-competition covenants
Non-competition obligation during employment term. During the term of the employment with our Company, 

unless with our prior consent, the employee shall not engage in any business or engage in a course of 

employment that develops, produces, or sells products or provides service that are the same or similar to those 

offered by the Group.

Non-competition obligation upon expiry of employment term.  Upon the date of termination or expiration of the 

employment contract, the employee shall not serve in any capacity at any company which is engaged in the 

business, or the manufacturing of any product, that is similar to that of the Group, for two years commencing 

from the date of termination or expiration of the employment contract, subject to applicable laws and 

regulations.
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Compensation for breach. If the employee breaches the obligations under the confidentiality agreement, our 

Group shall be entitled to seek damages for all economic losses arising from such breach; if the employee 

breaches the obligations under the non-competition agreement, our Group shall be entitled to a certain liquidated 

sum determined with reference to the economic and commercial losses suffered by our Group and the non-

competition compensation originally payable to the employee.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION
The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

The Board had reviewed:

• the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance, compliance with legal and regulatory 

requirements;

• code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors;

• the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report; and

• training and continuous professional development of Directors and senior management relating to the roles, 

functions and duties of a director of a company listed on the Stock Exchange.

BOARD MEETINGS, COMMITTEE MEETINGS AND GENERAL MEETINGS
The Company adopts the practice of holding Board meetings regularly, at least four times a year, and at 

approximately quarterly intervals. Both the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee shall meet 

at least once every year; and the Audit Committee shall meet at least twice a year. Notices of not less than 

fourteen days are given for all regular Board meetings to provide all Directors with an opportunity to attend and 

include matters in the agenda for a regular meeting. For other Board and committee meetings, reasonable notice 

is generally given. The agenda and accompanying board papers are dispatched to the Directors or committee 

members at least three days before the intended date of the meeting to ensure that they have sufficient time 

to review the papers and be adequately prepared for the meeting. When Directors or committee members are 

unable to attend a meeting, they will be advised of the matters to be discussed and given an opportunity to 

make their views known to the chairman of the board or the committee members prior to the meeting. Minutes 

of meetings are kept by the Joint Company Secretaries with copies circulated to relevant Board or Board 

Committee for comments and records.

Minutes of the Board meetings and committee meetings are recorded in sufficient detail the matters considered 

by the Board and the committees and the decisions reached, including any concerns raised by the Board or 

committee members and dissenting views expressed. Draft minutes of each Board meeting and committee 

meeting are sent to the relevant board or committee members for comments within a reasonable time after the 

date on which the meeting is held. The minutes of the Board meetings are open for inspection by Directors.
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During the Reporting Period, five Board meetings; three Audit Committee meetings, two Remuneration 

Committee meetings, and two Nomination Committee meetings were held. The Company expects to continue 

to convene at least four regular meetings in each financial year at approximately quarterly intervals in accordance 

with code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code.

A summary of the attendance record of the Directors at Board meetings, committee meetings and general 

meetings during the Reporting Period is set out in the following table below:

Number of meeting(s) attended/number of meeting(s)

held during the year ended December 31, 2022

Name of Director Board

Audit 

Committee

Remuneration 

Committee

Nomination 

Committee General

Executive Directors:

Mr. WANG Guohui 5/5 N/A 2/2 2/2 2/2

Ms. ZHANG Kun 5/5 N/A N/A N/A 2/2

Mr. WEI Jiawei (Note 1) 2/2 N/A N/A N/A 1/1

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. DING Kui 5/5 3/3 N/A N/A 2/2

Mr. OUYANG Xiangyu (Note 2) 3/3 N/A N/A N/A 1/1

Mr. CHEN Gang (Note 3) 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 1/1

Mr. CHEN Shaoxiong (Note 4) N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. GUO Shaomu 5/5 N/A 2/2 2/2 2/2

Mr. FENG Xiangqian 5/5 3/3 N/A 2/2 2/2

Mr. GONG Ping 5/5 3/3 2/2 N/A 2/2

Notes:

1. Mr. WEI Jiawei has been appointed as an executive Director on June 10, 2022.

2. Mr. OUYANG Xiangyu has resigned as a non-executive Director on July 15, 2022.

3. Mr. CHEN Gang has resigned as a non-executive Director on August 31, 2022.

4. Mr. CHEN Shaoxiong has been appointed as a non-executive Director on November 9, 2022.
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During the Reporting Period, the Company convened one annual general meeting on June 10, 2022 and one 

extraordinary general meeting on November 9, 2022. For details, please refer to the Company’s announcements 

and circular relating to the extraordinary general meeting.

During the Reporting Period, the Chairman held one meeting with independent non-executive directors without 

presence of other directors.

DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE INFORMATION
The Group regulates the handling and dissemination of inside information according to internal procedures 

and policy so as to ensure inside information remains confidential until the disclosure and publication of such 

information is appropriately approved, and the dissemination of such information is efficiently and consistently 

made.

The Board is responsible for approving the policy on disclosure of inside information which aims at providing 

guiding principles, practices and procedures to assist employees and officers of the Group in (i) relaying inside 

information to the Board to enable it to make timely decisions on disclosure, if necessary; and (ii) communicating 

with the Group’s stakeholders, in ways which are in compliance with the SFO and the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the consolidated financial statements of the Group 

for the Reporting Period in accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards.

The Directors also acknowledge their responsibilities to ensure that the financial statements of the Company are 

published in a timely manner. The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or 

conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Accordingly, 

the Directors have prepared the consolidated financial statements of the Group on a going concern basis.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY AND REMUNERATION
The Company appointed Ernst & Young, Certified Public Accountants and Registered Public Interest Entity 

Auditor as the auditors for the Reporting Period. A statement by Ernst & Young about their reporting 

responsibilities for the financial statements is included in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 95 to 101 

of this annual report.

Audit fees of the Group for the Reporting Period payable to the external auditors were approximately RMB3.6 

million. No fees were payable to the external auditors or their affiliates for any non-audit services.
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Details of the fees paid or payable to the Company’s auditors, in respect of the audit services for the Reporting 

Period are set out in the table below:

Services rendered for the Company RMB ’000

Audit services:

Annual audit service 3,600

Total 3,600

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES
The Company engaged Mr. AU-YEUNG Wai Ki, Joseph (resigned on March 24, 2022) and Ms. KWOK Siu Ying, 

Sarah, the manager of Corporate Services of Vistra Corporate Services (HK) Limited (a company secretarial 

service provider) (appointed on March 24, 2022), as a joint company secretary of the Company. Mr. ZHANG Han 

is another joint company secretary of the Company.

Mr. AU-YEUNG Wai Ki, Joseph ceased to serve as a joint company secretary of the Company, an alternate 

authorized representative of the Company pursuant to Rule 3.05 of the Listing Rules and an agent for the service 

of process and notices on behalf of the Company in Hong Kong under the Rule 19A.13(2) of the Listing Rules 

and Part 16 of the Companies Ordinance with effect from March 24, 2022. For details of the waiver granted to 

the Company by the Stock Exchange from strict compliance with the requirements of Rules 3.28 and 8.17 of 

the Listing Rules in relation to Mr. Zhang’s eligibility to act as a joint company secretary of the Company, please 

refer to the announcement of the Company dated March 24, 2022.

Mr. Zhang, the chief financial officer and a joint company secretary of the Company, is the primary corporate 

contact person of Mr. Au-Yeung and Ms. Kwok at the Company.

In compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Mr. ZHANG Han and Ms. KWOK Siu Ying, Sarah both 

undertook not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training to update their skills and knowledge during the 

Reporting Period.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
Rights to Convene Extraordinary General Meeting
To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, the Shareholders are encouraged to participate at the general 

meetings of the Company and to vote thereat. An annual general meeting of the Company shall be held each 

year and at the place as may be determined by the Board. Each general meeting, other than an annual general 

meeting, shall be called an extraordinary general meeting.

The annual general meeting of the Company will provide a forum for the Board and the Shareholders to 

communicate. The Board will answer questions raised by Shareholders at the annual general meeting.

Pursuant to Article 66 of the Articles of Association, the general meeting shall be convened by the Board. If 

the Board is unable or fails to fulfill the obligation of convening the meetings of the general meeting, the Board 

of Supervisors shall convene such meetings. If the Board of Supervisors does not convene such meetings, 

the Shareholders individually or jointly holding more than 10% of the Company’s shares for more than 90 

consecutive days may convene such meetings on their own.

Procedures for Putting Forward a Proposal at the General Meeting
Pursuant to Article 50 and Article 74 of the Articles of Association, shareholders who individually or collectively 

hold more than 3% of the Company’s shares shall have the rights to propose forward an interim proposal to the 

Company and submit them in writing to the Board 10 days prior to the general meeting.

Procedures for a Shareholder of the Company to propose a person for election as a Director
Subject to the Articles of Association and the Company Law, the Directors shall be elected by the general 

meeting.

Article 126 of the Articles of Association provides that written notice concerning proposed nomination of a 

director candidate and indication of the candidate’s intention to accept the nomination shall be sent to the 

Company seven (7) days before the shareholders’ general meeting is convened. When calculating the time limit 

of the notice, the date of the meeting and the day on which the notice is given shall be excluded.
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Right to Put Enquiries to the Board
Shareholders and investors may send written enquiries or requests to the Company as follows:

Address:

Floor 1 and 3, Building 38

No. 356, Zhengbo Road

Lingang New District

Pilot Free Trade Zone

Shanghai

PRC

Attention: Mr. ZHANG Han

Email: ir@heartcare.com.cn

Enquiries will be dealt with in a timely and informative manner.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS RELATIONS
The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor 

relations and understanding of the Group’s business performance and strategies. The Company recognizes the 

importance of timely and non-selective disclosure of information, which will enable Shareholders and investors 

to make the informed investment decisions.

The Company adopted the shareholders communication policy, which set out the framework the Company has 

put in place to promote effective communication with shareholders so as to enable them to engage actively with 

the Company and exercise their rights as shareholders in an informed manner. The shareholders communication 

policy will be reviewed on a regular basis by the Board.

The Company has established a range of communication channels between itself and its Shareholders, investors 

and other stakeholders. These include (i) the publication of interim and annual reports and/or dispatching 

circulars, notices, and other announcements; (ii) the annual general meeting or extraordinary general meeting 

providing a forum for Shareholders to raise comments and exchanging views with the Board; (iii) updated 

and key information of the Group available on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website; (iv) 

the Company’s website offering communication channel between the Company and its stakeholders; (v) the 

Company’s H share registrar in Hong Kong serving the Shareholders in respect of all share registration matters; 

and (vi) convening investor meeting and/or analyst briefings, which led by our executive Directors and investor 

relations team with existing and potential investors.

The Company held its annual general meeting on June 10, 2022 (the “AGM”). Shareholders holding a total 

number of 23,904,831 Shares, including their proxies or representatives attended the AGM and shares voted 

is approximately 61.56% of the total issued shares of the Company. All resolutions proposed at the AGM were 

passed.
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The Company also held one extraordinary general meeting on November 9, 2022 (the “EGM”). Shareholders 

holding a total number of 24,945,148 Shares, including their proxies or representatives attended the EGM and 

shares voted is 64.23% of the total issued shares of the Company. All resolutions proposed at the EGM were 

passed.

Having considered the multiple channels of communication and shareholders engagement in the general meeting 

held during the year, the Board is satisfied that the shareholders communication policy has been properly 

implemented during 2022 and is effective.

DIVIDEND POLICY
We currently expect to retain all future earnings for use in the operation and expansion of our business, and do 

not have any dividend policy to declare or any dividends to pay in the near future.

The declaration and payment of any dividends in the future will be determined by the Board and subject to 

the Articles of Association and the PRC Company Law, and will depend on a number of factors, including the 

successful commercialization of the pipeline products of the Company as well as the Group’s earnings, capital 

requirements, overall financial condition and contractual restrictions. No dividend shall be declared or payable 

except out of profits and reserves lawfully available for distribution. As confirmed by the Company’s legal advisor 

as to PRC law, according to PRC Law, any future net profit that the Company make will have to be first applied 

to make up for our historically accumulated losses, after which the Company will be obliged to allocate 10% of 

the net profit to statutory common reserve fund until such fund has reached more than 50% of the registered 

capital. The Company will therefore only be able to declare dividends after (i) all historically accumulated losses 

have been made up for; and (ii) sufficient net profit has been allocated to the statutory common reserve fund as 

described above.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
The amended and restated Articles of Association took effect from November 1, 2021, and are available on the 

respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. On November 9, 2022, the Shareholders approved 

the adoption of an amended Articles of Association in connection with the Company’s proposed listing on the 

Science and Technology Innovation Board of the Shanghai Stock Exchange, the amended Articles of Association 

shall only take effect upon completion of the proposed listing and has not taken effect during the Reporting 

Period. Save as disclosed above, there is no other change in constitutional documents of the Company during 

the Reporting Period.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
It is the responsibility of the Board of Directors to ensure that the Group maintains sound and effective risk 

management and internal control systems, and make annual review on the effectiveness of such systems, 

in order to safeguard the Shareholders’ investment and the Group’s assets at all times. We have adopted a 

series of internal control policies and procedures designed to achieve effective and efficient operations, reliable 

financial reporting and compliance with applicable laws and regulations. Highlights of our internal control system 

include the following:

• We will comply with the Corporate Governance Code. We have established three board committees, 

namely, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee, with 

respective written terms of reference in compliance with the Corporate Governance Code.

• Our internal audit department is responsible for identifying and assessing key risks on various aspects of 

our operations and supervising the rectification of internal control deficiencies. In order to formalize risk 

management across our Group and set a common level of transparency and risk management performance, 

our internal audit department (i) gathers information about the risks relating to our operation or function; (ii) 

conducts risk assessments, which include the identification, prioritization, measurement and categorization 

of all key risks that could potentially affect our objectives and establish a uniform risk assessment standard; 

(iii) continuously monitors the key risks relating to our operation or function; (iv) implements appropriate 

risk responses where necessary; and (v) develops and maintains an appropriate mechanism to facilitate the 

application of our risk management framework.

• We have adopted various policies to ensure compliance with the Listing Rules, including but not limited to 

aspects related to corporate governance, connected transactions, notifiable transactions, inside information 

and securities transactions by the Directors.

• We have engaged Somerley Capital Limited as our compliance adviser to provide advice to our Directors 

and management team until the end of the first fiscal year after the Listing regarding matters relating to 

the Listing Rules.

• We have engaged a PRC law firm to advise us on and keep us abreast with PRC laws and regulations. 

We will continue to arrange various training to be provided by external legal advisors from time to time 

when necessary and/or any appropriate accredited institution to update our Directors, supervisors, senior 

management and relevant employees on the latest applicable laws and regulations.

• We have provided and will provide regular anti-corruption and anti-bribery compliance training for our 

Directors, senior management and sales employees in order to enhance their knowledge and compliance of 

applicable laws and regulations.
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During the Reporting Period, our internal audit department conduced an annual review on the effectiveness of 

our internal controls associated with our major business processes, identified deficiencies and improvement 

opportunities, provided recommendations on remedial actions and reviewed the implementation status of these 

remedial actions. As a result, we have not identified any material deficiencies in our internal control system. 

Our Directors are of the view that our enhanced internal control system is adequate and effective for our 

current operations. For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company was not subject to any government 

investigation or litigation with respect to claims or allegations of monetary and non-monetary bribery activities, 

and to the best knowledge of the Directors, none of our employees were involved in any bribery or kickback 

arrangements.

Anti-corruption Policy
The Company does not tolerate any form of bribery, whether direct or indirect, by, or of, its Directors, officers, 

employees, agents or consultants or any persons or companies acting for it or on its behalf. The Company 

adopts the anti-corruption policy in assisting the employees in recognising circumstances which may lead to or 

give the appearance of being involved in corruption or unethical business conduct, so as to avoid such conduct 

which is clearly prohibited, and to promptly seek guidance if necessary.

The anti-corruption policy will be reviewed on a regular basis, any convicted cases will be reported to the Board.

Whistleblowing Policy
The Company expects and encourages employees of the Group and those who deal with the Group (e.g. 

suppliers, customers, creditors and debtors) to report to the Company, in confidence, any suspected impropriety, 

misconduct or malpractice concerning the Group. The Company adopts the whistleblowing policy to provide 

reporting channels and guidance on reporting possible improprieties and reassurance to whistleblowers of the 

protection that the Group will extend to them in the formal system.

The whistleblowing policy will be reviewed on a regular basis, any suspected cases will be reported to the 

Board.
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1 ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW
1.1 ESG REPORT
1.1.1 Company Profile
Shanghai HeartCare Medical Technology Corporation Limited (the “Group”) is an innovative medical device 

company committed to improving the accessibility of innovative medical technologies and protecting lives and 

health. In just six years, HeartCare Medical has pioneered the first one-stop solution for stroke treatment and 

prevention in China in the field of neurointervention, creating a full product pipeline from acute ischemic stroke, 

neurovascular stenosis treatment, ischemic stroke prevention and hemorrhagic stroke treatment to interventional 

access equipment.

Building on our  existing leading advantages, HeartCare Medical will unceasingly focus on popularizing emerging 

medical procedures, keep an eye on the unmet demands of clinicians and patients in China, and operate a plenty 

of emerging business segments including neurointervention, wholehearted therapy, pulmonary intervention and 

computer-assisted technology, expecting that innovative interventional devices defining emerging procedures 

will be continuously introduced in such medical fields with great potential to reduce the mortality rate of major 

diseases and improve the prognosis of patients.

1.1.2 Report Preparation Principles
The key performance indicators (KPIs) in this environmental, social and governance report (the “Report”) are 

prepared with reference to the relevant calculation standards and methodologies provided in the Environmental, 

Social and Governance Reporting Guide as set out in Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the Listing of 

Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The contents of this Report have been defined and 

disclosed based on the principles of materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency. This Report has adopted 

the calculation methods and reporting coverage consistent with the annual report, and has avoided selections, 

omissions or presentation formats that may inappropriately influence readers’ decisions or judgments.

The Board of Directors of the Group seeks to incorporate the practice of the concept of sustainable development 

into the daily operations of the Group, so that the overall strategic direction of the Group is consistent with the 

sustainable development goals, and continues to improve the performance of the Group in ESG matters.

1.1.3 Reporting Coverage
This Report summarizes the Group’s annual performance in environmental, social and governance aspects, 

so that all stakeholders can better understand the Group’s sustainable development philosophy, management 

methods, measures and related performance. This Report clarifies the principles that the Group upholds in 

fulfilling our corporate social responsibility, and sets forth the Group’s vision and commitment to corporate social 

responsibility. The ESG report covers the Company and each of its subsidiaries and branches. This Report covers 

a period from January 1, 2022 to December 31, 2022.
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1.1.4 Mission and Vision
The corporate vision of the Group is “becoming an innovative medical device company that improves the 

accessibility of cutting-edge medical technologies and protects lives and health”. The Group researches, develops 

and manufactures innovative medical device products in response to unmet medical needs in China, aiming to 

define new treatment standards, significantly reduce disease mortality rate and improve prognosis. With the first 

domestic one-stop solution for stroke treatment and prevention, the Group aims to become a leader in China’s 

neuro-interventional market and provide domestic medical workers with innovative devices with reliable quality, 

stable supply and more cost-effectiveness, so as to improve the popularity of neuro-interventional surgery, save 

more patients and fulfill the Group’s corporate responsibility of giving back to the society.

As a public company, the Group will more actively promote the sustainable development of the Group in 

environmental protection, social and corporate governance while developing our business. The Board of Directors 

of the Group seeks to integrate the concept of sustainable development into daily operations of the Group, so 

as to align the overall strategic direction of the Group with our sustainable development objectives. The Group 

intends to acquire ISO14000 certification, and has commenced preparatory work during the reporting period in 

this regard. The Board of Directors of the Group will regularly monitor the Group’s ESG development and strive 

to coordinate the impact of the Group’s business development and our business on the environment and society 

adhering to the concept of sustainable development. In the future, the Group will further upgrade our strategy 

and operations by incorporating ESG concepts while devoting ourselves to the innovation of medical products 

and technologies, fulfill our commitments to customers, employees, investors, society and the environment, and 

contribute to human health and the development of the environment and society.

1.2 GROUP HONORS AND STAKEHOLDERS
1.2.1 Corporate Honor Overview
In 2022, the Group won lots of titles and awards including the National Specialized and Innovative “Little 

Giant” Enterprise, the “Specialized and Innovative” Enterprise in Lingang New Area, the Third Prize of Artificial 

Intelligence and Medical Robot Final in the 5th (2022) China Medical Device Innovation and Entrepreneurship 

Competition, the Third Prize of Minimally Invasive Devices and Implant Intervention Products Final in the 5th 

(2022) China Medical Device Innovation and Entrepreneurship Competition, the Pilot Unit of Patent Work among 

Shanghai Enterprises and Institutions, the Annual Small and Medium-sized Market Value Growth Value Award, 

the Most Valuable Pharmaceutical and Medical Company, etc. The products of the Group have also won honors 

such as the Special Project Support for Biomedical Science and Technology in Shanghai Science and Technology 

Innovation Action Plan in 2022 and the Recognition of Shanghai High-tech Achievements Transformation Project.



48 Shanghai HeartCare Medical Technology Corporation Limited

Environmental, Social and Governance Report 
(Continued)

1.2.2 Stakeholder Engagement
The Group believes that maintaining communication with stakeholders is an important part of the Group’s 

sustainable development. Stakeholders of the Group include shareholders/investors, customers, employees, 

suppliers as well as partners, governments and regulators, and the community and the public. The Group 

actively maintains communication with various stakeholders through various channels, and keeps abreast of their 

opinions and expectations on the Group’s sustainable development performance.

Stakeholders Expectations and Requirements Way of Communication

Shareholders/investors ESG governance

Corporate governance

Compliance operation

Shareholders’ meeting

Public information disclosure

Investors communication

Customers Quality

Service and stable supply

Price

Innovation and R&D

Academic exchange

Customer visit

Market research

Employees Health and safety

Interest protection

Personal development

Diversity and equality

Internal communication

Group system release

Employee training

Suppliers and partners Supply chain management

Sustainable development

Win-win cooperation

Supplier evaluation

Supplier communication

Governments and regulators Compliance operation

Safe production

Environmental protection

Policy implementation

Information disclosure

Communication and investigation

Community and the public Public benefit

Employment

Environmental protection

Charitable activities

Company information disclosure

Media
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1.2.3 Materiality Assessment
Based on the environmental and social aspects listed in the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting 

Guide, the information collected from stakeholders, and the assessment of business materiality, the Group has 

established the following materiality matrix to demonstrate the areas of high importance to stakeholders and the 

Group.

RELATED TOPICS

1) WASTE DISCHARGE 10) EQUAL OPPORTUNITY FOR EMPLOYEES

2) GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSION 11) EMPLOYEE HEALTH AND WORKPLACE SAFETY

3) WASTE MANAGEMENT 12) EMPLOYEE DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

4) ENERGY CONSUMPTION 13) PREVENTION OF CHILD LABOR AND FORCED LABOR

5) WATER CONSUMPTION 14) SUPPLIER MANAGEMENT

6) PAPER CONSUMPTION 15) PRODUCT QUALITY AND CUSTOMER SATISFACTION

7) ENVIRONMENTAL RISK MANAGEMENT 16) CUSTOMER PRIVACY PROTECTION

8) HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGEMENT 17) ANTI-CORRUPTION AND ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING

9) EMPLOYMENT AND COMPENSATION POLICY 18) COMMUNITY INVESTMENT
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2 CORPORATE ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS
2.1 CORPORATE EMISSION RELATED ANALYSIS
The Group insists on following the path of green development, respecting, conforming to and protecting 

nature, and implementing a sustainable development strategy. The Group strictly abides by relevant laws, 

regulations and standards on exhaust gas and greenhouse gas emissions, sewage to water and land, hazardous 

and harmless waste disposal, as well as local environmental protection management measures, including but 

not limited to the Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China , the Law of the People’s 
Republic of China on Prevention and Control of Air Pollution , the Law of the People’s Republic of China on 
Prevention and Control of Water Pollution , the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and Control 
of Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste , the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and Control 
of Noise Pollution , the Comprehensive Emission Standards of Air Pollutants, the Energy Conservation Law 
of the People’s Republic of China , the Comprehensive Discharge Standards of Sewage (DB31/199-2018), the 

Regulations of Shanghai Municipality on Domestic Waste Management , the Regulations of Shanghai Municipality 
on Energy Conservation , etc.

2.1.1 Analysis of Corporate Emission Related Indicators
Total emission volume and intensity of corporate exhaust

The exhaust produced by the Group’s business due to the combustion of fossil fuels mainly includes nitrogen 

oxides (NOx), sulfur oxides (SOx) and suspended particulate matter (PM). In 2022, the Group emitted a total 

of approximate 31.0 kilograms of exhaust, with an emission intensity of approximate 16.9 kilograms/RMB100 

million of revenue, representing a decrease of 12.0% compared with 2021.

The volume and intensity of the Group’s emissions in 2022 by type of exhaust are shown in the table below:

Type of exhaust Emissions (kg)

Emission intensity (kg/

RMB100 million of 

revenue)

Nitrogen oxides (NOx) 28.2 15.4

Sulfur oxides (SOx) 0.1 0.0

Suspended particulate matter (PM) 2.7 1.5

Total 31.0 16.9

Note:  Exhaust emissions mainly include the exhaust gas generated by the vehicles of the Group, and the Group does not generate exhaust gas 

in the actual production process.
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Total emission volume and intensity of corporate greenhouse gases
The Group’s business has caused direct and indirect emissions of greenhouse gases due to the consumption 
of fossil fuels and the use of resources such as electricity. In 2022, the Group emitted a total of approximate 
2,807.3 tons of carbon dioxide equivalent, with an emission intensity of approximate 1,533.8 tons of carbon 
dioxide equivalent/RMB100 million of revenue.

The Group’s emissions in 2022 by type and source of greenhouse gases are shown in the table below:

Direct greenhouse gas emissions

Type of greenhouse gas

Emissions

(ton of carbon dioxide equivalent)

Emission intensity

(ton of carbon dioxide 

equivalent/RMB100 

million of revenue)

Carbon dioxide (CO2) 6.39 3.49

Methane (CH4) 0.01 0.01

Nitrous oxide (N2O) 0.93 0.51

Total 7.33 4.01

Indirect greenhouse gas emissions

Indirect emission sources

Emissions

(ton of carbon dioxide equivalent)

Emission intensity

(ton of carbon dioxide

 equivalent/RMB100 

million of revenue)

Electricity resource usage 2,800.0 1,529.8

Total 2,800.0 1,529.8

Note:  The direct emissions of greenhouse gases mainly include the greenhouse gases generated by the Group’s own vehicles. The Group does 
not directly emit greenhouse gases in the actual production process.

Total discharge volume and intensity of corporate wastewater and solid waste
The Group upholds energy conservation and waste reduction, and strictly regulates the generation and discharge 
management of wastewater and solid waste in the production process and daily operations. In 2022, the wastes 
discharged by the Group mainly included 320 waste dry batteries, 2.3 tons of liquid hazardous waste, 0.5 tons of 
solid hazardous waste, 2.3 thousand sheets of office paper, 0.5 tons of cartons, 3.6 tons of household garbage, 
763.0 cubic meters of production wastewater and 2,140.0 cubic meters of domestic sewage. In 2022, the Group 
strictly calculated the daily consumption of chemicals, accurately calculated the procurement demands, reduced 
the scrap rate of chemicals, ensured no waste and scrap in the use of chemicals, lowered safety risks as well as 
upgraded environmental protection requirements.
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The discharge volume and intensity of the Group’s wastes by type in 2022 are shown in the table below:

Type of waste Unit Discharge volume

Hazardous waste

Used dry battery Unit 320

Hazardous waste – liquid Ton 2.3

Hazardous waste – solid Ton 0.5

Non-hazardous waste

Office paper ’000 sheets 2.3

Cardboard box Ton 0.5

Domestic waste Ton 3.6

Production wastewater Cubic meter 763.0

Domestic sewage Cubic meter 2,140.0

Type of waste Unit Discharge intensity

Hazardous waste

Used dry battery Unit/RMB100 million of revenue 174.8

Hazardous waste – liquid Ton/RMB100 million of revenue 1.3

Hazardous waste – solid Ton/RMB100 million of revenue 0.3

Non-hazardous waste

Office paper ’000 sheets/RMB100 million of revenue 1.3

Cardboard box Ton/RMB100 million of revenue 0.3

Domestic waste Ton/RMB100 million of revenue 2.0

Production wastewater Cubic meter/RMB100 million of revenue 416.9

Domestic sewage Cubic meter/RMB100 million of revenue 1,169.2
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2.1.2 Measures and Targets for Emission Reduction and Waste Reduction Implemented by the Corporate
Exhaust emission reduction targets and corresponding measures set by the corporate

The Group adopts environmental protection measures such as centralized collection, activated carbon adsorption 

and alkali treatment, aiming at ensuring cleanliness of the discharged gas generated in the production process. 

The Group strictly abides by the dominant laws and regulations on pollutant discharge as promulgated by the 

State, including the Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China  and the Comprehensive 
Emission Standard for Air Pollutants , while implementing relevant environmental protection facilities and 

measures, and strictly controlling the unorganized emission of waste gas.

In the future, the Group will continue to focus on energy conservation and emission reduction, continuously 

improve the energy use efficiency of the Group’s equipment, and further reduce the Group’s overall exhaust 

emissions by improving corresponding measures, so as to minimize the possible impact of the Group’s 

production and operation on the environment.

Methods of handling waste, waste reduction goals and measures of the corporate

The Group strictly abides by the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and Control of 
Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste , the Regulations of Shanghai Municipality on Domestic Waste 
Management  as well as other national and local laws and regulations on pollutant discharge management; and 

has concluded disposal contracts with eligible general and hazardous waste disposal companies, agreeing to 

have the solid waste produced centrally disposed by such disposal companies. Meanwhile, the wastewater 

generated during the production, research and development of the Group is discharged into the sewer network 

after being treated by sewage treatment facilities. And the Group strictly prohibits direct discharge of high-

concentration waste liquid or wastewater into the sewer network.

The Group continues to monitor the disposal of the Group’s wastes, to ensure effective run of the related 

environmental protection measures, and the compliant operation of the Group’s business.
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2.2 CORPORATE RESOURCE USE RELATED ANALYSIS
2.2.1 Structure of Corporate Consumption of Main Energies
The Group advocates the conservation of resources and energy, reduces the consumption of energy and raw 

materials, strengthens energy management, and raises the level of rational energy consumption, thereby 

reducing energy consumption and raw material consumption, and maximizing the recycling of energy and 

resources in the production process. The Group consumed approximate 3,000 liters of gasoline, approximate 

3,480,000 kWh of electricity, and approximate 10,800.0 cubic meters of water resources in 2022.

The Group’s consumption of energy by type in 2022 is shown in the table below:

Energy type Unit Consumption volume

Gasoline 0’000 liters 0.3

Electrical energy 0’000 kWh 348.0

Water Cubic meter 10,800.0

The Group’s consumption intensity of energy by type in 2022 is shown in the table below:

Energy type Unit Consumption intensity

Gasoline 0’000 liters/RMB100 million of revenue 0.1

Electrical energy 0’000 kWh/RMB100 million of revenue 190.1

Water Cubic meter/RMB100 million of revenue 5,900.6

Note:  Gasoline consumption mainly includes the consumption by the Group’s own vehicles.

All packaging materials of the Group’s finished products by type of product packaging materials in 2022 are 

shown in the table below:

Product packaging material Unit Consumption volume

Plastic Ton 1.7

Paper Ton 7.2
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2.2.2 Energy Efficiency Goals and Measures Formulated by the Corporate
The Group controls energy use and improves resource efficiency through daily management across itself. The 

Group strictly abides by relevant laws and regulations, including but not limited to the Energy Conservation 
Law of the People’s Republic of China and the Regulations of Shanghai Municipality on Energy Conservation , 

and is constantly exploring opportunities to optimize management methods and enhance energy efficiency. The 

Group actively carries out an online conference system, which effectively improves operational efficiency while 

significantly reducing energy consumption that may incur during offline conference-triggered travel and other 

processes. Meanwhile, the Group saves paper by promoting digital applications. Besides, the Group requires 

employees to check and ensure that their calculators and other power-consuming equipment have been turned 

off when they go off work, so as to save electricity. The Group will continue to make efforts to improve the 

efficiency of energy use, adhere to the principle of green development, and continuously optimize the use of 

resources to reduce waste of resources.

2.2.3 The Corporate’s Methods to Obtain the Applicable Water Sources and Goals and Measures to 
Improve Water Efficiency
The Group regards water conservation as an environmental obligation that the Group needs to perform in the 

course of our business development. The Group vigorously promotes the application of water-saving technology, 

renovates water facilities in water rooms and bathrooms, gradually eliminates water appliances and facilities that 

do not meet water-saving standards, and mounts and uses water-saving faucets and toilets that meet national 

standards. Meanwhile, the Group strives to strengthen the recycling of water resources, advocates secondary 

water use by employees, and develops the habit of saving water, so as to improve the utilization rate of water 

resources.

2.3 CORPORATE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES RELATED ANALYSIS
2.3.1 Analysis of the Significant Impact of Corporate Business Activities on the Environment and Natural 
Resources and Related Measures
As a socially responsible public company, the Group is keenly aware that environmental protection is a 

fundamental social responsibility in the enterprise development, so we are always concerned about and 

committed to reducing the impact of our operations on the environment and natural resources. Upon various 

policies, measures and actions, the Group has rooted environmental awareness at all levels, and conducted 

business in strict accordance with relevant national environmental protection policies and emission standards. 

With a view to further reducing the potential impact of our business activities on the environment and natural 

resources, the Group will practice the ISO 14000 system within the Group. During the reporting period, 

the Group has carried out preparatory work in respect of system certification and has formulated a rigorous 

implementation plan.
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2.4 ANALYSIS OF CORPORATE RESPONSE TO CLIMATE CHANGE
2.4.1 Significant Climate-related Issues or Policies Affecting the Group, and Responsive Actions to Be 
Taken
As far as the Group is concerned, extreme weather such as rainstorm and typhoon, as well as various natural 

disasters caused by major climate changes such as floods, fires and earthquakes, may exert an impact on the 

Group’s operations. Aiming at mitigating major losses that may be caused by such extreme weather and natural 

disasters, the Group has formulated enterprise-wide emergency plans, such as evacuation plans in case of fire. 

Meanwhile in the course of the operations, the Group continuously and actively identifies the risks that climate 

change may bring to the operations and the possible impacts we may have on climate and the environment in 

our own operations, and constantly improves our response actions and related policies.

3 CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY ANALYSIS
3.1 ANALYSIS OF THE CURRENT SITUATION OF CORPORATE EMPLOYMENT
3.1.1 Employment Principles
The Group always regards corporate employees as an important force for our healthy development, and is 

committed to protecting the rights and interests of employees, rendering employees with a compliant, fair, 

inclusive and diversified working environment, and promoting common development of the Group and our 

employees. In the process of recruitment and employment, the Group strictly abides by the laws and regulations 

of the place of operation, including but not limited to the Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China , the 

Labor Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China , and the Special Rules on the Labor Protection of Female 
Employees . As an employer following the principle of equal opportunity, the Group has formulated a sound 

human resources management system, and uses the HeartCare Medical Employee Handbook as a guiding 

document, and follows the fair practices related to remuneration and performance, promotion and dismissal, 

working hours, welfare systems, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits. The Group 

insists on the labor principle of equal employment, resolutely opposes discrimination and vicious competition 

in terms of age and gender, and strives to apply the concept of fairness and inclusiveness to all links of our 

employment, so as to maximally protect the rights and interests of our employees. While pursuing our own 

development, the Group continues to optimize our talent management philosophy and create a better working 

atmosphere for our employees.
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3.1.2 Remuneration Management
The Group strictly abides by the Social Insurance  Law of the People’s Republic of China , the Regulations on the 
Administration of Housing Provident Fund  as well as other relevant laws and regulations, and has formulated the 

Compensation and Benefit System, aiming to offer a sound salary guarantee system for our employees. Out of 

ensuring fairness and transparency of the remuneration management, the Group elaborates on the remuneration 

level and scope by formulating the “Reference Table of Employee Rank and Remuneration Level”, and divides 

the posts and remunerations into different grades and intervals subject to the status quo and the medium and 

long-term development needs, so as to further ensure the systematization of our remuneration system and 

the standardization and rationalization of our employee career development channels. In order to stimulate the 

enthusiasm, initiative and creativity of employees, the Group has established bonuses for employees, including 

performance bonus, intellectual property bonus, project bonus, production attendance bonus, sales performance 

commission bonus, advanced employee bonus, etc. The Group will also implement various allowances, including 

meal allowance, mission allowance, technical allowance, management allowance, special post allowance, other 

allowances, etc. according to the work needs and the nature of the positions to enhance the humanization of the 

Group’s remuneration system.

3.1.3 Performance Management
The Group has formulated the Performance Management System in the employee handbook to standardize and 

improve the Group’s performance management system. The Performance Management System clearly describes 

the responsibilities of each department responsible for performance management and specific performance 

appraisal methods. Each department will develop detailed quarterly and annual assessment indicators based 

on employee development status, and grant promotion and salary adjustment opportunities based on the 

assessment results. The human resources and administration departments of the Group have the responsibility 

to optimize the performance management plan regularly based on performance management to ensure 

effectiveness of the system. The Group’s performance appraisal method is oriented to performance results, 

adheres to the principles of fairness and impartiality, and follows the principles of effective and continuous 

communication, providing the Group’s employees with opportunities to work with their superiors to formulate 

plans and improve performance.

3.1.4 Promotion and Dismissal
The Group places a high priority on the career development of our employees and is committed to offering 

career growth opportunities for our employees through a sound promotion mechanism. In order to help 

employees achieve career development and give full play to their personal strengths, the Group provides 

employees with a “dual-channel career development model”. This model provides employees with a promotion 

model that meets their personal career development needs. The employees of the Group can choose suitable 

channels according to their business development needs and their actual abilities, or they can make cross 

promotions according to the actual situation.

The Group clearly defines the processes and systems related to dismissal in the labor contract and Employee 

Handbook, and handles dismissal-related matters on the basis of transparency and fairness. The Group strictly 

abides by relevant national laws and regulations, relevant terms and labor contracts, and provides employees 

with corresponding severance pay to ensure compliance and rationality of operations.
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3.1.5 Working Hours
With a view to safeguarding rights and interests of the employees and creating a humanized working atmosphere 

for them, the Group establishes a perfect “Attendance Management System” based on relevant regulations of 

the labor department and working mode needs of employees shouldering different functions, and also clearly 

defines the working hours, ensures employees’ right to rest and guarantees good working order in the Employee 

Handbook. All employees are subject to one of the standard working hour system and the irregular working hour 

system in line with the situation of their actual working departments. The standard working hours of the Group 

are 40 hours per week, usually 8 hours per working day; employees work five days a week with two days off.

3.1.6 Benefits and Leaves
In order to further enhance enthusiasm, creativity and cohesion of our employees, the Group is also committed 

to enhancing employee satisfaction through a variety of independent enterprise benefits on the basis of a sound 

remuneration and performance system for our employees. Pursuant to applicable laws and regulations, the 

Group contributes statutory social insurance and housing provident fund and extends corresponding statutory 

benefits to our employees on time. The Group has also set up a comprehensive equity incentive plan to grant 

reasonable corporate stocks to its backbone talents. In order to enhance the humanization of the corporate 

benefits system, the Group has established corporate self-determined benefits, including front-line post subsidy, 

employee physical examination, wedding gift, maternity gift, commercial insurance, birthday and holiday 

benefits, employee lunch subsidy, employee activities, etc. Meanwhile, the Group has established the Leave 

Management Regulations in the employee handbook, which provides employees with various leaves including 

annual leave, sick leave, personal leave, marriage leave, funeral leave, maternity leave, breastfeeding leave, and 

nursing leave.

3.1.7 Employee Activities
The Group organizes regular and irregular exchange activities, including but not limited to department gatherings, 

annual meetings, etc., so as to further increase mutual understanding among employees, enrich the lives of 

employees, develop a healthy and positive corporate culture, and advocate the spirit of a happy and harmonious 

teamwork. The Group seriously follows opinions of our employees and arranges recreational activities that 

can mobilize employees’ vitality in a timely manner according to their feedback, aiming at creating a warm and 

inclusive working environment for our employees and continuously enhancing their sense of belonging and 

corporate cohesion.

3.1.8 Employee Satisfaction Survey
In order to create a more friendly working environment and optimize corporate management, the Group has 

established a sound communication mechanism for our employees to express their suggestions and ideas 

in a timely manner. Employees can put forward reasonable suggestions by mail, WeChat or DingTalk or 

through superiors. And meanwhile, the Group has formulated the “Reward System for Employee Proposals 

for Improvement”, which details the rights and interests owned by employees and specific ways and means of 

making proposals, so as to further encourage employees to put forward constructive proposals on operations 

of the Group and our corporate culture construction. The Group irregularly asks employees for their opinions 

on work and operations in different ways, such as written or oral communication, and keeps it confidential to 

improve the management of the Group and further enhance employee satisfaction.
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3.1.9 Employee Employment Status

Percentages of on-the-job employees of the Group by major indicators in 2022

Shanghai

Nanjing

Beijing

Others74.8%

11.5%

2.4%
11.3%

Female

Male

40.8%

59.2%

Work area Gender

Aged 30 
and below

Aged 31-50

Aged 51 
and above

36.4%

0.4%

63.2%

Bachelor’s degree and 
above
Junior college

Technical secondary school
and technical school
Senior high school and 
below

44.3%

14.7%

12.9%

28.1%

Age Education Background

As of December 31, 2022, the Group had a total of 497 current employees, of which 372 were located in 

Shanghai, accounting for 74.8% of the total. Divided by gender, the majority of the Group’s current employees 

are female employees, accounting for 59.2% of the total. Divided by age, employees aged 30 and below, aged 

31-50 and aged 51 and above account for 36.4%, 63.2% and 0.4% respectively. While introducing vibrant 

freshmen into the collective, the Group also cherishes experienced employees. Divided by educational degree, 

employees having a college degree or above account for 44.3% of the total employees of the Group, and the 

overall scientific literacy and cultural level of the employees are relatively high.
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3.1.10 Employee Turnover
Employee turnover of the Group in 2022 is shown in the table below:

Employee turnover rate % 14.5%

Divided by gender

Male % 14.7%

Female % 14.3%

Divided by age

Aged 30 and below % 16.2%

Aged 31-50 % 13.5%

Aged 51 and above % 0.0%

Divided by work area

Shanghai % 14.9%

Nanjing % 3.4%

Beijing % 20.0%

Others % 20.0%

As of December 31, 2022, the total number of employees leaving the Group during the reporting period was 

84, and the total employee turnover rate was 14.5%. Among them, divided by gender, the turnover rate of male 

employees was 14.7%, and the turnover rate of female employees was 14.3%. Divided by age, the turnover 

rate of employees aged 30 and below was 16.2%, the turnover rate of employees aged 31-50 was 13.5%, and 

there was no turnover of employees aged 51 and above. Divided by work area, the employee turnover rate in 

Shanghai was 14.9%, and the employee turnover rates in Nanjing, Beijing and other regions were 3.4%, 20.0% 

and 20.0%, respectively.
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3.2 EMPLOYEE HEALTH AND SAFETY OVERVIEW
The Group attaches importance to the health and safety of our employees, and strives to ensure their life 

safety and occupational health through sound systems and management. The Group strictly abides by laws 

and regulations such as the Production Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China , the Law of the People’s 
Republic of China on the Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases, and the Fire Protection Law of the 
People’s Republic of China , and has also standardized in the employee handbook the employees’ work and 

smoking behavior in the office environment, to create a safe and healthy working environment for employees. 

As the production process of the Group’s products involves chemical products and special equipment, the Group 

also strictly abides by the Regulations on the Safety Management of Hazardous Chemicals, the Regulations on 

Safety Supervision of Special Equipment and other relevant laws and regulations. The Group regularly organizes 

safety training covering fire safety, knowledge of hazardous chemicals and production safety for our employees 

to enhance their safety awareness. Meanwhile, the Group regularly improves our corporate emergency 

management mechanism in order to establish a more complete employee health and safety management 

system. From 2020 to 2022, no employees of the Group died in the line of duty, resulting in zero lost workday 

due to work-related injuries.

3.2.1 Production Safety
The Group always puts the safety of employees in the production process in an important position, and strictly 

implements the safety management and control in the production process. To ensure employee safety in 

the production process, the Group has formulated a production safety management manual defining safety 

management responsibilities of the managers at all levels, and strictly conducts safety training for relevant 

employees before their taking up posts to help them identify and avoid risk factors in the production process. 

The Group regularly inspects and maintains production equipment and conducts safety inspections on production 

sites to ensure the safety of production equipment, and takes corresponding measures in time against any 

safety hazard identified. As our production process involves chemical products and special equipment, the 

Group strictly abides by the Regulations on Safety Management of Hazardous Chemicals , Regulations on Safety 
Supervision of Special Equipment  as well as other relevant laws and regulations. Meanwhile, the Group obliges 

each employee to report to his supervisor any matters as found that may endanger safety, so as to promptly 

respond to possible safety hazards in the production process. And the Group always upholds the principle of 

safety first in the production process, and seeks to ensure safety and health of our employees while extending 

quality products and services to our customers.
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3.2.2 Fire Safety
In order to ensure the fire safety of the Group’s workplaces, the Group has placed special fire prevention and 

fire protection equipment in our offices and production sites, and has set up clear emergency evacuation route 

maps in the main passages. Meanwhile, the Group requires all employees to receive emergency evacuation 

training at the workplace, understand emergency passages and emergency measures, and receive training on 

relevant fire protection knowledge to ensure the popularization of fire protection knowledge within the Group 

and the health and safety of the Group’s employees.

3.2.3 Employee Health Care Measures
In order to maximally protect employees’ health during the spread of novel coronavirus during the reporting 

period, the Group immediately deploys COVID-19 prevention and control efforts, actively cooperates with the 

government to carry out COVID-19 testing, and enforces detailed employee health care measures. The Group 

makes every effort to guarantee health and safety of our employees by timely collecting their relevant health 

information, understanding their activity trajectory, implementing flexible work models in stages, and distributing 

health and hygiene supplies. To ensure a safe working environment, the Group disinfects and cleans the 

workplace in a timely manner as required by relevant government departments, so as to minimize the risk of 

infection among employees and provide a good office environment for employees during special periods.

3.3 EMPLOYEE DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING OVERVIEW
In order to promote talent development, the Group has built a systematic training system for our employees, 

and combined employee training with the Group’s development strategy, so that employees in various positions 

can grow together with the Group according to their individual needs. The Group has developed a detailed 

training management system in the Employee Handbook, which stipulates and expounds on important links such 

as training demand analysis, training plan, training implementation, training process and training evaluation, so 

as to facilitate employees’ understanding of training-related matters and establish a sound training system. The 

Group encourages employees to continuously update and expand their knowledge, skills and experience, and 

is committed to helping employees achieve personal career planning and development while improving their 

professional quality.

For new employees, the Group regularly organizes growth training camps for them and adopts the “mentor-

apprentice” model to help them grow. The Group’s training system includes internal training and external 

training: internal training includes job qualification training, job transfer training, job coaching, etc., to promote 

employees to develop professional skills and better achieve performance goals; external training includes holding 

short-term seminars, employee academic education, management training courses and relevant knowledge and 

skills training in various departments, etc., to help employees update and expand their knowledge and skills, 

and realize their personal career development plans. The main training topics in 2022 cover basic microbial 

knowledge training, hygiene management, disinfection and sterilization training, strategic consensus training, 

medical device management quality and standard training, domestic medical device registration training, raw 

material quality standards and SOP preparation and writing, medical device life-cycle sharing, etc.
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3.3.1 Trained Employees

Percentages of trained employees of the Group by major indicators in 2022

Female

Male

40.8%

59.2%

Senior management

Middle management

Ordinary employees

75.3%

21.9%

2.8%

Gender Category of Position

As of December 31, 2022, the total number of trained employees of the Group was 497. Divided by gender, 

female employees accounted for 59.2% of the total trainees. Divided by position, ordinary employees were the 

main group receiving training, accounting for 75.3%.

3.3.2 Average Training Time for Employees
Average training hours for the employees of the Group in 2022 are shown in the table below:

Average training time per employee 31.7 hours

Divided by gender

Male 30.0 hours

Female 33.1 hours

Divided by position

Senior management 64.9 hours

Middle management 57.1 hours

Ordinary employees 27.8 hours
 

Average training time per employee of the Group in 2022 was 31.7 hours, of which, the average training time 

per male employee and per female employee was 30.0 and 33.1 hours respectively. Divided by position, the 

average training time for each ordinary employee was 27.8 hours, and the average training time for middle 

management and senior management was 57.1 hours and 64.9 hours, respectively.
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3.4 GUIDELINES AND MEASURES TO PREVENT CHILD LABOR OR FORCED LABOR
The Group insists on legal employment and strict examination in the employment process, and puts an end to 

child labor and any form of forced labor. The Group strictly complies with relevant legal requirements such as 

the Law on the Protection of Minors  and the Provisions on the Prohibition of Child Labor , and adheres to the 

attitude and position of zero tolerance towards any form of child labor and forced labor. The Group also requires 

the elimination of such phenomena in the audits of suppliers. The Group selects appropriate candidates through 

strict information audit and background checks by third-party institutions to fully ensure legal compliance of 

employment. The human resources and administration departments of the Group also ensure that the supporting 

documents concerning candidate employees have been seriously screened and checked. If any suspected 

violations are found, the Group adheres to a zero-tolerance attitude and handles the violations in a timely and 

serious manner.

3.5 ANALYSIS OF THE CURRENT SITUATION OF OPERATION MANAGEMENT
3.5.1 Supplier Overview
The regional distribution of the Group’s qualified suppliers in 2022 is shown in the table below:

Total number of qualified suppliers Number 103

Divided by region

PRC % 86.4%

Regions outside of the PRC % 13.6%
 

Note:  PRC includes Shanghai, Jiangsu, Guangdong, etc.; regions outside of the PRC includes U.S., etc.

3.5.2 Procurement Management
The Group formulates an enterprise-wide “Procurement Management System”, and implements supply chain 

management according to the procurement control process to ensure procurement quality and standardization. 

The Group sets up a quality regulation department to charge the quality acceptance of raw and auxiliary materials 

for production, packaging materials, non-disposable R&D consumables and other products, and to control the 

overall procurement quality. And the Group requires the business demand department to conduct sufficient 

research on the market in which the procured products or services are originated, and to evaluate product or 

service providers before finalizing the suppliers.

By integrating information systems, the Group realizes centralized management and supervision of procurement 

information, limited improvement in efficiency and transparency of procurement management, as well as 

strengthened control over supplier information. Meanwhile, the Group promptly tracks and handles procurement 

quality. For nonconforming products or services, the business department will give timely feedback to the 

suppliers, follow up the quality countermeasures and implement the corresponding solutions.
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3.5.3 Supplier Management
To strengthen supplier management, the Group formulates the “Eligible Supplier Management System” to 

standardize the supplier management process, defines qualified suppliers in detail, clarifies the responsibilities of 

various departments involved in supplier management, as well as classifies and controls the products or services 

provided by such suppliers according to their impact on the quality of final products of the Group. The Group 

requires the project team to conduct strict background checks to screen suppliers, and comprehensively assess 

quality and qualification of the products provided by suppliers to ensure the quality of cooperating suppliers. 

And meanwhile, the Group adopts a dual supplier audit mechanism, requiring the heads of relevant departments 

to re-evaluate the selected supplier list to strengthen supplier management. The project team inspects the 

supplier’s products or services by means of reviewing supplier data, requesting samples, conducting on-site 

inspection, and obtaining information from a second party. According to project requirements, the Group is 

responsible for requiring suppliers to provide audit materials such as ISO13485, clean workshop certificates, 

enterprise self-inspection reports, and biosafety assessment to ensure the quality and safety of suppliers’ 

products or services. In 2022, the Group implemented relevant supplier employment management system 

practices to all 103 qualified suppliers we cooperate with.

The Group conducts regular performance management on the qualifications of qualified suppliers, and the 

specific methods adopted include reviewing qualifications, and grading the quality, delivery time or completion 

time and price of products or services provided by the suppliers, after-sales service support, rectification and 

tracking of adverse events, supplier on-site audit, annual comprehensive performance, etc. The annual corporate 

comprehensive performance review methods include supplier on-site assessment and supplier self-assessment. 

For nonconforming items found during the review process, the Group will promptly require suppliers to rectify 

within a given period, and will evaluate the effect of rectification after the rectification is completed.

In the process of procurement management and supply chain management, the Group actively pays close 

attention to environmental and social risks in all links of the supply chain. In the process of supplier selection, 

the Group seriously considers possible environmental and social risks caused by suppliers. For suppliers that 

may pose a significant negative impact on the environment and the society, the Group adopts the strategy of 

switching suppliers in time to ensure sustainable development of its supply chain. In order to guarantee and 

advance environmental awareness of the cooperating suppliers, the Group regards whether suppliers strictly 

comply with environmental protection regulations, what their specific environmental performance is, and 

whether they have adopted ISO 14001 and other certifications as important criteria for selection. The Group 

conducts on-site inspection of suppliers based on actual business needs to assess their degrees of emphasis 

on environmental protection, so as to reduce environmental and social risks in all links of our supply chain. In 

addition, the Group regularly reviews relevant qualifications of the suppliers to ensure long-term effectiveness of 

the environmental protection measures taken by cooperating suppliers.
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3.6 PRODUCT LIABILITY OVERVIEW
3.6.1 Health and Safety of Products and Services
For the purpose of ensuring health and safety of our products and services, the Group establishes a sound 

product quality management system, strives to penetrate quality management into every link of our production 

and operation, and wholeheartedly renders customers with quality services and products. The Group strictly 

abides by relevant laws and regulations on product health and safety, advertising, labeling and remedies that 

pose a significant impact on the Group, including but not limited to the Regulations on the Supervision and 

Administration of Medical Devices , the Product Quality Law of the People’s Republic of China , the Safety 
Production Law of the People’s Republic of China , the Advertising Law of the People’s Republic of China  and the 

Trademark Law of the People’s Republic of China . The Group has established a comprehensive internal quality 

management system in strict accordance with the ISO13485: 2016 standard, the Specifications on Production 
Quality Management of Medical Devices  and relevant appendices, as well as defined our quality management 

objectives, and conducted life-cycle product management from design and development, material procurement, 

production, inspection, release and sales to quality and safety after listing, ensuring the safety and effectiveness 

of each listed product.

To strengthen effective quality control over the whole chain of product production and operation, the Group has 

established the “Control Procedures for Product Monitoring and Measurement” in accordance with the demand 

for product quality control and the legal provisions of relevant regulators. Functional personnel including quality 

engineers and quality inspectors have the responsibility to monitor the quality of products throughout their life 

cycle to ensure that all links meet the standards set by the Group. And meanwhile, in order to ensure the safety 

of products to users, patients and other people during the actual use, the Group has established the “Domestic 

Adverse Event Monitoring, Re-evaluation and Product Recall System” as regulated by relevant regulatory 

agencies, and has developed perfect management measures against possible recalls after products are launched.

Furthermore, in order to ensure effectiveness of the internal quality management system and explore potential 

problems in time, the Group conducts regular annual audits on the effectiveness of our quality management 

system through internal audits, third-party audits and management reviews, so as to lay a stable system 

foundation for our product quality assurance and continuously optimize the quality management system. In 2022, 

the Group did not encounter any circumstances where sold or shipped products had to be recalled for safety and 

health reasons.
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3.6.2 Customer Complaints
While ensuring product quality and safety, the Group also regards safeguarding rights and interests of customers 

and improving customer satisfaction as the key goals pursued by us, and strives to solve customer problems 

efficiently and better satisfy their demands through a perfect complaint and feedback system. In order to closely 

manage and monitor whether our products meet customer demands, the Group has established the “Feedback 

and Complaint Handling Control Procedures”, which specifies in detail such significant links as departmental 

responsibility allocation, complaint methods, complaint deadlines, complained product protection, complaint 

handling, improvement measures and record keeping, thereby ensuring effective operations of the complaint 

and feedback system. The Marketing Department, Quality Regulation Department, Technology Department 

and Production Operation Department of the Group have the responsibility to accept and handle the received 

customer complaints in a timely manner, and give customers effective responses and appropriate solutions 

after mastering the facts and conducting thorough investigations. In the meantime, the Group will investigate 

and track the customer satisfaction degree of complaint resolution after that, and seek opinions from customers 

on the handling results in time to ensure that the arising complaints are perfectly resolved. In 2022, the Group 

received a small number of customer complaints about our commercialized products on sale, all of which 

were analyzed and fed back according to the requirements of the “Feedback and Complaint Handling Control 

Procedures”; and arrangements were made for customers to return and exchange the involved products, all of 

which have been accepted by the customers.

3.6.3 Intellectual Property Management
The Group places a high priority on intellectual property management, and strictly abides by the laws and 

regulations related to intellectual property management, including but not limited to the Patent Law of the 
People’s Republic of China, Copyright Law of the People’s Republic of China  and the Implementation Rules of 
the Patent Law of the People’s Republic of China . In order to standardize the intellectual property management 

of the Group, improve the level of intellectual property development, and promote the transformation and 

application of intellectual property, the Group has formulated the Intellectual Property Manual in accordance 

with national laws and regulations and the actual conditions, aiming to strengthen the Group’s management 

of scientific research and innovation work such as technology R&D, technology application, and achievement 

management, improve the Group’s independent innovation ability and scientific and technological progress level, 

and build our core corporate competitiveness. In this system, the Group has clarified the definition of intellectual 

property, the responsibilities of relevant management departments and the main contents of intellectual property 

management. The Group regularly updates and revises the system contents to promote continuous optimization 

of our intellectual property management system.
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The Group has set up an intellectual property department to carry out intellectual property layout and intellectual 

property information analysis of similar enterprises, so as to protect our own R&D achievements and legitimate 

rights and interests, and meanwhile strictly avoid infringing on the intellectual property rights of others. To 

motivate and encourage our employees to invent, create, apply for and protect intellectual property rights, 

the Group has formulated the “Incentive Policies for HeartCare Medical Patents”, aiming to strengthen and 

promote the management and protection of intellectual property rights by means of reward. And the Group 

has established a series of management systems that conform to the national standard “Enterprise Intellectual 

Property Management” (GB/T 29490-2013), and won the honor of “Pilot Unit of Patent Work among Shanghai 

Enterprises and Institutions in 2022”.

3.6.4 Customer Information Protection and Privacy Policy
The Group strictly abides by relevant laws and regulations such as the Personal Information Protection Law of 
the People’s Republic of China , the Data Security Law of the People’s Republic of China  and the Cybersecurity 
Law of the People’s Republic of China , and takes strict measures to protect our own information and technology 

resources as well as data privacy related to the interests of the Group and our stakeholders. The Group regulates 

the code of conduct of our employees through the Employee Handbook, and implements a confidentiality system 

for all employees, who must sign the confidentiality agreement, strictly fulfill their confidentiality obligations and 

severely abide by corporate secrets. Meanwhile, the Group trains our employees on customer privacy protection 

and data security to ensure that such employees are clearly aware of the corporate systems and processes 

in terms of customer privacy protection. And the Group conducts regular reviews of the initiatives related to 

customer data protection and privacy protection to ensure strict compliance with relevant laws and regulations 

and timely optimization of relevant initiatives.

3.7 BRIEF ANALYSIS OF CORPORATE ANTI-CORRUPTION MEASURES
The Group always strictly abides by applicable laws and regulations related to anti-corruption, anti-bribery, and 

anti-money laundering, including but not limited to the Anti-Money Laundering Law of the People’s Republic 
of China , the Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the People’s Republic of China  and relevant applicable laws and 

regulations of the place of operation. As a provider of high-quality medical devices, the Group values anti-

corruption efforts highly. To this end, the Group has developed and executed strict internal control mechanisms 

to ensure a clean and transparent internal environment. The Group requires our employees to act in strict 

compliance with relevant laws and regulations (including but not limited to those on anti-unfair competition 

and anti-commercial bribery). The Group has developed anti-corruption-related systems and codes of conduct 

through the Employee Handbook and formed the “Anti-Corruption and Anti-Commercial Bribery Systems” to 

strengthen control over anti-corruption practices. And in the system, the Group has made provisions for a variety 

of behaviors and anti-corruption initiatives to strengthen the anti-corruption management. The Group promotes 

the board’s and employees’ awareness and compliance with applicable anti-corruption and anti-commercial 

bribery laws and regulations by providing training to them, and requires the group representatives who have 

close business communication with medical professionals to receive regular compliance training. In 2022, there 

was no corruption lawsuit against the Group and our employees.
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Meanwhile, the Group has established an effective whistle-blowing and reporting mechanism, and the internal 

audit department of the Group is responsible for monitoring and tracking incidents. The Group adheres to a zero-

tolerance attitude towards any kind of corruption. For employees who violate this system or the supplementary 

guidelines, they will be disciplined base on relevant facts. If the circumstances are serious, their employment 

relationship will be terminated and their legal responsibilities will be investigated into. The Group will 

continuously strengthen the internal management and supervision mechanisms and also continuously improve 

the legal awareness and moral levels of our employees in an effort to eliminate violations from the root.

3.8 CORPORATE COMMUNITY INVESTMENT OVERVIEW
As an enterprise concerned about social responsibility, the Group has always been committed to making 

the utmost of our own resources, conveying love and kindness to the society, shouldering corporate social 

responsibility through practical actions, and maximizing corporate social influence while realizing supreme 

business development. The Group will participate in community investment activities in terms of health, medical 

care, education, environmental protection and other fields for a long time. While adhering to our corporate 

mission and devoting better medical products and technologies for the majority of medical workers and patients, 

we will actively serve and repay the society and make our utmost efforts to contribute to the health of all 

mankind. The following are the major achievements of the Group in terms of community investment in 2022:
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Building dreams with ingenuity and devoting love to move forward
In 2022, the Group actively responded to the national action, launched a public welfare campaign across one 

hundred cities and one hundred hospitals, and donated medical imaging evaluation and rehabilitation equipment 

for stroke to 100 hospitals across the country to improve the diagnosis rate of stroke and improve the prognosis 

of stroke patients. As at June 2022, a total of 25 medical institutions have been shortlisted for the “Public 

Welfare Across Hundred Cities and Hundred Hospitals” campaign. So far, the Group has donated 12 sets of 

medical imaging evaluation systems for stroke and 2 sets of hand function rehabilitation robots to 14 medical 

institutions. The Group has always placed a high priority on corporate sense of social responsibility, and will 

continue to combine our own resources and advantages to actively get engaged in public welfare undertakings 

and contribute to the development of stroke prevention and control in China through practical actions.

Keeping in mind the enterprise mission and promoting popular science education at the grassroots level
Bearing in mind the enterprise mission and adhering to the concept of “treating brain and heart together to 

prevent stroke”, the Group regards the popular science of stroke prevention knowledge as our major duty. With a 

view to effectively implementing popular science, the Group cooperated with the Red Bracelet Volunteer Unit of 

Chinese Stroke Association to carry out the popular science volunteer activities for stroke prevention and control 

on the National Science and Technology Workers Day in 2022, and went deep into the grassroots to post, place 

or distribute the publicity materials related to cerebrovascular disease prevention and control in public open 

areas such as medical institutions, community neighborhood committees or cultural activity centers of villages, 

stations and groups.
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Launching popular science masterpieces and 
assisting in public welfare propaganda
With a view to carrying out the “National Medical 

Quality and Safety Improvement Goals in 2022”, 

implementing the spir it of “National Action for 

Improving the Treatment Quality of Acute Cerebral 

Infarction” and popularizing the scientific knowledge 

of stroke prevention and treatment, the Group 

continued to actively participate in the “Brain Love 

Action” for popularizing medical knowledge education 

of cerebral infarction identification and reperfusion 

treatment in 2022. The Group created the popular 

science videos entitled “How to Remove Thrombus 

for Acute Cerebral Infarction” and “Time, Brain and 

Life”, and won the honor of Excellent Popular Science 

Short Video of Brain Love Action in 2022, striving to 

popularize stroke prevention and control knowledge in 

innovative forms.

Continuing to participate in the Green Deposit 
Scheme and building a sustainable business future
The Group continuously contributes to China’s green 

and low-carbon development and supports our own 

sustainable business development through practical 

actions. In 2022, the Group continued to participate in 

the Green Deposit Scheme launched by HSBC, with 

the green deposits amounting to RMB30,000,000. The 

HSBC Green Deposit Scheme puts the surplus funds 

of depositing enterprises into eligible environmental 

protection programs in the form of loans, with 

such programs covering renewable energy, energy 

efficiency improvement, high-performance buildings, 

sustainable waste management, sustainable land use, 

clean transportation and sustainable water resources 

management.
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Supporting education development with practical actions
To support the education development of the University of Shanghai for Science and Technology, the Group 

donated RMB500,000 to it. In return for the Group for the support for public welfare undertakings, the University 

of Shanghai for Science and Technology has established the “Medical Treatment and Engineering Thinking 

Cross Innovation Fund of HeartCare Interventional Devices”, which is mainly used to support the development of 

school education. The Group will continue to translate corporate social responsibility into practical actions. While 

concerning about enterprise growth, we will actively get engaged in public welfare and charitable causes, repay 

the society and contribute to social development.

Actively promoting work and production resumption during the spread of novel coronavirus
In May 2022, HeartCare Medical appeared on the “whitelist” of Shanghai for work and production resumption. 

As a listed medical device company specializing in stroke treatment and prevention, the Group has adopted 

closed production since late March, with a total of 67 employees sticking to the front line of production. After 

entering the “whitelist”, another 90 people of the Group returned to work. Up to May 2022, the production 

capacity of HeartCare Medical has recovered to 80% of the normal level, playing a positive role in driving the 

timely delivery of medical materials, the timely recovery of supply chain in the medical field and the resumption 

of social production during the spread of novel coronavirus in China.
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The board of directors is pleased to submit this report together with the audited financial statements of the 

Group for the Reporting Period.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Company and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the research, development, manufacturing and sale 

of innovative medical devices. The activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in Note 1 to the financial 

statements.

An analysis of the Company’s revenue and operating profit for the year by principal activities is set out in the 

section headed “Management’s Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report and the statement of profit or 

loss and other comprehensive income in the financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW
A fair review of the business of the Group as required under Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 

622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), comprising a discussion and analysis of the Group’s performance during the 

year, a description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Company, particulars of important events 

affecting the Group that have occurred since the end of the financial year, and an indication of likely future 

development in the business of the Group are provided in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”, 
“Management Discussion and Analysis” and “Report of Directors” of this annual report. Discussions on 

the Group’s environmental policies and performance, the Group’s compliance with the relevant laws and 

regulations that have a significant impact on the Group, and an account of the Group’s key relationships with 

its stakeholders that have a significant impact on the Group and on which the Group’s success depends, are 

provided in the sections headed “Environmental, Social and Governance Report”, “Report of Directors” and 
“Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report. All such discussions form part of this report.

RESULTS
The results of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and 

other comprehensive income on page 102 of this annual report.

FINAL DIVIDENDS
The Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend for the year ended December 31, 2022 (2021: 

nil).

There is no arrangement that a Shareholder has waived or agreed to waive any dividend.

DONATIONS
Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the Reporting Period amounted to RMB1.7 million 

(2021: RMB2.3 million).
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SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the shares issued in the year ended December 31, 2022 are set out in Note 28 to the financial 

statements.

ISSUE OF SHARES AND DEBENTURES
For information on the Company’s issue of shares, please refer to the paragraph headed “Use of Proceeds from 

the Global Offering” in Management Discussion and Analysis of this report.

The Company did not have any debentures in issue for the year ended December 31, 2022.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
As of December 31, 2022, the Company did not have any distributable reserves (2021: nil).

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
The Group had bank borrowings amounted to RMB5 million as at December 31, 2022 (December 31, 2021: nil).

EQUITY LINKED AGREEMENTS
No equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing shares nor require the Company to 

enter into an agreement that will or may result in the Company issuing shares was entered into by the Company 

during the year or subsisted at the end of the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association of the Company, or the laws of 

the PRC, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the Company’s results and assets and liabilities for the last four financial years are set out in 

the section headed “Financial Summary” of this annual report. This summary does not form part of the audited 

financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SECURITIES
Except the Shares purchased by the trustee at the Company’s instruction pursuant to the 2021 H Share 

Incentive Scheme as disclosed in the section headed “Share Incentive Scheme” in this annual report, the 

Company nor any of its subsidiaries have purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities 

during the Reporting Period.

SHARE SCHEMES
Saved as the 2021 H Share Incentive Scheme disclosed below, neither the Company nor its subsidiaries had any 

share scheme during the year ended December 31, 2022.
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SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME
The 2021 H Share Incentive Scheme
The Shareholders have adopted the 2021 H Share Incentive Scheme by a special resolution on November 1, 

2021 (and further amended the 2021 H Share Incentive Scheme by ordinary resolution on June 10, 2022). 

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the 2021 H Share Incentive Scheme. Please refer to the 

Company’s circulated dated October 11, 2021 and April 11, 2022 for further information.

(a) Purpose of the Share Award Scheme
The purposes of the 2021 H Share Incentive Scheme are (i) to attract, motivate and retain skilled and 

experienced personnel to strive for the future development and expansion of the Group by providing them 

with the opportunity to own equity interests in the Company; (ii) to deepen the reform on the Company’s 

remuneration system and to develop and constantly improve the interests balance mechanism among the 

Shareholders, the operational and executive management; and (iii) to (a) recognize the contributions of the 

leadership of the Company including the Directors; (b) encourage, motivate and retain the leadership of the 

Company whose contributions are beneficial to the continual operation, development and long-term growth 

of the Group; and (c) provide additional incentive for the leadership of the Company and long standing 

employee by aligning the interests of the leadership of the Company to those of the Shareholders and the 

Group as a whole.

(b) Participants
Any individual who is a Director, senior management, key operating team member, employee, or, a 

consultant of the Group; however, no individual who is resident in a place where the grant, acceptance or 

vesting of an Award pursuant to the 2021 H Share Incentive Scheme is not permitted under the laws and 

regulations (including the relevant PRC laws and the Listing Rules) or where, in the view of the Board or 

the Delegatee (as defined below), in compliance with applicable laws and regulations in such place makes 

it necessary or expedient to exclude such individual, shall be entitled to participate in the 2021 H Share 

Incentive Scheme and such individual shall therefore be excluded therefrom (an “Eligible Participant”).

(c) Awards
An award of H Shares (the “Award Share(s)”) pursuant to the 2021 H Share Incentive Scheme (the 
“Award(s)”) granted by the Board to participants (“Selected Participant(s)”) who are Eligible Participants. 

In determining the Selected Participants, the Board may take into consideration matters including the 

present and expected contribution of the relevant Selected Participant to the Group. A grant shall be made 

by an Award letter to each Selected Participant, specifying the Grant Date, the manner of acceptance of 

the Award, the value of the Award and/or number of Award Shares underlying the Award (with the basis on 

which the number of Award Shares underlying the Award is arrived at), the vesting criteria and conditions, 

and the Vesting Date and such other details as might be required. Any price to be paid in relation to the 

grant shall be determined by the Delegatee with the authorization of the Board at their discretion. The 

Selected Participants may be required to pay a specific per Award Share amount at the time of grant (or at 

such other time) as stipulated in the grant letter for each Award.
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(d) Term
Subject to any early termination of the 2021 H Share Incentive Scheme pursuant to its rules, the 2021 H 

Share Incentive Scheme shall be valid and effective for 10 years commencing from November 1, 2021 

(after which no Awards shall be granted), and thereafter for so long as there are non-vested Award Shares 

granted under the 2021 H Share Incentive Scheme prior to the expiration of the 2021 H Share Incentive 

Scheme, in order to give effect to the vesting of such Award Shares.

(e) Vesting
The Board or the Delegatee may determine the vesting criteria and conditions or periods for the Awards to 

be vested.

(A) Vesting Schedule

Unless otherwise specified in an Award letter, and subject to the vesting conditions set out in the 

2021 H Share Incentive Scheme rules, two types of Awards may generally be granted, (i) 3-year 

Awards which shall be granted before December 31, 2024 and which shall vest at the end of the third 

complete financial year after the grant (in relation to Awards of not more than 2,700,000 H Shares); 

and (ii) 1-year Awards shall be vested on June 30 of the year following the year of grant (which shall 

be granted in the first quarter of each of 2022, 2023, 2024 and 2025 for not more than 100,000 H 

Shares in 2022 and 300,000 H Shares for each of the subsequent year). The specific commencement 

and duration of each vesting period and the actual vesting amount of the Award granted to a Selected 

Participant for the respective vesting periods shall be specified in the Award Letter approved by the 

Board or the Delegatee.

The vesting periods of the Awards granted under the 2021 H Share Incentive Scheme or the Awards 

to be satisfied by the application of any Award Shares which were not vested and/or are lapsed, 

canceled or forfeited shall be determined by the Board or the Delegatee in its sole and absolute 

discretion, and shall in any event not extend beyond the then remaining term of the Award Period at 

the time of grant.

(B) Vesting Conditions

Vesting of the Award granted under the 2021 H Share Incentive Scheme is subject to the conditions 

of the performance indicators of the Company and any other applicable vesting conditions (such as 

payment of a vesting amount by the Selected Participant) as set out in the Award letter.

The details of the performance indicators of the Company (if any) shall be determined by the Board or 

the Delegatee from time to time with reference to the business performance and financial condition of 

the Company and the then market conditions and shall be set out in the Award letter. If the Selected 

Participant fails to fulfil the vesting conditions applicable to the relevant Awards, all the Award Shares 

underlying the relevant Awards which may otherwise be vested during the respective Vesting Periods 

shall not be vested and become immediately forfeited with respect to such Selected Participant.

The Trustee (as defined below) shall be instructed to release the Award Shares to a Selected 

Participant upon satisfaction of the conditions on the applicable vesting date.
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(f) Restriction on Grant of Awards
No grant of any Award Shares to any Selected Participant may be made and no directions or 

recommendations shall be given to the Trustee (as defined below) with respect to a grant of an Award 

under certain circumstances including:

(i) where the requisite approval from any applicable regulatory authorities or Shareholders has not been 

granted;

(ii) where any member of the Group will be required under applicable securities laws, rules or regulations 

to issue a prospectus or other offer documents in respect of such Award or the 2021 H Share 

Incentive Scheme;

(iii) where such Award would result in a breach by any member of the Group or its directors of any 

applicable securities laws, rules or regulations in any jurisdiction;

(iv) where such grant of Award would result in a breach of the 2021 H Share Incentive Scheme Limit;

(v) after the expiry of the Award period or after the earlier termination of the 2021 H Share Incentive 

Scheme;

(vi) where any Director is in possession of unpublished inside information (as defined under the Securities 

and Futures Ordinance, the “SFO”) in relation to the Company or where any Director reasonably 

believes there is inside information which must be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.09(2)(a) of the 

Listing Rules and the Inside Information Provisions (as defined in the Listing Rules) under Part XIVA 

of the SFO or where dealings by Directors are prohibited under any code or requirement of the Listing 

Rules or any applicable laws, rules or regulations;

(vii) during the period of 60 days immediately preceding the publication date of the annual results of the 

Group or, if shorter, the period from the end of the relevant financial year up to the publication date of 

such results; and

(viii) during the period of 30 days immediately preceding the publication date of the quarterly or half-year 

results of the Group or, if shorter, the period from the end of the relevant quarterly or half-year period 

up to the publication date of such results.
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(g) General and Maximum Limit
The maximum number of H Shares which may be granted under the 2021 H Share Incentive Scheme is 

3,000,000 H Shares, representing approximately 9.5% and 7.7% of the Company’s H Shares and total 

issued share capital as of the Latest Practicable Date, respectively. As of January 1, 2022 and December 

31, 2022, the total number of Shares available to be awarded under the 2021 H Share Incentive Scheme 

is 363,300 Shares and 2,717,300 Shares, respectively. Awards under the 2021 H Share Incentive Scheme 

shall be granted in accordance with the applicable Listing Rules and each Selected Participant shall not 

have unvested Awards exceeding 1% of the Company’s issued share capital at the relevant time.

The 2021 H Share Incentive Scheme is administered by the Board, the management committee of the 2021 

H Share Incentive Scheme or any other person or committee as the Board may delegate (a “Delegatee”). 

A trustee (the “Trustee”) has been appointed by the Company for the purpose of administering the 

trust underlying the 2021 H Share Incentive Scheme, who shall, amongst other things, acquire H Shares 

to be granted to Selected Participants through on-market transactions at the prevailing market price in 

accordance with the instructions of the Company and the relevant provisions of the 2021 H Share Incentive 

Scheme rules. No new H Shares may be allotted and issued pursuant to the 2021 H Share Incentive 

Scheme. Neither the Selected Participant nor the Trustee may exercise any voting rights attached to any H 

Shares held by the Trustee under the Trust (including any Award Shares that have not yet vested).

Set for below are particulars of the Awards granted pursuant to the 2021 H Share Incentive Scheme:

Date of grant Number of awards

As of 

January 1, 

2022(3)

Granted 

during 

the Reporting 

Period

Exercised and/

or vested 

during the 

Reporting 

Period

Cancelled 

during the 

Reporting 

Period

Forfeited/

lapsed 

during the 

Reporting 

Period

As of 

December 31,

2022

Employees of the Group(1) January 1, 2022(2) – 386,700 – – 104,000 282,700

Sub-total – 386,700 – – 104,000 282,700

Notes:

(1) The employees does not consist of Directors or the five highest paid individual of the Group during the Reporting Period.

(2) The Awards granted during the Reporting Period was granted on January 1, 2022, and the closing price of the Shares immediately 

before the grant date was HK$104.8 per Share. As a condition to acceptance of the Award, each Grantee is required to pay RMB20 

per Share at a time to be agreed with the Company. The fair value representing the Award granted were approximately RMB26.0 

million (RMB67.25 each), please refer to Note 29 of the financial statements for further details on the accounting standards and 

policy adopted. Subject to vesting conditions including fulfillment of the grantee’s individual performance target of achieving a B 

grading or above for all personal evaluations between the date of grant and vesting, 100% of Awards granted to each grantee shall 

be vested and awarded on December 31, 2024.

(3) Immediately prior to the grant made during the Reporting Period.
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DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS
The Directors and Supervisors during the year ended December 31, 2022 and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. WANG Guohui (Chairman, Chief executive officer)
Ms. ZHANG Kun (Deputy general manager)
Mr. WEI Jiawei (Deputy general manager, appointed on June 10, 2022)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. DING Kui

Mr. OUYANG Xiangyu (resigned on July 15, 2022)
Mr. CHEN Gang (resigned on August 31, 2022)
Mr. CHEN Shaoxiong (appointed on November 9, 2022)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. GUO Shaomu

Mr. FENG Xiangqian

Mr. GONG Ping

Supervisors
Mr. ZHOU Baolei (resigned on November 9, 2022)
Mr. MEI Jianghua (resigned on November 9, 2022)
Mr. XING Tingyu

Mr. JIANG Xinbei (appointed on November 9, 2022)
Ms. JIANG Xue (appointed on November 9, 2022)

The Company has received written confirmation from all Independent Non-Executive Directors regarding their 

independence as required under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all the Independent 

Non-executive Directors to be independent.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION
Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company is not aware of any changes in Directors’ information that 

is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
The Company has entered into a service agreement with each of the Directors and Supervisors which contains 

provisions in relation to, among other things, compliance of relevant laws and regulations, observation of the 

Articles of Association and provisions on arbitration.

The principal particulars of these service agreements are: (a) each of the agreements is for a three year term in 

relation to the board session; and (b) each of the agreements is subject to termination in accordance with their 

respective terms. The service agreements may be renewed in accordance with our Articles of Association and 

the applicable rules.

The Company has not entered, and does not propose to enter, into any service contracts with any of the 

Directors or Supervisors in their respective capacities as Directors/Supervisors (other than contracts expiring 

or determinable by the employer within one year without the payment of compensation (other than statutory 

compensation)).

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS 
AND CONTRACTS THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT IN RELATION TO THE COMPANY’S 
BUSINESS
No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which 

the Company’s subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries or its parent company was a party and in which a Director, a 

Supervisor and any entity connected with them had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted 

at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR 
MANAGEMENT
The biographical details of Directors, Supervisors and senior management are set out from page 18 to 25 of this 

annual report.

DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND 
SHORT POSITION IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF 
THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS
As at December 31, 2022, the interests and short positions of the Directors, the Supervisors and chief executive 

in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the 

meaning of Part XV of the SFO) (i) which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange 

pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which were taken or 

deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or (ii) which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the 

SFO, to be entered into the register maintained by the Company, or (iii) which were required to be notified to 

the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:
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Interests of directors and chief executives in the Company

Name of Director/

Chief Executive

Class of 

Shares Capacity

Number of 

Securities/

Nature of 

Shares Held

Approximate 

Percentage of 

Shareholding 

in Total 

Issued Share 

Capital of 

the Company

Approximate 

Percentage of 

Shareholding in 

Relevant Class 

of Shares

Wang Guohui(1) Unlisted Shares Beneficial owner

 and Interest 

 in controlled 

 corporation

3,188,110/

Long Position

8.21% 43.86%

H Shares 8,152,618/

Long Position

20.99% 25.83%

Ding Kui Unlisted Shares Beneficial owner 782,908/

Long Position

2.02% 10.77%

H Shares 782,908/

Long Position

2.02% 2.48%

Zhang Kun(2) Unlisted Shares Beneficial owner 

 and Interest of 

 spouse

1,566,488/

Long Position

4.03% 21.55%

H Shares 1,566,488/

Long Position

4.03% 4.96%

Notes:

(1) Mr. Wang Guohui directly holds 1,915,690 Unlisted Shares and 1,915,690 H Shares. Mr. Wang acts as the general partner of Ningbo 

Meishan Bonded Port Area Xinwei Investment Management Partnership (LP) (寧波梅山保稅港區心瑋投資管理合夥企業(有限合夥)) (“Xinwei 

Investment”) and Shanghai Zandaqian Enterprise Management Consulting Center (上海贊大乾企業管理諮詢中心) (“Shanghai Zandaqian”) 

acts as the general partner of Ningbo Meishan Bonded Port Area Kaiyuan Investment Management Partnership (LP) (寧波梅山保稅港區楷

遠投資管理合夥企業(有限合夥)) (“Kaiyuan Investment”), Shanghai Weiyun Enterprise Management Consulting Partnership (LP) (上海瑋鋆企

業管理諮詢合夥企業(有限合夥)) (“Weiyun Shanghai”) and Shanghai Weiyu Enterprise Management Consulting Partnership (LP) (上海瑋鈺 

企業管理諮詢合夥企業(有限合夥)) (“Weiyu Shanghai”). Shanghai Zandaqian is a sole proprietorship wholly owned by Mr. Wang. By virtue 

of the SFO, Mr. Wang Guohui is deemed to be interested in the Shares in which Xinwei Investment, Kaiyuan Investment, Weiyu Shanghai 

and Weiyun Shanghai are interested in and Shanghai Zandaqian is deemed to be interested in the Shares in which Kaiyuan Investment, 

Weiyu Shanghai and Weiyun Shanghai are interested in.

(2) Ningbo Tongchuangsuwei Investment Partnership (LP) (寧波同創速維投資合夥企業(有限合夥)) (“Tongchuangsuwei”) directly holds 869,330 

Unlisted Shares and 869,330 H Shares. Ms. Zhang Kun directly holds 697,158 Unlisted Shares and 697,158 H Shares. Mr. Chai Yanpeng, 

as the general partner of Tongchuangsuwei, is the spouse of Ms. Zhang Kun. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Chai Yanpeng is deemed to be 

interested in the Shares in which Ms. Zhang Kun and Tongchuangsuwei is interested in and Ms. Zhang Kun is deemed to be interested in 

the Shares in which Mr. Chai Yanpeng is interested in.
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Save as disclosed above and to the best knowledge of the Directors, the Supervisors and chief executive of the 

Company, as at December 31, 2022, none of the Directors, the Supervisors or chief executive of the Company 

has any interests and/or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or its 

associated corporations, which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to 

Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed 

to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be 

entered in the register referred to therein or which were required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to 

the Company and the Stock Exchange.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN 
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY
At December 31, 2022, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the following persons (not being a Director, 

a Supervisor, or chief executive of the Company) had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying 

shares which are to be disclosed by the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the 

SFO as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:

Name of 
Shareholders

Class of 
Shares Capacity

Number of 
Securities/
Nature of 

Shares Held

Approximate 
Percentage of 
Shareholding 

in Total Issued 
Share Capital of 

the Company

Approximate 
Percentage of 

Shareholding in 
Relevant Class 

of Shares

Ms. Zhang Yanxia(1) Unlisted Shares Interest of  
spouse

3,188,110/
Long Position

8.21% 43.86%

H Shares 8,152,618/
Long Position

20.99% 25.83%

Shanghai Zandaqian 
Enterprise 
Management 
Consulting Center(2)

Unlisted Shares Interest in 
controlled 
corporation

496,183/
Long Position

1.28% 6.83%

H Shares 4,777,225/
Long Position

12.30% 15.13%

Ningbo Meishan 
Bonded Port Area 
Xinwei Investment 
Management 
Partnership (LP)(2)

Unlisted Shares Beneficial owner 776,237/
Long Position

2.00% 10.68%

H Shares 1,459,703/
Long Position

3.76% 4.62%

Ningbo Meishan 
Bonded Port Area 
Kaiyuan Investment 
Management 
Partnership (LP)(2)

H Shares Beneficial owner 1,277,192/
Long Position

3.29% 4.05%
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Name of 
Shareholders

Class of 
Shares Capacity

Number of 
Securities/
Nature of 

Shares Held

Approximate 
Percentage of 
Shareholding 

in Total Issued 
Share Capital of 

the Company

Approximate 
Percentage of 

Shareholding in 
Relevant Class 

of Shares

Shanghai Weiyu 
Enterprise 
Management 
Consulting Partnership 
(LP)(2)

Unlisted Shares Beneficial owner 496,183/
Long Position

1.28% 6.83%

H Shares 700,033/
Long Position

1.80% 2.22%

Shanghai Weiyun 
Enterprise 
Management 
Consulting Partnership 
(LP)(2)

H Shares Beneficial owner 2,800,000/
Long Position

7.21% 8.87%

Mr. Chai Yanpeng(3) Unlisted Shares Interest in 
controlled

1,566,488/
Long Position

4.03% 21.55%

H Shares  corporation 
 and Interest of 
 spouse

1,566,488/
Long Position

4.03% 4.96%

Ningbo 
Tongchuangsuwei 
Investment 
Partnership (LP)(3)

Unlisted Shares Beneficial owner 869,330/
Long Position

2.24% 11.96%

H Shares 869,330/
Long Position

2.24% 2.75%

SDIC Unity Capital 
National Emerging 
Industry Venture 
Capital Guiding Fund 
(LP)(4)

Unlisted Shares Beneficial owner 906,220/
Long Position

2.33% 12.47%

H Shares 906,220/
Long Position

2.33% 2.87%

Temasek Life Sciences 
Private Limited(5)

H Shares Interest in 
controlled 
corporation

1,627,907/
Long Position

4.19% 5.16%

Fullerton Management 
Pte Ltd.(5)

H Shares Interest in 
controlled 
corporation

1,627,907/
Long Position

4.19% 5.16%

Temasek Holdings 
(Private) Limited(5)

H Shares Interest in 
controlled 
corporation

1,767,907/
Long Position

4.55% 5.60%
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Name of 
Shareholders

Class of 
Shares Capacity

Number of 
Securities/
Nature of 

Shares Held

Approximate 
Percentage of 
Shareholding 

in Total Issued 
Share Capital of 

the Company

Approximate 
Percentage of 

Shareholding in 
Relevant Class 

of Shares

LYFE Columbia River 
Limited(6)

Unlisted Shares Beneficial owner 152,599/
Long Position

0.39% 2.10%

H Shares 2,899,373/
Long Position

7.47% 9.19%

LYFE Ohio River 
Limited(6)

Unlisted Shares Beneficial owner 49,147/
Long Position

0.13% 0.68%

H Shares 933,784/
Long Position

2.40% 2.96%

Raritan River Limited(6) Unlisted Shares Beneficial owner 65,116/
Long Position

0.17% 0.90%

H Shares 1,237,210/
Long Position

3.19% 3.92%

LYFE Capital Fund III 
(Dragon), L.P.(6)

Unlisted Shares Beneficial owner 
and Interest 
in controlled 
corporation

201,746/
Long Position

0.52% 2.77%

H Shares 4,060,457/
Long Position

10.46% 12.86%

LYFE Capital 
Management 
Limited(6)

Unlisted Shares Interest in 
controlled 
corporation

266,862/
Long Position

0.69% 3.67%

H Shares 5,297,667/
Long Position

13.64% 16.78%

Notes:

(1) Ms. Zhang Yanxia is the spouse of Mr. Wang. By virtue of the SFO, Ms. Zhang Yanxia is deemed to be interested in the Shares in which 

Mr. Wang is interested in.

(2) Mr. Wang Guohui directly holds 1,915,690 Unlisted Shares and 1,915,690 H Shares. Mr. Wang Guohui acts as the general partner of 

Xinwei Investment and Shanghai Zandaqian acts as the general partner of Kaiyuan Investment, Weiyun Shanghai and Weiyu Shanghai. 

Shanghai Zandaqian is a sole proprietorship wholly owned by Mr. Wang. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Wang is deemed to be interested in the 

Shares in which Xinwei Investment, Kaiyuan Investment, Weiyu Shanghai and Weiyun Shanghai are interested in and Shanghai Zandaqian 

is deemed to be interested in the Shares in which Kaiyuan Investment, Weiyu Shanghai and Weiyun Shanghai are interested in.

(3) Tongchuangsuwei directly holds 869,330 Unlisted Shares and 869,330 H Shares. Ms. Zhang Kun directly holds 697,158 Unlisted Shares 

and 697,158 H Shares. Mr. Chai Yanpeng, as the general partner of Tongchuangsuwei, is the spouse of Ms. Zhang Kun. By virtue of the 

SFO, Mr. Chai Yanpeng is deemed to be interested in the Shares in which Ms. Zhang Kun and Tongchuangsuwei is interested in and Ms. 

Zhang Kun is deemed to be interested in the Shares in which Mr. Chai Yanpeng is interested in.
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(4) SDIC Unity Capital National Emerging Industry Venture Capital Guiding Fund (LP) (國投創合國家新興產業創業投資引導基金(有限合

夥)) (“SDIC Unity Capital”) directly holds 906,220 Unlisted Shares and 906,220 H Shares. SDIC Unity Capital is a limited partnership 

incorporated in the PRC, whose general partner is SDIC Unity Capital Corporation Limited (國投創合基金管理有限公司). State Development 

and Hi-tech Investment Corp. (國投高科技投資有限公司), a wholly-owned subsidiary of China SDIC Gaoxin Industrial Investment Corp., Ltd. 

(中國國投高新產業投資有限公司), which is in turn controlled by State Development & Investment Corporation (國家開發投資集團有限公司) 

is a substantial shareholder of SDIC Unity Capital.

(5) Elbrus Investments Pte. Ltd. (“Elbrus”) directly holds 1,627,907 H Shares. Elbrus is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Temasek Life Sciences 

Private Limited, which is in turn a wholly-owned subsidiary of Fullerton Management Pte Ltd, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of 

Temasek Holdings (Private) Limited. By virtue of the SFO, Temasek Life Sciences Private Limited, Fullerton Management Pte Ltd and 

Temasek Holdings (Private) Limited are deemed to be interested in the 1,627,907 H Shares held by Elbrus. Aranda Investments Pte. Ltd. 

holds 140,000 H shares, which is controlled by Seletar Investments Pte Ltd. Seletar Investments Pte Ltd is controlled by Temasek Capital 

(Private) Limited. By virtue of the SFO, Temasek Capital (Private) Limited is deemed to be interested in the 140,000 H shares held by 

Aranda Investments Pte. Ltd.

(6) LYFE Columbia River Limited (“LYFE Columbia”) directly holds 152,599 Unlisted Shares and 2,899,373 H Shares. LYFE Ohio River Limited 

(“LYFE Ohio”) directly holds 49,147 Unlisted Shares and 933,784 H Shares. Raritan River directly holds 65,116 Unlisted Shares and 

1,237,210 H Shares. LYFE Capital Fund III (Dragon), L.P. directly holds 227,300 H shares. LYFE Columbia and LYFE Ohio are controlled by 

LYFE Capital Fund III (Dragon), L.P., which was in turn controlled by LYFE Capital Management Limited. Raritan River Limited (“Raritan 

River”) is controlled by LYFE Capital Management Limited, which is ultimately controlled by Mr. Zhao Jin (趙晉), an Independent Third 

Party. By virtue of the SFO, LYFE Capital Fund III (Dragon), L.P., is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by LYFE Columbia and 

LYFE Ohio while LYFE Capital Management Limited is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by LYFE Columbia, LYFE Ohio and 

Raritan River.

Save as disclosed above, as of December 31, 2022, the Directors were not aware of any persons (other than 

the Directors, the Supervisors or chief executive of the Company) who had interests and/or short positions 

in the shares or underlying Shares of the Company which are required to be disclosed to the Company under 

the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which are required to be recorded in the register 

required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
Major Customers
For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Group’s sales to its five largest customers accounted for 30% 

(2021: 52%) of the Group’s total revenue and our single largest customer accounted for 10% (2021: 26%) of the 

Group’s total revenue.

Major Suppliers
For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for 18% (2021: 31%) of 

the Group’s total purchases and our single largest supplier accounted for 4% (2021: 13%) of the Group’s total 

purchases.

During the Reporting Period, none of the Directors or any of their close associates or any Shareholders (which, 

to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the number of issued Shares of the Company) 

had any interest in the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Group did not experience any significant disputes with its 

customers or suppliers.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
On February 8, 2022, Weiqi Medical, Ms. Zhang Yanxia and Ms. Li Jun (together, the “Vendors”), IasoCardiac 

Medical, Mr. Li Feng and Pingxiang Rong Jiabao Business Consulting Partnership (Limited Partnership), entered 

into an agreement pursuant to which (i) the Vendors agreed to sell, and Weiqi Medical agreed to acquire, 36% 

of the equity interest in IasoCardiac Medical at a consideration of RMB4,800,000 (equivalent to approximately 

HK$5,884,011) and (ii) Weiqi Medical agreed to make a capital injection of RMB30,000,000 (equivalent to 

approximately HK$36,775,071) into IasoCardiac Medical in exchange for RMB543,000 of registered capital of 

IasoCardiac Medical.

As part of the Company’s business strategies, the Company has and will continue to seek collaboration 

opportunities worldwide and may consider investment in promising R&D projects and smaller companies that are 

complementary to the Company’s existing product pipeline. The Company hopes that through this transaction, 

we will be able to achieve synergistic effect with our other products including cardiac medical devices such as 

left atrial appendage occluder, cryoablation equipment and consumables, and further strengthen the Company’s 

competitive advantages in the field of cardiovascular interventional therapy.

Ms. Zhang Yanxia and Ms. Li Jun are the spouses of Mr. Wang Guohui and Mr. Ding Kui respectively. As both 

Mr. Wang Guohui and Mr. Ding Kui are Directors of the Company, pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, 

the Vendors are deemed connected persons of the Company.

Please refer to the section headed “Significant Investments, Material Acquisitions and Disposals” of this annual 

report for further details regarding the acquisition.

Saved as disclosed, during the year ended December 31, 2022, the Group has not entered into any connected 

transaction or continuing connected transaction which should be disclosed pursuant to the requirements of Rule 

14A.71 of the Listing Rules.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Details of the related party transactions of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out in Note 34 to the 

financial statements. Saved as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, none of the related party transactions 

constitute a connected transaction or continuing connected transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
As at the date of this report, based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the 

knowledge of the Board, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float as required under the Listing 

Rules.

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR 
DEBENTURES
None of the Directors, Supervisors or any of their respective associates were granted by the Company or its 

subsidiaries any right to acquire shares in, or debentures of, the Company or its subsidiary, or had exercised any 

such right during the Reporting Period.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS
During the year, none of the Directors, Supervisors or their respective close associates (as defined in the Listing 

Rules) had any interest in a business that competed or was likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with 

the business of the Group, other than being a director or supervisor of the Company and/or its subsidiaries.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS PURSUANT TO THE LISTING RULES
Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company does not have any other disclosure obligations under Rules 

13.20, 13.21 and 13.22 of the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contract, concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business 

of the Company was entered into or existed during the Reporting Period.

KEY RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS
The Group recognizes that various stakeholders including employees, customers and suppliers and other 

business associates are key to Group’s success. The Group strives to achieve corporate sustainability through 

engaging, collaborating, and cultivating strong relationship with them.

For details of relationship with the employees, customers and suppliers, please refer to the subsection headed 
“Major Customers and Suppliers” and “Remuneration of Directors” in this section, as well as the section 

headed “Environment, Social and Governance Report”.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS
Directors’, Supervisors’ and senior managements’ liability insurance is in place for the directors and supervisor 

of the Company and its subsidiaries in respect of potential costs and liabilities arising from claims that may be 

brought against the directors and supervisors during the reporting period.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties
The following list is a summary of certain principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group, some of which are 

beyond its control.
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Risks in relation to the substantial competition we face in discovering, developing or commercializing 
products.
The development and commercialization of new products is highly competitive. We face competition from major 

neuro-interventional medical devices producers worldwide. A number of companies in the global market currently 

market and sell neuro-interventional medical devices or are pursuing the development of such products for the 

treatment and prevention of stroke for which we are commercializing our products or developing our product 

candidates. Potential competitors also include academic institutions, government agencies and other public 

and private research organizations that conduct research, seek patent protection and establish collaborative 

arrangements for research, development, manufacturing and commercialization.

The commercial success of our products depends upon the degree of market acceptance each of such products 

achieves. Neuro-interventional procedures are recently developed and introduced to the market. Our products for 

neuro-interventional procedures are relatively innovative and may not gain broad acceptance in the marketplace 

as anticipated. In addition, physicians, patients and third-party payors may prefer other novel products to ours. 

If our products do not achieve an adequate level of acceptance, we may not be able to generate significant 

product sales revenues and to achieve profitability. The degree of market acceptance of our products and 

product candidates depends on a variety of factors which may be beyond our control. If any products that we 

commercialize fail to achieve market acceptance among physicians, patients, hospitals, or others in the industry 

or if we fail to maintain good relationships with them, we will not be able to generate significant revenue.

Risks of there being a downward change in pricing of our products may have a material adverse effect 
on our business and results of operations.
We sell all of our products to distributors who resell our products to hospitals. We sell products to our 

distributors at the price determined by us from time to time. When determining the price of our products sold 

to distributors, we consider factors such as prices of competing products, our costs and differences in features 

between our products and competing products. Hospitals may gain more bargaining power depending on the 

availability of alternative products, demands of patients and the preference of physicians. If hospitals lower 

retail prices of our products and therefore reduce the profitability of our distributors, our distributors may have 

less incentive to purchase and promote our products, and we may need to lower the order price we set for our 

distributors.

Risks relating to net losses incurred by us since our inception.
Investment in medical device development is highly speculative. It entails substantial upfront capital expenditures 

and significant risk that a product candidate will fail to gain regulatory approval or become commercially viable. 

We continue to incur significant expenses related to our ongoing operations. Typically, it takes many years to 

develop one new product from the time it is designed to when it is available for commercial sales. If any of 

our product candidates fails in clinical trials or does not gain regulatory approval, or if approved, fails to achieve 

market acceptance, we may never become profitable. Even if we achieve profitability in the future, we may 

not be able to sustain profitability in subsequent periods. Our failure to become and remain profitable would 

decrease the value of our Company and could impair our ability to raise capital, maintain our R&D efforts, expand 

our business or continue our operations.
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Risks relating to the highly regulated nature of the industry. Enacted and future legislation may also 
increase the difficulty and cost for us to obtain regulatory approval of and commercialize our product 
candidates.
In China and some other jurisdictions, a number of legislative and regulatory changes and proposed changes 

regarding healthcare could prevent or delay regulatory approval of our product candidates, restrict or regulate 

post-approval activities and affect our ability to profitably sell our products and any product candidates for which 

we obtain regulatory approval. Legislative and regulatory proposals have been made to expand post-approval 

requirements and restrict sales and promotional activities for medical devices. We cannot be sure whether 

additional legislative changes will be enacted, or whether NMPA regulations, guidance or interpretations will be 

changed, or what the impact of such changes on the regulatory approvals of our product candidates, if any, may 

be.

The medical device industry in China is subject to comprehensive government regulation and supervision, 

encompassing the approval, registration, manufacturing, packaging, licensing and marketing of new devices. In 

recent years, the regulatory framework in China regarding the medical device industry has undergone significant 

changes, and we expect that it will continue to undergo significant changes. Any such changes or amendments 

may result in increased compliance costs on our business or cause delays in or prevent the successful 

development or commercialization of our product candidates in China and reduce the benefits we believe are 

available to us from developing and manufacturing neuro-interventional medical devices in China.

Risks relating to manufacture of our products. If we or any of our suppliers or logistics partners 
encounters manufacturing, logistics, or quality problems, including as a result of natural disasters, our 
business could suffer.
The manufacture of many of our products is highly complex and subject to strict quality controls, due in part 

to rigorous regulatory requirements. In addition, quality is extremely important due to the serious and costly 

consequences of a product failure. Problems can arise during the manufacturing process for a number of 

reasons, including equipment malfunction, failure to follow protocols and procedures, raw material problems, 

software problems, or human error. If problems arise relating to our manufacturing processes or if we otherwise 

fail to meet our internal quality standards or those of the NMPA or other applicable regulatory body, which 

include detailed record-keeping requirements, our reputation could be damaged, we could become subject to a 

safety alert or a recall, we could incur product liability and other costs, product approvals could be delayed, and 

our business could otherwise be adversely affected.
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Risks relating to patent protection for our products and product candidates through intellectual property 
rights.
Our success depends in large part on our ability to protect our proprietary technology, products and product 

candidates from competition by obtaining, maintaining and enforcing our intellectual property rights, including 

patent rights. We seek to protect the technology, products and product candidates that we consider 

commercially important by filing patent applications in the PRC and other countries, relying on trade secrets 

or medical regulatory protection or employing a combination of these methods. This process is expensive and 

time-consuming, and we may not be able to file and prosecute all necessary or desirable patent applications at a 

reasonable cost or in a timely manner. We may also fail to identify patentable aspects of our R&D output before 

it is too late to obtain patent protection.

The coverage claimed in a patent application can be significantly reduced before the patent is issued, and its 

scope can be reinterpreted after issuance. Even if patent applications we license or own currently or in the 

future are to be issued as patents, they may not be issued in a form that will provide us with any meaningful 

protection, prevent competitors or other third parties from competing with us, or otherwise provide us with any 

competitive advantage. The patent position of medical device companies generally is highly uncertain, involves 

complex legal and factual questions, and has been the subject of much litigation in recent years. As a result, the 

issuance, scope, validity, enforceability and commercial value of our patent rights can be highly uncertain.

However, the above is not an exhaustive list. Investors are advised to make their own judgment or consult their 

own investment advisors before making any investment in the Shares.

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements in the plant and equipment of the Company and the Group during the Reporting Period 

are set out in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS
The emoluments of the Directors and senior management of the Group are decided by the Board with reference 

to the recommendation given by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the individual performance and 

comparable market statistics.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and five highest paid individuals are set out in notes 9 and 10 to the 

consolidated financial statements, respectively.

None of the Directors waived or agreed to waive any remuneration and there were no emoluments paid by the 

Group to any of the Directors as an inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss 

of office.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLAN
The employees of the PRC companies are members of the state-managed retirement benefits scheme operated 

by the PRC government. They are required to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll to the retirement 

benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The obligation of the Group with respect to this retirement benefits 

scheme is to make the required contributions under the scheme. Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations, 

the Group is not in a position to forfeit contributions to such scheme and thus no contributions has therefore 

been forfeited.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION OF HOLDERS OF LISTED
The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available to the Shareholders by reason of their 

respective holding of the Company’s securities.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS
As far as the Board and management are aware, the Group has complied in all material aspects with the relevant 

laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the business and operation of the Group. During the 

Reporting Period, there was no material breach of, or non-compliance, with applicable laws and regulations by 

the Group.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Saved as disclosed in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report, there 

were no subsequent events between the end of the Reporting Period and the date of this annual report that 

would have a material impact on the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
A report on the principle corporate governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the Corporate 

Governance Report on pages 26 to 45 of this annual report.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING AND CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS 
OF H SHARES
The annual general meeting of the Company will be held on Thursday, May 18, 2023. A notice of convening 

the AGM and all other relevant documents will be published on the websites of the Stock Exchange at www.

hkexnews.hk and the Company at www.heartcare.com.cn, and dispatched to the Shareholders in the manner as 

required by the Listing Rules in due course.

The register of members of H Shares the Company will be closed from Tuesday, April 18, 2023 to Thursday, May 

18, 2023 (both days inclusive), during which period no transfer of H Shares will be registered. In order to qualify 

for attending and voting at the AGM, all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificate(s) 

must be lodged with the Company’s H Share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at 

Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong no later than 4:30 

p.m. on Monday, April 17, 2023.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Audit Committee has reviewed together with the management and external auditors the accounting 

principles and policies adopted by the Company, the audited consolidated financial statements for the Reporting 

Period, and discussed internal control, risk management and financial reporting matters.

AUDITORS
The financial statements have been audited by Ernst & Young who will retire at the forthcoming Annual General 

Meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment.

Mr. WANG Guohui

Chairman and executive Director
Shanghai, PRC

March 20, 2023
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In 2022, the Supervisory Committee of the Company exercised its supervision authority and performed 

its supervision responsibilities, in accordance with the Company Law, Articles of Association, the Rules of 

Procedure for the Supervisory Committee and other relevant internal systems, diligently and conscientiously. 

During the reporting period, the Supervisory Committee effectively supervised the Company’s business 

activities, financial condition, major decisions, procedures for convening general meetings, and the performance 

of duties by directors and senior management, safeguarded the legitimate rights and interests of the Company 

and all shareholders, and promoted the Company’s standardized operation and normal development. The main 

work of the Supervisory Committee in 2022 is reported as follows:

I. THE MEETINGS OF THE SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE
In 2022, the Supervisory Committee of the Company held 3 meetings in total. The convening of the Supervisory 

Committee meetings, as well as the content and signing of the resolutions were in compliance with the 

Company Law, the Securities Law, the Listing Rules and other relevant laws and regulations, and the Articles of 

Association and other relevant internal systems. There was no violation of laws by the Supervisory Committee 

to exercise its authority, and its operation was in good condition.

II. OPINIONS OF THE SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE ON RELEVANT MATTERS 
OF THE COMPANY IN 2022

(I) The operation of the Company in accordance with law
During the reporting period, all members of the Supervisory Committee of the Company were in attendance 

at the general meetings and the meetings of the Board of Directors according to the authority conferred by 

laws and regulations and the Articles of Association, and earnestly performed their duties and supervision 

responsibilities to practically safeguard the interests of the Company and the rights and interests of its 

shareholders. The Supervisory Committee believed that the Board of Directors of the Company operated in 

a standardized manner; the decision-making procedures were legal; the resolutions of the general meetings 

were strictly implemented; the internal control system of the Company was relatively sound and effectively 

implemented; the directors and senior management of the Company performed their duties in accordance with 

laws; and there was no violation of laws, regulations or the Articles of Association, or damage to the interests of 

the Company and infringement of rights and interests of the Company.
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(II) Financial status of the Company
During the reporting period, the Supervisory Committee of the Company conducted a careful and meticulous 

inspection on the Company’s financial status and considered that the Company’s financial system was sound 

with compliant financial operation, and no illegal misappropriation or loss of the Company’s assets was found. 

The Group’s financial statements which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as at 31 December 2022, 

and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statements 

of changes in equity and the consolidated statements of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the 

financial statements prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards, have been 

audited by Ernst & Young, and unqualified audit opinions were given on the financial statements as a whole. The 

Supervisory Committee of the Company considered that the opinions and the matters involved in the audit report 

issued by Ernst & Young gave an objective and fair view on the Company’s actual situation, and the financial 

report reflected the financial status and operation results of the Company truthfully, accurately and completely.

(III) Internal control of the Company
During the reporting period, the Supervisory Committee of the Company continuously strengthened the 

supervision of the soundness and effectiveness of the Company’s internal control system and reviewed the 

establishment and operation of the Company’s internal control system. The Supervisory Committee believed 

that the Company had established a relatively sound internal control system and effectively implemented the 

system, which met the requirements of relevant laws and regulations and the actual needs of the production 

and operation management of the Company; risk assessment and risk control were further implemented; and 

the Company’s operation quality and management efficiency were continuously improved.

III. KEY TASKS OF THE SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE IN 2023
In 2023, in strict compliance with laws and regulations, and the internal system of the Company, the Supervisory 

Committee of the Company will continue to diligently perform various duties, supervise the performance by 

directors and senior management of their duties, effectively safeguard and protect the legitimate rights and 

interests of the Company and all shareholders from infringement, and promote the improvement in the corporate 

governance structure and standardized operation and management of the Company.

Shanghai HeartCare Medical Technology Corporation Limited

The Supervisory Committee

March 20, 2023
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Ernst & Young
27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King’s Road
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

安永會計師事務所
香港鰂魚涌英皇道979號
太古坊一座27樓

Tel 電話: +852 2846 9888
Fax 傳真: +852 2868 4432
ey.com

To the shareholders of Shanghai HeartCare Medical Technology Corporation Limited

(Incorporated in the People’s Republic of China with limited liability)

Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Shanghai HeartCare Medical Technology Corporation 
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 102 to 176, which comprise the 
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated 
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial 
position of the Group as at 31 December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated 
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) and have been properly prepared in 
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong 
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements  section of our 
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants  (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit 
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of 
our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not 
provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed 
the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated 
financial statements  section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included 
the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of 
the consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed 
to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements.
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Key audit matters (Continued)

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment assessment of goodwill and intangible assets

The Group had goodwill of RMB9,711,000 and 
intellectual properties recognised as intangible 
assets of RMB37,438,000 as disclosed in notes 16 
and 17 to the consolidated financial statements as 
at 31 December 2022, arising from the acquisition 
of Nanjing SealMed Medical Technology Co., Ltd. in 
September 2020.

The Group is required to perform an impairment 
test for goodwill at least on an annual basis. 
The impairment test is based on the recoverable 
amount of the cash-generating unit (“CGU”) to 
which the goodwill and the intangible assets are 
allocated. The recoverable amounts are based on 
the value in use.

Management established the impairment 
assessment model with the involvement of 
an external independent valuer and prepared 
a recoverable amount calculation to estimate 
the future cash flows taking into account key 
assumptions, including the estimated revenue 
growth rate, gross margin, terminal growth rate 
and discount rate, and management considered no 
impairment loss was necessary as at 31 December 
2022 based on the impairment assessment 
performed.

1> We obtained an understanding of the key internal 
controls related to impairment assessment of 
goodwill and intangible assets;

2> We evaluated the competency, capabilities and 
objectivity of the external independent appraiser 
engaged by the Group to perform the valuation;

3> We evaluated management’s identification of 
CGU to which the goodwill and the intangible 
assets from acquisition were allocated;

4> We assessed the reasonableness of 
management’s future forecasted cash flows and 
key assumptions including the estimated revenue 
growth rate and gross margin by comparing to 
the Group’s historical financial performance, 
development plan, budget and financial 
projections and analysis on the industry;

5> We involved our valuation specialist to assist us 
in assessing whether management’s valuation 
model is appropriate by reference to industry 
practices and valuation techniques;
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Key audit matter (Continued) How our audit addressed the key audit matter (Continued)

Impairment assessment of goodwill and intangible assets (Continued)

We considered this is a key audit matter 
given the significant management judgements 
and assumptions involved in the impairment 
assessment and because the estimation of the 
recoverable amount was subject to a high degree 
of estimation uncertainty.

The Group’s disclosures about the impairment 
test of goodwill and intangible assets are included 
in note 2.4 Summary of significant accounting 
policies,  note 3 Significant accounting judgements 
and estimates,  note 16 Goodwill and note 17 Other 
intangible assets  to the financial statements.

6> We involved our valuation specialist to assist 
us in evaluating the appropriateness of the 
key valuation parameters such as the discount 
rate and the terminal growth rate applied by 
benchmarking market data and comparable 
companies; and

7> We also focused on the adequacy of the 
related disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements.

Key audit matters (Continued)
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Key audit matters (Continued)

Key audit matter (Continued) How our audit addressed the key audit matter (Continued)

Cut-off of research and development costs

The Group incurred significant research and 
development (“R&D”) costs of RMB153,693,000 in 
the consolidated financial statements for the year 
ended 31 December 2022. A large portion of the 
Group’s R&D costs were service fees paid to third 
party service providers, including contract research 
organisations, clinical site management operators 
and clinical trial centres (collectively referred to as 
“Outsourced Service Providers”).

The R&D activities with these Outsourced Service 
Providers were documented in detailed contracts 
and are typically performed over an extended 
period. Recording these costs in the appropriate 
financial reporting period based on the progress of 
the research and development projects involves 
estimation.

The Group’s disclosures about R&D costs are 
included in note 2.4 Summary of significant 
accounting policies  and note 3 Significant 
accounting judgements and estimates  to the 
financial statements.

1> We obtained an understanding of the key internal 
controls related to the accrual of the R&D costs;

2> We reviewed the key terms set out in the 
agreements with the Outsourced Service 
Providers;

3> We evaluated the progress of R&D projects 
based on inquiry with project managers, 
inspection of supporting documents and obtaining 
confirmations from the Outsourced Service 
Providers, on a sample basis, to determine 
whether these costs were recorded in the 
appropriate reporting period;

4> We performed cut-off tests on a sample basis 
and reviewed related supporting documents in 
relation to the recognition of R&D costs; and

5> We also performed search for unrecorded 
liabilities procedures subsequent to the year 
ended 31 December 2022.
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Other information included in the Annual Report
The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 

information included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s 

report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 

express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 

information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 

consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 

misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 

other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated financial statements
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that 

give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements of the 

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable 

the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 

fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company are responsible for assessing 

the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern 

and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to liquidate 

the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their responsibilities for 

overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 

whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 

includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume 

responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.



100 Shanghai HeartCare Medical Technology Corporation Limited

Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
31 December 2022

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
(Continued)
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 

with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud 

or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 

influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 

scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether 

due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 

evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a 

material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 

collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 

the Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 

and related disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 

on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 

that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude 

that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related 

disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 

opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 

However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including 

the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions 

and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
(Continued)
• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 

activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are 

responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible 

for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 

the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 

during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 

requirements regarding independence and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that 

may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate 

threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most 

significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the 

key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public 

disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not 

be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 

outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Siu Fung Terence Ho.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

20 March 2023
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Notes  2022  2021

 RMB’000  RMB’000
 

REVENUE 5 183,032 90,089

Cost of sales (58,699) (35,139)
 

Gross profit 124,333 54,950

Other income and gains 5 35,321 18,320

Other expenses 6 (2,268) (25,489)

Research and development costs (153,693) (76,306)

Selling and distribution expenses (96,527) (51,129)

Administrative expenses (71,466) (83,880)

Finance costs 8 (2,149) (2,364)

Share of loss of an associate 18 (34,800) –

Listing expenses – (32,008)
 

LOSS BEFORE TAX 7 (201,249) (197,906)

Income tax credit 11 865 –
 

LOSS AND TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR (200,384) (197,906)
 

Attributable to:

 Owners of the parent (200,384) (194,225)

 Non-controlling interests – (3,681)
 

(200,384) (197,906)
 

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY

 HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

Basic and diluted (RMB) 13 (5.24) (5.82)
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Notes 2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000
 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Plant and equipment 14 83,345 77,066

Right-of-use assets 15 34,886 35,079

Goodwill 16 9,711 9,711

Other intangible assets 17 39,243 42,429

Prepayments, other receivables and other assets, non-current 21 12,952 8,039

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, non-current 400 –

Investment in an associate 18 – –
 

Total non-current assets 180,537 172,324
 

CURRENT ASSETS

Inventories 19 132,158 32,128

Trade receivables 20 25,350 18,931

Prepayments, other receivables and other assets, current 21 100,372 56,984

Cash and bank balances 22 870,122 1,217,717

Restricted cash 22 4,020 6,564
 

Total current assets 1,132,022 1,332,324
 

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables 24 48,309 48,175

Interest-bearing bank borrowing 23 5,000 –

Lease liabilities, current 15 5,878 2,489

Government grants, current 25 1,467 1,467

Contract liabilities 26 6,852 3,257
 

Total current liabilities 67,506 55,388
 

NET CURRENT ASSETS 1,064,516 1,276,936
 

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,245,053 1,449,260
 

continued/...
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Notes 2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000
 

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Lease liabilities, non-current 15 39,809 39,451

Government grants, non-current 25 30,407 27,033

Deferred tax liabilities 27 9,360 10,225
 

Total non-current liabilities 79,576 76,709
 

Net assets 1,165,477 1,372,551
 

EQUITY

Share capital 28 38,834 38,834

Treasury shares 28 (42,563) (21,185)

Reserves 30 1,169,206 1,354,902
 

Total equity 1,165,477 1,372,551
 

Wang Guohui Zhang Kun

Director Director
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Attributable to owners of the parent

Share

capital

Share

premium

Treasury

shares

Other

reserve

Accumulated

losses

Non-

controlling

interests Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
 

At 1 January 2021 32,233 675,124 - 126,570 (152,559) 9,667 691,035

Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year - - - - (194,225) (3,681) (197,906)

Equity-settled share award expense (note 29) - - - 50,959 - - 50,959

Restricted share repurchase obligations (note 29) - - - 15,809 - - 15,809

Issue of shares from initial public offering (“IPO”)

 (note 28) 6,601 935,209 - - - - 941,810

Share issue expenses - (63,841) - - - - (63,841)

Capital injection to SealMed (note 34) - - - (5,503) - 5,503 -

Acquisition of non-controlling interests (note 34) - - - (32,641) - (11,489) (44,130)

Shares purchased under 2021 H Share

 Incentive Scheme (note 28) - - (21,185) - - - (21,185)

At 31 December 2021 38,834 1,546,492 (21,185) 155,194 (346,784) - 1,372,551
        

Share

capital

Share

premium

Treasury

shares

Other

reserve

Accumulated

losses Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
      

At 1 January 2022 38,834 1,546,492 (21,185) 155,194 (346,784) 1,372,551

Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year - - - - (200,384) (200,384)

Equity-settled share award expense (note 29) - - - 14,688 - 14,688

Shares purchased under 2021 H Share Incentive Scheme 

 (note 28) - - (21,378) - - (21,378)
      

At 31 December 2022 38,834 1,546,492 (42,563) 169,882 (547,168) 1,165,477
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Notes  2022  2021

 RMB’000  RMB’000
 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Loss before tax (201,249) (197,906)

Adjustments for:

 Finance costs 8 2,149 2,364

 Share of loss of an associate 34,800 -

 Impairment of trade receivables 6 83 733

 Impairment of inventories 6 451 –

 Bank interest income 5 (15,144) (5,496)

 Fair value gains on financial assets at FVTPL 5 – (3,837)

 Depreciation of plant and equipment 7 22,479 7,430

 Amortisation of other intangible assets 7 3,911 116

 Depreciation of right-of-use assets 7 5,397 4,657

 Income from government grants for plant and equipment (1,467) (1,467)

 Net foreign exchange losses 218 800

 Equity-settled share award expenses 7 14,688 50,959
 

(133,684) (141,647)

Increase in inventories (100,481) (23,490)

Increase in trade receivables (6,502) (19,664)

Increase in prepayments and other receivables (41,871) (38,706)

Increase in trade and other payables 11,532 15,231

Increase in contract liabilities 3,595 2,425

Increase in deferred government grants 641 –
 

Net cash flows used in operating activities (266,770) (205,851)
 

continued/...
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Notes  2022  2021

 RMB’000  RMB’000
 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of financial assets at FVTPL (400) (1,010,000)

Purchase of items of plant and equipment (36,512) (52,834)

Placement of restricted cash of deposit for land-use-right (4,020) –

Purchase of items of other intangible assets (725) (1,645)

Withdrawal of time deposits 130,788 –

Placement of time deposits (30,000) (131,806)

Interest received 16,307 4,143

Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at FVTPL – 1,013,837

Receipt of government grants for plant and equipment 4,200 17,200

Acquisition of investment in an associate (34,800) –
 

Net cash flows from/(used in) investing activities 44,838 (161,105)
 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Placement of restricted cash for share purchase – (6,564)

Proceeds from bank loans 20,730 –

Repayment of bank loans (15,730) –

Payment for interest on bank loan (141) –

Acquisition of non-controlling interests (8,826) (35,304)

Shares purchased under the 2021 H Share Incentive Scheme 28 (21,378) (14,621)

Proceeds from the issue of shares from H Share IPO 28 – 941,810

Issue costs paid (1,973) (62,728)

Advance payments received for subscription of

 share awards granted 5,654 –

Repayments of lease liabilities (3,089) (1,344)
 

Net cash flows (used in)/from financing activities (24,753) 821,249
 

NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND

 CASH EQUIVALENTS (246,685) 454,293

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 1,086,711 632,418
 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 840,026 1,086,711
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
Shanghai HeartCare Medical Technology Corporation Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the 

People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) on 16 June 2016 as a limited liability company. On 3 December 2020, 

the Company was converted into a joint stock company with limited liability under the Company Law of 

the PRC. The registered office and the principal place of the business of the Company is located at 1st and 

3rd Floor, Building 38, No. 356, Zhengbo Road, Lingang New District, Pilot Free Trade Zone, Shanghai, the 

PRC.

The Company was listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock 

Exchange”) on 20 August 2021.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) were principally engaged in the research, 

development, manufacturing and sale of innovative medical devices.

Information about subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Name

Place of

incorporation/

registration

and business

Registered 

paid-in

capital/

issued shares

Percentage of

equity attributable

to the Company

Principal 

activities

Direct Indirect

Weiming Medical Devices (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.  

(“Weiming”)* (瑋銘醫療器械(上海)有限公司)

PRC/Mainland China RMB70,000,000 100% - Research and 

development  

and sale of 

medical devices

Nanjing SealMed Medical Technology Co., Ltd. 

(“SealMed”)* (南京思脈德醫療科技有限公司)

PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 100% - Research and 

development 

and sale of  

medical devices

Shanghai Weiqi Medical Devices Co., Ltd. 

(“Weiqi”)* (上海瑋啟醫療器械有限公司)

PRC/Mainland China RMB120,000,000 100% - Research and 

development of  

medical devices
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Name

Place of

incorporation/

registration

and business

Registered 

paid-in

capital/

issued shares

Percentage of

equity attributable

to the Company

Principal 

activities

Direct Indirect

Shanghai Weilang Medical Technology Co., Ltd. 

(“Weilang”)* (上海瑋瑯醫療科技有限公司)

PRC/Mainland China RMB70,000,000 100% - Research and 

development of  

medical devices

Shanghai Shenji Medical Technology Co., Ltd. 

(“Shenji”)* (上海神璣醫療科技有限公司)

PRC/Mainland China RMB70,000,000 100% - Research and  

development of  

medical devices

Shanghai HeartCare Medical Co., Ltd. 

(“HeartCare Medical”)* 

(上海心瑋醫療技術有限公司)

PRC/Mainland China RMB30,000,000 100% - Research and  

development of  

medical devices

Shanghai HeartCare Technology Co., Ltd. 

(“HeartCare Technology”)* 

(上海心瑋科技有限公司)

PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 100% - Research and  

development of  

medical devices

Heartcare Medical (Hong Kong) Corporation 

Limited (心瑋醫療(香港)有限公司)

Hong Kong, the PRC USD100,000 - 100% No operation

3V Medical, Inc. United States of 

 America

USD100,000 - 100% No operation

      

* The English names of these entities registered in the PRC represent the best efforts made by the management of the Company to 

directly translate their Chinese names as they did not register any official English names.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the directors, principally 

affected the results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give 

details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (“IFRSs”) (which include all IFRSs, International Accounting Standards (“IASs”) and 

Interpretations) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) and the disclosure 

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical cost 

convention, except for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. These financial statements are 

presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise 

indicated.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries 

for the year ended 31 December 2022. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or 

indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to 

variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through 

its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant 

activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results in control. When the Company has, 

directly or indirectly, less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers 

all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the Company, 

using consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which 

the Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the 

parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests 

having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows 

relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there 

are changes to one or more of the three elements of control described above. A change in the ownership 

interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)
If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities 

of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative translation 

differences recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii) the fair 

value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share 

of components previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or 

retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the Group had directly disposed 

of the related assets or liabilities.

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES
The Group has adopted the following revised IFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial 

statements.

Amendment to IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework
Amendment to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use
Amendment to IAS 37 Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract
Annual Improvements to 
 IFRS Standards 2018-2020

Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9, Illustrative Examples 
 accompanying IFRS 16, and IAS 41

The nature and the impact of the revised IFRSs that are applicable to the Group are described below:

(a) Amendments to IFRS 3 replace a reference to the previous Framework for the Preparation and 
Presentation of Financial Statements  with a reference to the Conceptual Framework for Financial 
Reporting  (the “Conceptual Framework”) issued in June 2018 without significantly changing its 

requirements. The amendments also add to IFRS 3 an exception to its recognition principle for an 

entity to refer to the Conceptual Framework to determine what constitutes an asset or a liability. 

The exception specifies that, for liabilities and contingent liabilities that would be within the scope of 

IAS 37 or IFRIC 21 if they were incurred separately rather than assumed in a business combination, 

an entity applying IFRS 3 should refer to IAS 37 or IFRIC 21 respectively instead of the Conceptual 

Framework. Furthermore, the amendments clarify that contingent assets do not qualify for 

recognition at the acquisition date. The Group has applied the amendments prospectively to business 

combinations that occurred on or after 1 January 2022. As there were no business combinations 

during the year, the amendments did not have any impact on the financial position and performance 

of the Group.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)
(b) Amendments to IAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant 

and equipment any proceeds from selling items produced while bringing that asset to the location 

and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. 

Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds from selling any such items, and the cost of those 

items as determined by IAS 2 Inventories , in profit or loss. The Group has applied the amendments 

retrospectively to items of property, plant and equipment made available for use on or after 1 January 

2021. Since there was no sale of items produced prior to the property, plant and equipment being 

available for use, the amendments did not have any impact on the financial position or performance of 

the Group.

(c) Amendments to IAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of assessing whether a contract is onerous under 

IAS 37, the cost of fulfilling the contract comprises the costs that relate directly to the contract. 

Costs that relate directly to a contract include both the incremental costs of fulfilling that contract 

(e.g., direct labour and materials) and an allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling that 

contract (e.g., an allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of property, plant and equipment 

used in fulfilling the contract as well as contract management and supervision costs). General and 

administrative costs do not relate directly to a contract and are excluded unless they are explicitly 

chargeable to the counterparty under the contract. The Group has applied the amendments 

prospectively to contracts for which it has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at 1 January 2022 and 

no onerous contracts were identified. Therefore, the amendments did not have any impact on the 

financial position or performance of the Group.

(d) Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020  sets out amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9, 

Illustrative Examples accompanying IFRS 16, and IAS 41. Details of the amendments that are 

expected to be applicable to the Group are as follows:

• IFRS 9 Financial Instruments : clarifies the fees that an entity includes when assessing whether 

the terms of a new or modified financial liability are substantially different from the terms of the 

original financial liability. These fees include only those paid or received between the borrower 

and the lender, including fees paid or received by either the borrower or lender on the other’s 

behalf. The Group has applied the amendment prospectively from 1 January 2022. As there was 

no modification or exchange of the Group’s financial liabilities during the year, the amendment 

did not have any impact on the financial position or performance of the Group.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs
The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet 

effective, in these financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and 

 IAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and 

 its Associate or Joint Venture3

Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback2

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts1

Amendments to IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts1,5

Amendment to IFRS 17 Initial Application of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 – Comparative Information6

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (the “2020 

 Amendments”)2,4

Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”)2

Amendments to IAS 1 and 

 IFRS Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies1

Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates1

Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single 

 Transaction1

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

4 As a consequence of the 2022 Amendments, the effective date of the 2020 Amendments was deferred to annual periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2024

5 As a consequence of the amendments to IFRS 17 issued in June 2020, IFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary exemption 

that permits insurers to apply IAS 39 rather than IFRS 9 for annual periods beginning before 1 January 2023

6 An entity that chooses to apply the transition option relating to the classification overlay set out in this amendment shall apply it on 

initial application of IFRS 17

These issued but not yet effective IFRSs are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s 

financial statements.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Investment in an associate
An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term interest of generally not less than 20% of the 
equity voting rights and over which it is in a position to exercise significant influence. Significant influence 
is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control 
or joint control over those policies.

The Group’s investments in an associate is stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at 
the Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses. The 
Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other comprehensive income of an associate is included 
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. In addition, when there 
has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the Group recognises its share of any 
changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses 
resulting from transactions between the Group and its associate are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s 
investments in the associate, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the 
assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of an associate is included as part of the Group’s 
investment in an associate.

Business combinations and goodwill
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred 
is measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of 
assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree 
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each business 
combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are 
present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the event 
of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other 
components of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed 
as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the acquired set of activities and assets 
includes an input and a substantive process that together significantly contribute to the ability to create 
outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate 
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and 
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host 
contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held equity interest is remeasured at its 
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition 
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair value with changes in 
fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured 
and subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)
Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, 
the amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group’s previously held equity 
interests in the acquiree over the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this 
consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after 
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill 
is tested for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
the carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 
December. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the 
acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, 
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or 
liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit 
(group of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An 
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part 
of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of 
is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal. 
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured based on the relative value of the operation 
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement
The Group measures its derivative financial instruments and equity investment at fair value through profit 
or loss at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset 
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement 
date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or 
transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence 
of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most 
advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured 
using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that 
market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to 
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market 
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient 
data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising 
the use of unobservable inputs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Fair value measurement (Continued)
All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are 
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is 
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 – based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 – based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the 

fair value measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 – based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the 

fair value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group 
determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation 
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of 
each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets
Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other 
than inventories and financial assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable 
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of 
disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that 
are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable 
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. In testing a cash-generating 
unit for impairment, a portion of the carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters building) is 
allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis or, 
otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. 
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a 
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those 
expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether there is an indication that 
previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication 
exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset 
other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the 
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have 
been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the 
asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the period in which 
it arises.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow 

subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third 

entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group or 

an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 

management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel 

services to the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Plant and equipment and depreciation
Plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation 

and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and 

any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its intended 

use.

Expenditure incurred after items of plant and equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and 

maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where 

the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying 

amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of plant and equipment are required to be 

replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and 

depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of each item of plant and 

equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this 

purpose are as follows:

Leasehold improvements Lease terms or 20%

Machinery and equipment 18% to 30%

Where parts of an item of plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated 

on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual values, useful 

lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year 

end.

An item of plant and equipment including any significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon 

disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on 

disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference 

between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents a building under construction, which is stated at cost less any 

impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of construction. Construction in 

progress is reclassified to the appropriate category of plant and equipment when completed and ready for 

use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible 

assets acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful lives 

of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are 

subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an 

indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method 

for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Intellectual properties
Intellectual properties are stated at cost less any impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line 

basis over their estimated useful lives of 10 years after commercialisation which is estimated based on 

the estimated lifecycle of the products, considering the lifecycle of medical device products in the market, 

current market competition and the current management development plan.

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is capitalised and deferred only when the Group 

can demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for 

use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate 

future economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete the project and the ability to measure 

reliably the expenditure during the development. Product development expenditure which does not meet 

these criteria is expensed when incurred.

Leases
The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or 

contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of 

time in exchange for consideration.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee
The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term 

leases and leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and 

right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date of the lease (that is the date the 

underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated 

depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. 

The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs 

incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives 

received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease 

terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Plant and office premises 2 to 10 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by the end of the lease term or the cost 

reflects the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of 

the asset.

(b) Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of the lease at the present value of lease 

payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-

substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend 

on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease 

payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by 

the Group and payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group 

exercising the option to terminate the lease. The variable lease payments that do not depend on 

an index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the period in which the event or condition that 

triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its incremental borrowing 

rate at the lease commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily 

determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the 

accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of 

lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in lease 

payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a 

change in assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

The Group’s lease liabilities are presented in a separate line item in the consolidated statement of 

financial position.
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Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)
(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of offices (that 

is those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not 

contain a purchase option). It also applies the recognition exemption for leases of low-value assets 

to leases of office equipment that are considered to be of low value. Lease payments on short-term 

leases are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost and fair 

value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash 

flow characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception of trade 

receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for which the Group has applied the 

practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the Group initially 

measures a financial asset at its fair value plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through 

profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or 

for which the Group has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price determined 

under IFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or fair value through other 

comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 

interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI 

are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial assets 

in order to generate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result from 

collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and 

measured at amortised cost are held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in 

order to collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified and measured at fair value through 

other comprehensive income are held within a business model with the objective of both holding to collect 

contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are not held within the aforementioned business 

models are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date 

that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or 

sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally established by regulation 

or convention in the marketplace.
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Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest method and are 

subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, 

modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the statement of financial position at fair 

value with net changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity investments which the Group had not irrevocably 

elected to classify at fair value through other comprehensive income. Dividends on equity investments 

classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are also recognised as other income in 

profit or loss when the right of payment has been established, it is probable that the economic benefits 

associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured 

reliably.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial liability or non-financial host, is separated from 

the host and accounted for as a separate derivative if the economic characteristics and risks are not closely 

related to the host; a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative would meet 

the definition of a derivative; and the hybrid contract is not measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

Embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. 

Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies 

the cash flows that would otherwise be required or a reclassification of a financial asset out of the fair 

value through profit or loss category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a financial asset host is not accounted for 

separately. The financial asset host together with the embedded derivative is required to be classified in its 

entirety as a financial asset at fair value through profit or loss.
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Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial 

assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial 

position) when:

• the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

• the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation 

to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” 

arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the 

asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of 

the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-

through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership 

of the asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the 

asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to 

the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated 

liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights 

and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the 

lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the 

Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets
The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at 

fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due 

in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an 

approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from 

the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach
ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant 

increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default 

events that are possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which 

there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for 

credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a 

lifetime ECL).



124 Shanghai HeartCare Medical Technology Corporation Limited

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
31 December 2022

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased 

significantly since initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a 

default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring 

on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable 

information that is available without undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking 

information. The Group considers that there has been a significant increase in credit risk when contractual 

payments are more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 120 days past due. 

However, in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or 

external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in 

full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off 

when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under the general approach and they are 

classified within the following stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables which apply 

the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 – Financial instruments for which credit risk has not increased significantly since initial 

recognition and for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 

12-month ECLs

Stage 2 – Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased significantly since initial 

recognition but that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for which the loss 

allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 – Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date (but that are not 

purchased or originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss allowance is measured 

at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach
For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or when the Group applies the 

practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the Group applies the 

simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group does not track changes 

in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The 

Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, or making 

reference to the credit loss experience of similar companies in the market where the Group has not had 

sufficient credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the 

economic environment.
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Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans and borrowings and payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and 

payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables and lease liabilities.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)
After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised 

cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in 

which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are 

derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or 

costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is 

included in finance costs in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or 

expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different 

terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is 

treated as a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference 

between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of 

financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is 

an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Treasury shares
Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held by the Company or the Group (treasury shares) are 

recognised directly in equity at cost. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, 

issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on the weighted 

average basis and, in the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct 

labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices 

less any estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash 

on hand and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into 

known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity 

of generally within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and 

form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position, cash and cash equivalents comprise 

cash on hand and at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not 

restricted as to use.

Provisions
A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past 

event and it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, provided 

that a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a provision is the present value at 

the end of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. 

The increase in the discounted present value amount arising from the passage of time is included in 

finance costs in profit or loss.

Income tax
Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to items recognised outside profit or 

loss is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to 

the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted 

by the end of the reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the 

countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the end of the reporting 

period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting 

purposes.
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Income tax (Continued)
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

• when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a 

transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the 

accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

• in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates 

and joint ventures, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and 

it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of 

unused tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is 

probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the 

carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

• when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary differences arises from the initial 

recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time 

of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

• in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates 

and joint ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the 

temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against 

which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to 

the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of 

the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each 

reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit 

will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period 

when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been 

enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable 

right to set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax 

liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity 

or different taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, 

or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant 

amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.
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Government grants
Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will 

be received and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense item, 

it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is intended to 

compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred income account and is released 

to profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments or deducted 

from the carrying amount of the asset and released to profit or loss by way of a reduced depreciation 

charge.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers
Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of goods is transferred to the 

customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in 

exchange for those goods.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, the amount of consideration is estimated 

to which the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to the customer. 

The variable consideration is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it is highly probable that 

a significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the 

associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which provides the customer with a significant benefit 

of financing the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one year, revenue is measured 

at the present value of the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected 

in a separate financing transaction between the Group and the customer at contract inception. When the 

contract contains a financing component which provides the Group with a significant financial benefit for 

more than one year, revenue recognised under the contract includes the interest expense accreted on the 

contract liability under the effective interest method. For a contract where the period between the payment 

by the customer and the transfer of the promised goods or services is one year or less, the transaction 

price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing component, using the practical expedient in 

IFRS 15.
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Revenue recognition (Continued)
(a) Sale of medical devices

Revenue from the sale of medical devices is recognised at the point in time when control of the asset 

is transferred to the customer, generally on delivery of the medical devices or acceptance by the 

customer.

Some contracts for the sale of medical devices provide customers with rights of sales rebates. The 

rights of sales rebates give rise to variable consideration.

(i) Sales rebates

Retrospective sales rebates may be provided to certain customers once the amount of products 

purchased during the period exceeds a threshold or the rank of credit exceeds a certain level 

specified in the contract. Rebates are offset against amounts payable by the distributor arising 

from its purchase or provided in the form of products. The most likely amount method is used 

to estimate the variable consideration. The selected method that best predicts the amount 

of variable consideration is primarily driven by the sales amount thresholds contained in the 

contract. The requirements on constraining estimates of variable consideration are applied and a 

liability for the expected future rebates is recognised in contract liabilities.

Other income
Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest method by applying the rate 

that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument 

or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Contract liabilities
A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from 

a customer before the Group transfers the related goods. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue 

when the Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods to the customer).

Share-based payments
The Company operates share award schemes for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to 

eligible participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees (including 

directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments, whereby employees 

render services in exchange for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).
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Share-based payments (Continued)
The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the 

date on which they are granted less the consideration received by the Group. The fair value of share 

awards is determined using the market approach. Further details are included in note 29 to the financial 

statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee benefit expense, together with a 

corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions are 

fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each reporting 

period until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s 

best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to profit or 

loss for a period represents the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and 

end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into account when determining the grant 

date fair value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the Group’s 

best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions 

are reflected within the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without an 

associated service requirement, are considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are 

reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there are 

also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market performance and/or service conditions have 

not been met, no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or non-vesting condition, the 

transactions are treated as vesting irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, 

provided that all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as 

if the terms had not been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense 

is recognised for any modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is 

otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and 

any expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes any award where 

non-vesting conditions within the control of either the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a 

new award is substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement award on the date 

that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original 

award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of 

earnings per share.
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Other employee benefits
Pension scheme
The employees of the Group are required to participate in a central pension scheme operated by the local 

municipal government. The Group is required to contribute a certain percentage of its payroll costs to 

the central pension scheme. The contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in 

accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest 

and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends
Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved by the shareholders in a general 

meeting.

Foreign currencies
These financial statements are presented in RMB, which is the Company’s functional currency. Each entity 

in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial statements of each 

entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities 

in the Group are initially recorded using their respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates 

of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at 

the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on 

settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using 

the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in 

a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was measured. 

The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with 

the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the 

item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also 

recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related asset, expense or income on the 

derecognition of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration, the 

date of initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset or 

non-monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts 

in advance, the Group determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the advance 

consideration.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates 

and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their 

accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions 

and estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 

the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following 

judgements, apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts 

recognised in the financial statements:

Research and development costs
Research and development costs are expensed in accordance with the accounting policy for research and 

development costs in note 2.4 to the financial statements. Determining the amounts to be capitalised or 

expensed requires management to make assumptions and judgements regarding the technical feasibility 

of completing the intangible asset, future economic benefits and so forth. During the reporting period, all 

expenses incurred for research and development activities were expensed when incurred as it is uncertain 

whether future economic benefits can be generated.

Estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of 

the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 

assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below.

Accrual of research and development costs
The Group relies on outsourced service providers to conduct, supervise, and monitor the Group’s pre-

clinical activities and clinical trials in the PRC. Determining the amounts of research and development costs 

incurred up to the end of each reporting period requires the management of the Group to estimate and 

measure the progress of receiving research and development services under the contracts with outsourced 

service providers using inputs such as the number of patient enrolments, time elapsed and milestone 

achieved.
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Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Useful lives and residual values of plant and equipment
In determining the useful lives and residual values of items of plant and equipment, the Group has 

to consider various factors, such as technical or commercial obsolescence arising from changes or 

improvements in production, or from a change in the market demand for the product or service output of 

the asset, expected usage of the asset, expected physical wear and tear, the care and maintenance of the 

asset and the legal or similar limits on the use of the asset. The estimation of the useful life of the asset is 

based on the experience of the Group with similar assets that are used in a similar way.

Additional depreciation is recognised if the estimated useful lives and/or the residual values of items 

of plant and equipment are different from the previous estimation. Useful lives and residual values are 

reviewed at the end of the reporting period based on changes in circumstances.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)
Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other 

than inventories, financial assets and non-current assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An 

asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair 

value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate 

cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the 

recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. 

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a 

pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 

specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those 

expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

Impairment of goodwill
The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation 

of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in 

use requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash-generating 

units and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash 

flows. The carrying amounts of goodwill as at 31 December 2021 and 2022 were RMB9,711,000 and 

RMB9,711,000, respectively. Further details are given in note 16 to the financial statements.
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Segment information
For management purposes, the Group is not organised into business units based on their products and 

only has one reportable operating segment. Management monitors the operating results of the Group’s 

operating segment as a whole for the purpose of making decisions about resource allocation and 

performance assessment.

Geographical information
During the reporting period, most of the Group’s revenue was derived from customers located in 

Mainland China and all of the Group’s non-current assets are located in Mainland China, and therefore no 

geographical segment information in accordance with IFRS 8 Operating Segments is presented.

Information about major customers
Revenue from each major customer which accounted for 10% or more of the Group’s revenue during the 

reporting period is set out below:

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

Customer A - 23,702

Customer B - 11,850

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
An analysis of revenue is as follows:

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue from contracts with customers

Sale of medical devices 183,032 90,089
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Revenue from contracts with customers
(a) Disaggregated revenue information

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

Geographical markets

Mainland China 182,909 90,062

Others 123 27

Total 183,032 90,089

Timing of revenue recognition

Goods transferred at a point in time 183,032 90,089

The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised in the current reporting period that 

were included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period:

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

Sale of medical devices 3,257 832

(b) Performance obligations
Information about the Group’s performance obligations is summarised below:

Sale of medical devices

The performance obligation is satisfied upon transfer of the products to the logistics companies or 

acceptance by the customer. Payment is made in advance or due within 30 to 120 days from delivery. 

Some contracts provide customers with volume rebates which give rise to variable consideration 

subject to constraint.

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or 

partially unsatisfied) as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

Amounts expected to be recognised as revenue:

 Within one year 6,852 3,257

All the amounts of transaction prices allocated to the remaining performance obligations are expected 

to be recognised as revenue within one year. The amounts disclosed above do not include variable 

consideration which is constrained.
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An analysis of other income and gains is as follows:

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

Other income

Government grants (note) 11,876 8,987

Bank interest income 15,144 5,496

Others 3 –

27,023 14,483

Gains

Foreign exchange gains, net 8,298 –

Fair value gains on financial assets at FVTPL – 3,837

8,298 3,837

35,321 18,320

Note:

The government grants mainly represent subsidies received from local government authorities for the purpose of compensation for 

expenditure arising from research and clinical trial activities, awards for new medical device development and capital expenditure incurred 

on certain projects.

6. OTHER EXPENSES

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

Foreign exchange losses, net – 22,277

Donation 1,722 2,334

Impairment of inventories 451 –

Impairment of trade receivables 83 733

Others 12 145

2,268 25,489
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The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

Notes 2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

Cost of inventories sold 58,699 35,139

Research and development costs 153,693 76,306

Impairment of inventories 6 451 –

Impairment of trade receivables 20 83 733

Depreciation of plant and equipment 14 22,479 7,430

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 15 5,397 4,657

Amortisation of other intangible assets 17 3,911 116

Government grants 5 (11,876) (8,987)

Bank interest income 5 (15,144) (5,496)

Fair value gains on financial assets at FVTPL 5 – (3,837)

Listing expenses for H Share – 32,008

Lease payments not included in the

 measurement of lease liabilities 1,759 1,679

Auditor’s remuneration 3,600 3,900

Employee benefit expenses (including directors’ emoluments):

 – Independent non-executive directors’ fees 439 481

 – Wages, salaries and allowances 113,388 56,280

 – Pension scheme contributions 10,599 4,784

 – Staff welfare expenses 4,820 1,798

 – Equity-settled share award expenses (note) 29 14,688 50,959

143,934 114,302

Foreign exchange differences, net 5,6 (8,298) 22,277

Donation 6 1,722 2,334
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Note: Equity-settled share award expenses were allocated to cost of sales, research and development costs, selling and distribution 

expenses and administrative expenses in the amounts below:

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

Cost of sales 426 66

Research and development costs 6,112 4,069

Selling and distribution expenses 4,820 3,632

Administrative expenses 3,330 43,192

14,688 50,959

8. FINANCE COSTS

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

Interest on lease liabilities 2,008 1,794

Interest on bank loans 141 –

Interest on restricted share repurchase obligations (note 29) – 570

2,149 2,364
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9. DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 

383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure 

of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

Fees 439 481

Other emoluments:

 Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 2,553 1,428

 Bonuses (note vi) 790 588

 Pension scheme contributions 204 92

 Equity-settled share award expense 2,421 33,559

6,407 36,148

Certain directors were granted share awards, in respect of their services to the Group, under the share 

award schemes of the Company, further details of which are set out in note 29 to the financial statements. 

The fair value of such awarded shares, which has been recognised in profit or loss over the vesting period, 

was determined as at the date of grant and the amount included in the financial statements for the current 

year is included in the above directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration disclosures.

(a) Independent non-executive directors
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during the year were as follows:

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

Mr. Guo Shaomu 239 286

Mr. Gong Ping (note i) 200 195

Mr. Feng Xiangqian – –

439 481

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent non-executive directors during the year 

(2021: Nil).
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9. DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION 
(Continued)
(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors and the chief executive

Salaries,

 allowances

 and benefits

 in kind

Pension

 scheme

 contributions

Bonuses 

(note vi)

Equity-

settled 

share award 

expenses

Total 

remuneration

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

2022

Executive directors:

Mr. Wang Guohui (note ii) 1,099 65 270 – 1,434

Ms. Zhang Kun 712 74 260 – 1,046

Mr. Wei Jiawei (note iii) 725 65 260 2,421 3,471

2,536 204 790 2,421 5,951

Non-executive directors:

Mr. Chen Shaoxiong (note iv) 17 – – – 17

Mr. Ding Kui – – – – –

Mr. Chen Gang (note iv) – – – – –

Mr. Ouyang Xiangyu (note iv) – – – – –

17 – – 17

2,553 204 790 2,421 5,968

2021

Executive directors:

Mr. Wang Guohui (note ii) 880 58 300 19,812 21,050

Ms. Zhang Kun 548 34 288 6,874 7,744

1,428 92 588 26,686 28,794

Non-executive directors:

Mr. Ding Kui – – – 6,873 6,873

Mr. Chen Gang (note iv) – – – – –

Mr. Ouyang Xiangyu (note iv) – – – – –

Mr. Liu Yanbin (note iv) – – – – –

– – – 6,873 6,873

1,428 92 588 33,559 35,667
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9. DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION 
(Continued)
(c) Supervisors

Salaries, 

allowances 

and benefits 

in kind

Pension 

Scheme 

contributions

Bonuses 

(note vi)

Equity-settled 

share award 

expenses

Total 

remuneration

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Year ended 31 December 2022

Mr. Xing Tingyu 575 65 101 152 893

Mr. Jiang Xinbei (note v) – – – – –

Ms. Jiang Xue (note v) 52 7 30 – 89

Mr. Zhou Baolei (note v) – – – – –

Mr. Mei Jianghua (note v) – – – – –

627 72 131 152 982

Year ended 31 December 2021

Mr. Xing Tingyu 559 58 148 272 1,037

Mr. Zhou Baolei (note v) – – – – –

Mr. Mei Jianghua (note v) – – – – –

559 58 148 272 1,037

Notes

i. Mr. Gong Ping was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company on 11 January 2021.

ii. Mr. Wang Guohui is also the chief executive of the Company, and his remuneration disclosed above included the amount for 
the services rendered by him as the chief executive.

iii. Mr. Wei Jiawei was appointed as an executive director on 10 June 2022, and his remuneration after appointment as an 
executive director is comprised of salaries, allowances and benefits in kind of RMB409,000, pension scheme contribution of 
RMB37,000, bonuses of RMB144,000 and equity-settled share award expenses of RMB1,345,000, respectively.

iv. Mr. Liu Yanbin, Mr. Ouyang Xiangyu and Mr. Chen Gang resigned as non-executive directors with effect from 10 December 
2021, 15 July 2022 and 31 August 2022, respectively. Mr. Chen Shaoxiong was appointed as a non-executive director of the 
Company on 9 November 2022.

v. Mr. Jiang Xinbei and Ms. Jiang Xue were appointed as supervisors with effect from 9 November 2022. Mr. Zhou Baolei and 
Mr. Mei Jianghua resigned as supervisors from 9 November 2022.

vi. Bonuses are amount paid or payable which are discretionary or are based on the Group’s performance.

There was no arrangement under which a director, supervisor or the chief executive waived or agreed 
to waive any remuneration during the year.
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10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
The five highest paid employees during the year included three directors including the chief executive 

(2021: three directors including the chief executive), details of whose remuneration are set out in note 9 

above. Included below are the details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining two (2021: two) 

highest paid employees who were not a director, supervisor or chief executive of the Company during the 

year are as follows:

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 2,095 1,523

Pension scheme contributions 65 58

Bonuses (note) 520 700

Equity-settled share award expenses 4,842 11,716

7,522 13,997

Note: Bonuses are amount paid or payable which are discretionary or are based on the Group’s performance.

The number of non-director, non-supervisor and non-chief executive highest paid employees whose 

remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows:

Number of employees

2022 2021

HKD3,500,001 to HKD4,000,000 1 –

HKD4,500,001 to HKD5,000,000 1 1

HKD12,000,001 to HKD12,500,000 – 1

2 2

Share awards were granted to certain non-director, non-supervisor and non-chief executive highest paid 

employees in respect of their services to the Group, further details of which are included in the disclosures 

in note 29 to the financial statements. The fair value of such awarded shares, which has been recognised 

in profit or loss over the vesting period, was determined as at the date of grant and the amount included in 

the financial statements for the current year is included in the above non-director, non-supervisor and non-

chief executive highest paid employees’ remuneration disclosures. No new share awards were granted 

during the year.
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11. INCOME TAX
The provision for corporate income tax in Mainland China is based on the statutory rate of 25% of the 

assessable profits as determined in accordance with the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law which was 

approved and became effective on 1 January 2008.

Weiming was accredited as a “Key industry enterprise in the Lingang New Area of China (Shanghai) Pilot 

Free Trade Zone” in January 2021 and has been entitled to a preferential income tax rate of 15% for a five-

year period since 2020.

The Company was accredited as a “High and New Technology Enterprise” in November 2021 and therefore 

is entitled to a preferential tax rate of 15% for a three-year period since 2021. The qualification as a High 

and New Technology Enterprise will be subject to review by the relevant tax authority in the PRC for 

every three years and the Company should self-evaluate whether it meets the criteria of High and New 

Technology Enterprise each year.

Pursuant to Caishui [2018] circular No. 76, the Company and its certain subsidiaries which were accredited 

as “Technology-based Small and Medium-sized Enterprises” can carry forward their unutilised tax losses 

for up to ten years. This extension of the expiration period applies to all the unutilised tax losses that were 

carried forward by the entities at the effective date of the tax circular.

Pursuant to the relevant EIT Law, the Company and its certain subsidiaries enjoyed a super deduction of 

200% on qualifying research and development expenditures during the year ended 31 December 2022.

The income tax credit of the Group for the reporting period is analysed as follows:

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

Current tax:

 Credit for the year – –

Deferred tax (865) –

(865) –
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11. INCOME TAX (Continued)
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to loss before tax at the statutory rate to the tax expense at 

the effective tax rate is as follows:

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

Loss before tax (201,249) (197,906)

Tax at the applicable tax rate of 25% (50,312) (49,477)

Lower tax rate enacted by local authority 12,791 17,619

Expenses not deductible for tax purpose 1,148 9,761

Additional deductible allowance for research and development expenses (25,634) (11,967)

Deductible temporary differences and tax losses not recognised 61,464 34,064

Tax losses utilised from previous years (322) –

Income tax expense credited to profit or loss (865) –

The Group has accumulated tax losses of RMB639,125,000 as at 31 December 2022 (2021: 

RMB390,283,000), that will expire in four to ten years for offsetting against future taxable profits of the 

entities in which the losses arose. The Group has deductible temporary differences of RMB104,584,000 as 

at 31 December 2022 (2021: RMB18,905,000), which are mainly related to government grants and share of 

loss of an associate.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these losses and temporary differences as they 

have arisen in the Group that has been loss-making for some time and it is not considered probable that 

taxable profits will be available against which the tax losses can be utilised.

12. DIVIDENDS
No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company during the year (2021: Nil).
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13. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE 
PARENT
The calculation of the basic loss per share amount is based on the loss for the year attributable to ordinary 

equity holders of the parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 38,271,320 (2021: 

33,395,496) in issue during the year.

No adjustment has been made to the basic loss per share amounts presented for the years ended 31 

December 2022 and 2021 in respect of a dilution as the impact of the share award schemes had an anti-

dilutive effect on the basic loss per share amounts presented.

The calculations of basic and diluted loss per share are based on:

2022 2021

Loss

 Loss attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent,

  used in the basic loss per share calculation (RMB’000) (200,384) (194,225)

Shares

 Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the 

  year used in the basic loss per share calculation 38,271,320 33,395,496

Loss per share (basic and diluted) (RMB per share) (5.24) (5.82)
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14. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Leasehold 

improvements

Machinery and 

equipment

Construction in 

progress (“CIP”) Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
    

31 December 2022

At 1 January 2022:

 Cost 32,819 42,147 17,068 92,034

 Accumulated depreciation (6,003) (8,965) – (14,968)
    

 Net carrying amount 26,816 33,182 17,068 77,066
    

At 1 January 2022, 

 net of accumulated depreciation 26,816 33,182 17,068 77,066

Additions 2,508 24,374 1,876 28,758

Depreciation provided during the year (11,448) (11,031) – (22,479)

Transfer 10,192 8,313 (18,505) –
    

At 31 December 2022, 

 net of accumulated depreciation 28,068 54,838 439 83,345
    

At 31 December 2022:

 Cost 45,519 74,834 439 120,792

 Accumulated depreciation (17,451) (19,996) – (37,447)
    

 Net carrying amount 28,068 54,838 439 83,345
    

31 December 2021

At 1 January 2021:

 Cost 9,836 19,660 8,147 37,643

 Accumulated depreciation (3,386) (4,152) – (7,538)

 Net carrying amount 6,450 15,508 8,147 30,105

At 1 January 2021, 

 net of accumulated depreciation 6,450 15,508 8,147 30,105

Additions 6,540 22,169 25,682 54,391

Depreciation provided during the year (2,617) (4,813) – (7,430)

Transfer 16,443 318 (16,761) –

At 31 December 2021, 

 net of accumulated depreciation 26,816 33,182 17,068 77,066

At 31 December 2021:

 Cost 32,819 42,147 17,068 92,034

 Accumulated depreciation (6,003) (8,965) – (14,968)

 Net carrying amount 26,816 33,182 17,068 77,066
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15. LEASES
The Group as a lessee
The Group has lease contracts for plant and office premises used in its operations. Leases of plant and 

office premises generally have lease terms between 2 and 10 years. Generally, the Group is restricted from 

assigning and subleasing the leased assets outside the Group.

The Group also leased certain plant and office premises under a short-term (i.e. within 12 months) lease 

arrangement. The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets on this short-term lease contract. 

There are no restrictions or covenants imposed and no sale and leaseback transactions.

(a) Right-of-use assets
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and the movements during the year are as 

follows:

Plant and

office premises

RMB’000

At 1 January 2021 22,281

Additions 17,455

Depreciation charge (4,657)

At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 35,079

Additions 5,204

Depreciation charge (5,397)
 

At 31 December 2022 34,886
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15. LEASES (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
(b) Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements during the year are as follows:

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

Carrying amount at 1 January 41,940 24,689

New lease addition 4,828 16,801

Accretion of interest recognised during the year 2,008 1,794

Payments (3,089) (1,344)

Carrying amount at 31 December 45,687 41,940

Analysed into:

 Current portion 5,878 2,489

 Non-current portion 39,809 39,451

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 37 to the financial statements.

(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases are as follows:

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

Interest on lease liabilities 2,008 1,794

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets 5,397 4,657

Expense relating to short-term leases (included in cost of 

 sales, research and development costs, selling and 

 distribution expenses and administrative expenses) 1,759 1,679

Total amount recognised in profit or loss 9,164 8,130

(d) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 31(c) to the financial statements.
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16. GOODWILL

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000
 

Cost 9,711 9,711

Impairment – –

Net carrying amount 9,711 9,711

Impairment testing of goodwill
Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated to the SealMed unit as the cash-generating 

unit for impairment testing.

The recoverable amount of the SealMed unit has been determined based on a value-in-use calculation 

using cash flow projections based on financial budgets covering a 10-year period approved by senior 

management. Management considers that using a 10-year forecast period for financial budgets in the 

goodwill impairment test is appropriate because the useful lives of SealMed’s relevant intellectual 

properties are estimated as ten years after commercialisation, and it generally takes longer for a medical 

device company to reach the perpetual growth mode, compared to companies in other industries, 

especially when its product is still under clinical trial and the market of such product is at an early stage of 

development with substantial growth potential. Hence, financial budgets covering a 10-year period were 

used as management believes that a forecasted period longer than five years is feasible and reflects a 

more accurate entity value.

Key assumptions used in the calculation are as follows:

2022 2021
 

Revenue growth rate 24.4%-30.7% for

the first 3 years

since 2023

6.8%-20.2% for

the rest of

the years

31.9%-113.8% for

the first 3 years

since 2022

9.1%-19.7% for

the rest of

the years

Budgeted gross margin 59.6%-61.9% 64.4%-67.0%

Terminal growth rate 2.3% 2.3%

Discount rate 19.0% 20.0%

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the cash-generating unit as at 31 December 2022. 

The following describes each key assumption on which management has based its cash flow projections to 

undertake impairment testing of goodwill:
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16. GOODWILL (Continued)
Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)
Revenue – The budgeted revenue is determined based on management’s expectation of when to launch 

SealMed’s products and its expectation of the future market. SealMed’s products, namely vascular closure 

device and embolic coil (the “SealMed Products”), have been approved by the National Medical Products 

Administration (“NMPA”) in February and March 2022, respectively. The compound growth rate of revenue 

was estimated based on information available at the time of assessment, disregarding information that 

became available after the assessment. Such information includes current industry overview and the 

estimated market development of related products.

Budgeted gross margins – The basis used to determine the value assigned to the budgeted gross margins 

is the average gross margins achieved in the year ended 31 December 2022, increased for expected 

efficiency improvements, and expected market development.

Terminal growth rate – The forecasted terminal growth rate is based on management expectations and 

does not exceed the long-term average growth rate for the industry relevant to the cash-generating unit.

Discount rates – The discount rates used are before tax and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant 

units.

The recoverable amount of the SealMed unit exceeded its carrying amount by RMB185,042,000 as at 31 

December 2022.

If the pre-tax discount rate rose from 19.0% to 49.0%, the gross margin would decrease from the range of 

59.6% to 61.9% to the range of 39.7% to 42.0%, or the compound growth rate of revenue would decrease 

from 19.5% to -7.2% (with other assumptions remaining unchanged), the recoverable amount of the cash-

generating unit would be decreased to the carrying amount of goodwill. Except for the aforementioned, 

any reasonable possible changes in the other key assumptions used in the value-in-use assessment model 

would not affect management’s view on impairment as at 31 December 2022.

Based on the impairment assessment conducted by the Group utilising the above key assumptions, the 

recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit estimated from the cash flow forecast exceeded the 

carrying amount of goodwill and no impairment was considered necessary.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on market development of related products and the pre-tax 

discount rate are consistent with external information sources.



151Annual Report 2022

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
31 December 2022

17. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intellectual

properties Software Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

31 December 2022

Cost at 1 January 2022, net of 

 accumulated amortisation 40,900 1,529 42,429

Additions – 725 725

Amortisation provided during the year (3,462) (449) (3,911)
   

At 31 December 2022 37,438 1,805 39,243
   

At 31 December 2022:

 Cost 40,900 2,370 43,270

 Accumulated amortisation (3,462) (565) (4,027)
   

 Net carrying amount 37,438 1,805 39,243
   

31 December 2021

Cost at 1 January 2021, net of 

 accumulated amortisation 40,900 – 40,900

Additions – 1,645 1,645

Amortisation provided during the year – (116) (116)

At 31 December 2021 40,900 1,529 42,429

At 31 December 2021:

 Cost 40,900 1,645 42,545

 Accumulated amortisation – (116) (116)

 Net carrying amount 40,900 1,529 42,429

In September 2020, the Company acquired certain intellectual properties in relation to the SealMed 

products in a business combination.
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17. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)
Intellectual properties are recognised as intangible assets at historical cost and amortised using the 

straight-line method over their estimated useful lives after commercialisation. Management estimates 

the useful lives of intellectual properties as 10 years based on the estimated lifecycle of the products, 

considering the lifecycle of medical device products in the market, current market competition and the 

current management development plan.

The intellectual properties belong to the SealMed unit and the management of the Group tests the 

intellectual properties for impairment in the SealMed unit, details of which are set out in note 16.

18. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000
 

Share of net assets (20,848) –

Goodwill on acquisition 20,848 –
 

– –
 

Impairment – –
 

– –
 

Particulars of the associate are as follows:

Name

Particulars of 

issued shares 

held

Place of

registration

and business

Percentage of 

ownership 

interest 

attributable

to the Group

Principal

activities

IasoCardiac Medical Technology Co., Ltd.

 (上海御瓣醫療科技有限公司)

Ordinary shares PRC/

 Mainland China

44.96% Research and

development

of medical devices
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18. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)
The following table illustrates the financial information of the associate:

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000
 

Current assets 11,410 –

Non-current assets 16,332 –

Current liabilities (2,587) –

Non-current liabilities (99,145) –

Net liabilities (73,990) –

Reconciliation to the Group’s interest in the associate:

Proportion of the Group’s ownership 44.96% –

Group’s share of net assets of the associate (20,848) –

Goodwill on acquisition (less accumulated impairment) 20,848 –

Carrying amount of the investment – –

Revenue 523 –

Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year (107,003) –

19. INVENTORIES

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000
 

Raw materials 90,174 22,139

Work in progress 9,329 5,497

Finished goods 32,655 4,492

132,158 32,128
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20. TRADE RECEIVABLES

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000
 

Trade receivables 26,166 19,664

Impairment (816) (733)
 

25,350 18,931
 

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are payment in advance or on credit. The credit period is 

generally 30 to 120 days for major customers. Each customer has a maximum credit limit. The Group does 

not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade receivables 

are non-interest-bearing.

An ageing of the trade receivables as at the end of each of the reporting period, based on the invoice date 

and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000
 

Within 6 months 25,303 18,931

6 to 12 months 47 –
 

25,350 18,931
 

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000
 

At beginning of year 733 –

Impairment losses 83 733

At end of year 816 733
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20. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)
Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using a 
provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2022

Current

Expected credit loss rate 3.12%

Gross carrying amount (RMB’000) 26,166

Expected credit losses (RMB’000) 816

As at 31 December 2021

Current
 

Expected credit loss rate 3.73%

Gross carrying amount (RMB’000) 19,664

Expected credit losses (RMB’000) 733
  

21. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000
 

Non-current:

Rental deposits 1,713 1,282

Prepayment of plant and equipment 7,357 3,674

Prepayments 237 404

Value-added tax recoverable, non-current 3,645 2,679

12,952 8,039

Current:

Interest receivable – 1,311

Prepayments 86,650 51,439

Deferred listing expenses for A Share 4,382 –

Other receivables 2,141 744

Value-added tax recoverable, current 7,199 3,490

100,372 56,984

The financial assets included in the above balances relate to receivables for which there was no recent 
history of default and past due amounts. As at 31 December 2021 and 2022, the loss allowance was 
assessed to be minimal.
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22. CASH AND BANK BALANCES/RESTRICTED CASH

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000
 

Cash and bank balances 870,122 1,217,717

Less:  Time deposits with original maturity of more than  

 three months but less than one year when acquired 30,096 131,006

Cash and cash equivalents 840,026 1,086,711

Restricted cash 4,020 6,564

Denominated in

 RMB 758,796 1,016,204

 United States dollars (“USD”) 50,142 15,528

 Hong Kong dollars (“HKD”) 35,108 61,543

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign 

Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange 

Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to 

conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. The bank balances are 

deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default. Time deposits are made for periods of 

3 months and earn interest at the respective short-term time deposit rates.

The restricted cash of RMB4,020,000 as at 31 December 2022 was restricted as the deposit for auction of 

a land-use-right and was released in February 2023.

The restricted cash of RMB6,564,000 as at 31 December 2021 was restricted for the payment for the 

repurchase of shares.
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23. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWING

2022 2021

Effective

interest

rate (%) Maturity RMB’000

Effective

interest

rate (%) Maturity RMB’000
   

Current

Bank loan – unsecured 3.85 2023 5,000 – – –

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

Analysed into:

 Bank loan repayable:

  Within one year or on demand 5,000 –

24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade payables 4,132 3,809

Accrued expenses 6,523 8,139

Payroll payable 22,238 15,250

Other tax payables 1,369 585

Accrued listing expenses for A Share 2,409 –

Other payables 5,984 5,002

Advance payments received for subscription of share awards (note) 5,654 –

Payable for share purchase – 6,564

Payable for acquisition of non-controlling interests (note 34) – 8,826

48,309 48,175
   

Note: The amount represented payments received from employees for subscribing share awards granted under the 2021 H Share 

Incentive Scheme.
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24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)
An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is 

as follows:

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

Within 3 months 2,415 2,605

3 to 6 months 1,410 1,123

6 to 12 months 247 74

1 to 2 years 60 7

4,132 3,809

Trade and other payables are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and repayable on demand.

25. GOVERNMENT GRANTS

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

Government grants

 Current 1,467 1,467

 Non-current 30,407 27,033

31,874 28,500
   



159Annual Report 2022

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
31 December 2022

25. GOVERNMENT GRANTS (Continued)
The movements in government grants during the reporting period are as follows:

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 28,500 12,767

Grants received during the year 15,250 24,720

Recognised as income during the year (11,876) (8,987)

At the end of the year 31,874 28,500

Analysed into:

 Current portion 1,467 1,467

 Non-current portion 30,407 27,033

31,874 28,500

The grants related to income would be recognised in profit or loss upon the Group complying with the 

conditions attached to the grants and the government acknowledging acceptance. The grants related to an 

asset would be released to profit or loss over the remaining expected useful lives of the relevant assets 

upon the Group complying with the conditions attached to the grants and the government acknowledging 

acceptance.

26. CONTRACT LIABILITIES
The Group recognised the following revenue-related contract liabilities:

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

Current 6,852 3,257
   

During the reporting period, contract liabilities represented the obligations to transfer goods to customers 

from which the Group has received consideration.
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27. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

Fair value

adjustments

arising from

acquisition of a

subsidiary

RMB’000

At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 10,225

Deferred tax credited to profit or loss during the year (note 11) (865)

Deferred tax liabilities at 31 December 2022 9,360

28. SHARE CAPITAL
Shares

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

Issued and fully paid:

 38,834,408 (2021: 38,834,408) ordinary shares of RMB1.00 each 38,834 38,834
   

Share capital
A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is as follows:

Number of

shares in issue

Share

capital

RMB’000

At 1 January 2021 32,232,558 32,233

Issue of shares from initial public offering (note) 6,601,850 6,601

At 31 December 2021, 1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 38,834,408 38,834
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28. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)
Treasury shares
On 1 November 2021, shareholders of the Group approved the adoption of the 2021 H share incentive 

scheme (the “2021 H Share Incentive Scheme”). Pursuant to the 2021 H Share Incentive Scheme, 418,250 

(2021: 274,450) shares were purchased on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange by the trustee under the 

scheme at a total consideration of RMB21,378,000 (2021: RMB21,185,000) before expenses during the 

year.

Note:

On 20 August 2021, the Company issued a total of 6,601,850 ordinary shares of RMB1.00 each at the price of HK$171.00 per share by 

means of global offering.

29. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE AWARD EXPENSE
The Company adopted share award schemes for certain personnel in order to recognise and reward the 

contribution of certain directors and employees (“Granted employees”) to the growth and development of 

the Group, and retain eligible employees for the continuous operation and development of the Group.

Pre-IPO
In August and October 2020, 4.27% of the then equity interest in the Company was granted to 31 selected 

employees of the Company for a consideration of RMB15,000,000 through Shanghai Weiyu Enterprise 

Management Consulting Partnership (L.P.) (“Weiyu”).

In August 2020, 10% of the then equity interest in the Company was granted to 4 of the then directors 

of the Company for a consideration of RMB30,000,000 through Shanghai Weiyun Enterprise Management 

Consulting Partnership (L.P.) (“Weiyun”). Pursuant to the shareholder resolution, the Company shall 

repurchase 50% of such equity interest at principal plus a simple interest rate of six percent per annum if 

the crossover financing is not closed before 31 March 2021 and 50% of such equity interest at principal 

plus a simple interest rate of six percent per annum if a qualified IPO is not completed before 31 December 

2021. On 20 August 2021, the Group was listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong 

Limited and the obligation to redeem shares was cancelled and the balance of other payable for the 

obligation to redeem was transferred to other reserve.

The fair value of services received in return for a share award granted is measured by reference to the fair 

value of the share award granted less the consideration received by the Group. The fair value of the share 

award granted is measured at the grant date at the market value of the share award and is determined 

using the market approach (recent transaction method, in particular).
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29. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE AWARD EXPENSE (Continued)
Pre-IPO (Continued)
The respective employees are entitled to receive the same dividends as the other shareholders. 

Accordingly, no other features of the equity instruments granted were incorporated as adjustments into the 

measurement of fair value.

The Group recognised equity-settled share award expenses of RMB8,731,000 (2021: 50,959,000) during 

the year ended 31 December 2022.

Post IPO
On 1 November 2021, shareholders approved the adoption of the 2021 H Share Incentive Scheme in order 

to recognise and reward the contribution of certain employees. Pursuant to the 2021 H Share Incentive 

Scheme, the Group granted 386,700 share options to eligible employees in January 2022 with a 3-year 

service period and the exercise price is determined by the directors at RMB20.0 per share.

The following share options were outstanding under the 2021 H Share Incentive Scheme during the year:

2022

Weighted

average

exercise price 

Number

of options

RMB per share
  

Granted during the year 20.0 386,700

Forfeited during the year 20.0 (104,000)

At 31 December 20.0 282,700
   

The exercise price and exercise period of the share options outstanding as at the end of the reporting 

period are as follows:

2022

Number of options Exercise price Exercise date

RMB per share

282,700 20.0 31 December 2024
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29. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE AWARD EXPENSE (Continued)
Post IPO (Continued)
The fair value of the share options granted during the year was RMB26,006,000 (RMB67.25 each), of 

which, the Group recognised as equity-settled share award expense of RMB5,957,000 (2021: nil) during the 

year ended 31 December 2022.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during the year was estimated as at the date of grant 

using a binomial model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. 

The following table lists the inputs to the model used:

2022

Dividend yield (%) –

Expected volatility (%) 48.9

Historical volatility (%) 48.9

Risk-free interest rate (%) 2.5

Expected life of options (year) 3

Weighted average share price (RMB per share) 85.4

The expected life of the options is based on the historical data over the past three years and is not 

necessarily indicative of the exercise patterns that may occur. The expected volatility reflects the 

assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not necessarily be the 

actual outcome.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 282,700 share options outstanding under the 2021 

H Share Incentive Scheme. The exercise in full of the outstanding share options would, under the present 

capital structure of the Company, result in the issue of 282,700 additional ordinary shares of the Company 

and additional share capital of RMB282,700 and reserve of RMB5,371,300 (before issue expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the Company had 282,700 share options outstanding 

under the 2021 H Share Incentive Scheme, which represented approximately 0.73% of the Company’s 

shares in issue as at that date.



164 Shanghai HeartCare Medical Technology Corporation Limited

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
31 December 2022

30. RESERVES
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for the current and prior years are 

presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 105 of the financial statements.

31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(a) Major non-cash transactions

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of 

RMB5,204,000 (2021: additions to right-of-use assets of RMB17,455,000) and RMB4,828,000 (2021: 

additions to lease liabilities of RMB16,801,000), respectively, in respect of lease arrangements for 

plant and office premises.

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

Interest-bearing 

bank borrowing Lease liabilities

Trade and other 

payables

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2021 – 24,689 –

Changes from financing cash flows

 during the year – (1,344) (49,925)

Accretion of interest – 1,794 –

New lease addition – 16,801 –

Acquisition of non-controlling interests – – 44,130

Shares purchased under the 

 2021 H Share Incentive Scheme – – 21,185

At 31 December 2021 – 41,940 15,390

Changes from financing cash flows 

 during the year 4,859 (3,089) (26,523)

Accretion of interest 141 2,008 –

New lease addition – 4,828 –

Elimination with the restricted cash – – (6,564)

Listing expenses for A Share – – 4,382

Shares purchased under the 2021 

 H Share Incentive Scheme – – 21,378
   

At 31 December 2022 5,000 45,687 8,063
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31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
(c) Total cash outflow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement of cash flows is as follows:

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

Within operating activities 1,759 1,679

Within financing activities 3,089 1,344

4,848 3,023

32. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
On 11 February 2023, the Company received a statement of claim from Venus Medtech (Hangzhou) Inc. (杭

州啓明醫療器械股份有限公司, “Venus Medtech”) filed with the Shanghai Intellectual Property Court (上海知

識產權法院). The claim alleged that a former employee of Venus Medtech has violated confidentiality and 

other obligations owed to Venus Medtech and utilised information obtained to facilitate IasoCardiac Medical 

and the Company’s R&D efforts. The Company considers that it has valid defence against the claim and 

having consulted PRC legal advisors, it currently intends to defend the claim. Accordingly, the Group has 

not provided for any provision arising from the claim.

33. COMMITMENTS
The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of the reporting period:

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

Contracted, but not provided for:

 Construction in progress 7,174 –

 Land-use-right 40,170 –

 Leasehold improvements – 1,079

 Plant and machinery 357 1,631

 Capital contributions payable to an investment – 4,000

47,701 6,710
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34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a) The Group had the following transactions with related parties during the year:

On 28 March 2021, the Company entered into an agreement with Ms. Hu Xiaoping, a close family 

member of key management personnel, and SealMed to further acquire 20.76% of the equity interest 

in SealMed by a capital injection of RMB40,000,000.

On 20 December 2021, the Company entered into an agreement with Ms. Hu Xiaoping and SealMed 

to acquire the remaining 23.36% of equity interest in SealMed held by Ms. Hu Xiaoping at a total 

consideration of RMB44,130,000, of which RMB35,304,000 was settled as at 31 December 2021 and 

RMB8,826,000 was settled subsequently.

On 8 February 2022, Shanghai Weiqi Medical Devices Co., Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the 

Company, entered into an agreement with a close family member of an executive director and a 

close family member of a non-executive director to acquire 36% of equity interest of IasoCardiac 

Medical Technology Co., Ltd. at a consideration of RMB4,800,000 and make a capital injection of 

RMB30,000,000 into IasoCardiac Medical Technology Co., Ltd. in exchange for an additional registered 

capital of RMB543,000.

(b) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 5,286 4,177

Pension scheme contributions 490 268

Bonuses (note) 1,441 1,837

Directors’ fees 439 481

Equity-settled share award expense 7,415 47,967

15,071 54,730

Note:  Bonuses are amount paid or payable which are discretionary or are based on the Group’s performance.

Further details of directors’, supervisors’ and the chief executive’s emoluments are included in note 9 

to the financial statements.
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as at the end of the reporting 

period are as follows:

As at 31 December 2022

Financial assets

Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss 

Mandatorily designated as such

Financial assets at

amortised cost

As at 31 

December 2022

As at 31 

December 2021

As at 31 

December 2022

As at 31 

December 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
 

Financial assets included in prepayments, 

 other receivables and other assets – – 3,854 3,337

Trade receivables – – 25,350 18,931

Cash and bank balances – – 870,122 1,217,717

Restricted cash – – 4,020 6,564

Financial assets at fair value through 

 profit or loss 400 – – –

400 – 903,346 1,246,549
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (Continued)
As at 31 December 2022 (Continued)

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at 

amortised cost

As at 

31 December 

2022

As at 

31 December 

2021

RMB’000 RMB’000
 

Interest-bearing bank borrowing 5,000 -

Financial liabilities included in trade and other payables 24,702 32,340

29,702 32,340

36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Fair value
Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and bank balances, restricted cash, trade 

receivables, financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other assets (in the current 

portion), financial liabilities included in trade and other payables, interest-bearing bank borrowing and 

lease liabilities (in the current portion) approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short term 

maturities of these instruments.

The Group’s finance department headed by the chief financial officer is responsible for determining the 

policies and procedures for the fair value measurement of financial instruments. The finance department 

reports directly to the chief financial officer. At each reporting date, the finance department analyses the 

movements in the values of financial instruments and determines the major inputs applied in the valuation. 

The valuation is reviewed and approved by the finance controller. The valuation process and results are 

discussed with the directors of the Company periodically for financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at the amount at which the instrument 

could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation 

sale. The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:

The fair values of the non-current portion of financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables 

and other assets have been calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows using rates currently 

available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities.
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36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(Continued)
Fair value (Continued)
The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by using 

valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the use of observable market data where it 

is available and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates. If all required significant inputs to 

fair value of an instrument are observable, the instruments are included in Level 2. If one or more of the 

significant inputs are not based on observable market data, the instruments are included in Level 3.

Fair value hierarchy
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s financial instrument:

Assets measured at fair value:

As at 31 December 2022

Fair value measurement using
 

Quoted prices

in active

markets

(Level 1)

Significant

Observable

Inputs

(Level 2)

Significant

Unobservable

Inputs

(Level 3) Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
    

Financial assets at fair value through 

 profit or loss – – 400 400
    

The fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is determined using cost method.

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair value as at 31 December 2021 and 2022.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no 

transfers into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial liabilities (2021: Nil).
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and bank balances, restricted cash and interest-
bearing bank borrowing. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s 
operations. The Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such as trade receivables, financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss, financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and 
other assets and financial liabilities included in trade and other payables, which arise directly from its 
operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are foreign currency risk, credit risk and 
liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they 
are summarised below.

Foreign currency risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk of loss resulting from changes in foreign currency exchange rates. The 
Group has currency exposures mainly arising from cash at banks denominated in USD and HKD. At present, 
the Group does not intend to seek to hedge its exposure to foreign exchange fluctuations. However, 
management constantly monitors the economic situation and the Group’s foreign exchange risk profile and 
will consider appropriate hedging measures in the future should the need arise.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of the reporting period to a reasonably possible 
change in foreign currency exchange rates, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s loss 
before tax (arising from foreign currencies denominated financial instruments) and the Group’s equity.

Increase/

(decrease) in

rate of foreign

currency

Increase/

(decrease) in

loss before tax

Increase/

(decrease) in 

equity

% RMB’000 RMB’000
   

31 December 2022

If RMB weakens against USD 5 (2,498) 2,498

If RMB strengthens against USD (5) 2,498 (2,498)

If RMB weakens against HKD 5 (1,755) 1,755

If RMB strengthens against HKD (5) 1,755 (1,755)

31 December 2021

If RMB weakens against USD 5 (3,327) 3,327

If RMB strengthens against USD (5) 3,327 (3,327)

If RMB weakens against HKD 5 (3,077) 3,077

If RMB strengthens against HKD (5) 3,077 (3,077)
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk
The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all 

customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, 

receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not 

significant. The credit risk of the Group’s financial assets, which comprise cash and bank balances, 

restricted cash, trade receivables and financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other 

assets, arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of 

these instruments.

For other receivables and other assets, management makes periodic collective assessment as well as 

individual assessment on the recoverability of other receivables based on historical settlement records and 

past experience. The board of directors believes that there is no material credit risk inherent in the Group’s 

outstanding balance of other receivables.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging
The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s 

credit policy, which is mainly based on past due information unless other information is available without 

undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification as at 31 December.

The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets.

As at 31 December 2022

12-month 

ECLs Lifetime ECLs

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Simplified

approach Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Financial assets included in 

 prepayments, other receivables and 

 other assets (note (a)) 3,854 – – – 3,854

Trade receivables (note (b)) – – – 25,350 25,350

Cash and bank balances 870,122 – – – 870,122

Restricted cash 4,020 – – – 4,020

877,996 – – 25,350 903,346
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)

As at 31 December 2021

12-month 

ECLs Lifetime ECLs

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Simplified

approach Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Financial assets included in 

 prepayments, other receivables and

 other assets (note (a)) 3,337 – – – 3,337

Trade receivables (note (b)) – – – 18,931 18,931

Cash and bank balances 1,217,717 – – – 1,217,717

Restricted cash 6,564 – – – 6,564

1,227,618 – – 18,931 1,246,549

Notes:

(a) The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other assets is considered to be “normal” 

when they are not past due and there is no information indicating that the financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk 

since initial recognition.

(b) For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified approach for impairment, information based on the provision matrix 

and further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in note 

20 to the financial statements.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had certain concentrations of credit risk as the Group’s cash 

and bank balances were deposited in a few financial institutions. As at the end of the reporting period, cash 

and bank balances were deposited in financial institutions in high quality without significant credit risk.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had certain concentrations of credit risk as the Group’s trade 

receivables were mainly due from the Group’s largest customer. The Group sets a maximum credit limit 

for each customer. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables. Overdue 

balances are reviewed regularly by senior management.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Liquidity risk
The Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and bank balances deemed adequate by the management 

of the Group to finance the operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end of the reporting period, based on the 

contractual undiscounted payments, is as follows:

2022
 

On

demand

Less than

1 year

1 to 5

years

Over 5

years Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
     

Interest-bearing bank borrowing – 5,193 – – 5,193

Financial liabilities included in 

 trade and other payables 24,702 – – – 24,702

Lease liabilities – 5,932 25,549 17,077 48,558
     

24,702 11,125 25,549 17,077 78,453
     

2021

On

demand

Less than

1 year

1 to 5

years

Over 5

years Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Financial liabilities included in 

 trade and other payables 32,340 – – – 32,340

Lease liabilities – 4,173 23,787 23,722 51,682

32,340 4,173 23,787 23,722 84,022
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Capital management
The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue 

as a going concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise 

shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic 

conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, 

the Group may return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not subject to any 

externally imposed capital requirements. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes 

for managing capital during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

Interest-bearing bank borrowing 5,000 -

Lease liabilities 45,687 41,940

Total debt 50,687 41,940

Total equity 1,165,477 1,372,551

Gearing ratio 4.3% 3.1%

38. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, no significant events of the Group 

occurred after the reporting period.
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39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at the end of the reporting period is 

as follows:

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000

Non-current assets

Plant and equipment 55,615 53,321
Right-of-use assets 15,700 18,580
Other intangible assets 1,552 1,404
Investments in subsidiaries 400,707 214,776
Prepayments, other receivables and other assets, non-current 7,261 3,598
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, non-current 400 –

Total non-current assets 481,235 291,679

Current assets

Inventories 114,883 25,635
Trade receivables 25,350 18,631
Prepayments, other receivables and other assets, current 65,218 41,405
Due from subsidiaries 5,147 722
Cash and bank balances 808,451 1,174,563
Restricted cash 4,020 6,564

Total current assets 1,023,069 1,267,520

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 33,419 39,207
Lease liabilities, current 3,160 2,011
Due to subsidiaries 80,623 11,393
Government grants, current 1,467 1,467
Contract liabilities 5,815 3,183

Total current liabilities 124,484 57,261

Net current assets 898,585 1,210,259

Total assets less current liabilities 1,379,820 1,501,938

Non-current liabilities

Lease liabilities, non-current 17,997 19,824
Government grants, non-current 19,207 20,033

Total non-current liabilities 37,204 39,857

Net assets 1,342,616 1,462,081

Equity

Share capital 38,834 38,834
Treasury shares (42,563) (21,185)
Reserves (note) 1,346,345 1,444,432

Total equity 1,342,616 1,462,081
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39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
Note:

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:

Share

premium

Other

reserve

Accumulated

losses Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Balance at 1 January 2021 675,124 126,570 (138,557) 663,137

Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year – – (156,841) (156,841)

Issue of shares from initial public offerings 935,209 – – 935,209

Share issue expenses (63,841) – – (63,841)

Equity-settled share award expense – 50,959 – 50,959

Restricted share repurchase obligations – 15,809 – 15,809

At 31 December 2021 1,546,492 193,338 (295,398) 1,444,432

Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year – – (112,775) (112,775)

Equity-settled share award expense – 14,688 – 14,688
    

At 31 December 2022 1,546,492 208,026 (408,173) 1,346,345
    

40. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 20 March 

2023.
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Definitions

In this annual report, the following expressions shall have the meanings set out below, unless the context 

otherwise requires:

“2021 H Share Incentive 

Scheme”

the 2021 H Share Incentive Scheme adopted by the Company on November 1, 

2021

“AGM” or “Annual General 

Meeting”

the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to be held on May 18, 

2023

“Articles of Association” the articles of association of the Company currently in force

“Audit Committee” the audit committee of the Board

“Board” or “Board of Directors” the board of directors of the Company

“CG Code” or “Corporate 

Governance Code”

the Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules

“China” or “the PRC” the People’s Republic of China, but for the purpose of this Annual Report 

and for geographical reference only and except where the context requires, 

excluding Hong Kong, Macau Special Administrative Region and Taiwan

“Company” or “our Company” Shanghai HeartCare Medical Technology Corporation Limited (上海心瑋醫療科

技股份有限公司), a joint stock limited liability company incorporated in the PRC, 

whose H Shares are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 

6609)

“Director(s)” the director(s) of the Company

“Global Offering” has the meaning as ascribed to it under the Prospectus
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“Group”, “the Group”, “our 

Group”, “our”, “we” or “us”

the Company and its subsidiaries

“H Share(s)” the overseas listed foreign shares with a nominal value of RMB1.00 each in 

the share capital of the Company, which are listed on the Hong Kong Stock 

Exchange and subscribed for and traded in Hong Kong dollars

“Hong Kong” or “HK” the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

“Hong Kong dollars”, “HKD”  

or “HK$”

Hong Kong dollars and cents respectively, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

“IasoCardiac Medical” IasoCardiac Medical Technology Co., Ltd. (上海御瓣醫療科技有限公司 ), a 

company established in the PRC with limited liability

“IFRS” International Financial Reporting Standards, as issued from time to time by the 

International Accounting Standards Board

“Independent Third Party” or

 “Independent Third Parties”

a person or entity who is not a connected person of our Company under the 

Listing Rules

“Listing” the listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange

“Listing Date” the date, Friday, August 20, 2021, on which the Shares were listed and 

dealings in the H Shares first commence on the Stock Exchange

“Listing Rules” the Rules governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange, as 

amended or supplemented from time to time

“Model Code” the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set 

out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
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“NMPA” the National Medical Products Administration (國家藥品監督管理局) and its 

predecessor, the China Food and Drug Administration (國家食品藥品監督管理總

局) or the CFDA

“Nomination Committee” the nomination committee of the Board

“PRC Company Law” the Company Law of the People’s Republic of China revised and adopted by the 

Standing Committee of the Twelth National People’s Congress on December 

28, 2013 and enforced on March 1, 2014 (as amended, supplemented or 

otherwise modified from time to time)

“PRC Law” the laws of the People’s Republic of China

“Prospectus” the prospectus of the Company dated August 10, 2021, in relation to the Global 

Offering

“Remuneration Committee” the remuneration committee of the Board

“Reporting Period” the year ended December 31, 2022

“RMB” or “Renminbi” Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

“SFO” the Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong 

(as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time)

“Share(s)” share(s) in the share capital of the Company, with a nominal value of RMB1.00 

each, comprising the Unlisted Shares and H Shares

“Shareholder(s)” holder(s) of Share(s)

“Stock Exchange” The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
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“Subsidiary” has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules

“Supervisor(s)” the member(s) of the Supervisory committee

“Supervisory Committee” the supervisory committee of the Company

“Trustee” the trustee appointed by the Company for the purpose of the Trust, and 

initially, Maples Trustee Services (Cayman) Limited, a company incorporated in 

the Cayman Islands and having its registered office at Boundary Hall, Cricket 

Square, George Town, Grand Cayman, Cayman Islands

“Unlisted Share(s)” the ordinary shares in the share capital of the Company, with a nominal value of 

RMB1.00 each, which are subscribed and credited as fully paid up in Renminbi

“United States” or “U.S.” the United States of America, its territories, its possessions and all areas 

subject to its jurisdiction

“U.S. dollars”, “US$” or “USD” United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States

“Weiqi Medical” Shanghai Weiqi Medical Devices Co., Ltd. (上海瑋啟醫療器械有限公司), a limited 

liability company established in the PRC on February 4, 2021, a wholly-owned 

subsidiary of our Company

“%” per cent

* English names of entities incorporated in the PRC are set out for identification purposes only
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